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Who we are

Xchanging is a global business processor  
with more than 8,500 people serving customers 
in 43 countries. 

We provide business processing services 
which are applicable across industries, such 
as procurement, human resources (HR) and 
technology, as well as industry-specific services 
for insurers and financial services companies.

We have a ten-year track record of innovation 
and reliable delivery, and of both anticipating and 
responding to our customers’ needs. Our service 
quality is reflected in the industry awards and 
world-class certifications we receive.

This quality is underpinned by:

•		our	consistent	methodology,	which	defines	
such critical factors as our service standards, 
processes and technology implementation

•		our	experienced	management	and	deep	pool	
of talented people.

The outcome for our customers is better,  
faster and cheaper business processing, allowing 
them to concentrate on the success of their  
core business.

Performance highlights 1
Key performance indicators 2
Historic performance 3
Xchanging at a glance 4
What we do 6
How we deliver 8
Our vision and strategy 9
Our geographical footprint 10
Our customers 11
Enterprise Partnerships 12
Our people 13
Market review 14
Chairman’s statement 16
Chief	Executive	Officer’s	statement	 18
Key new contracts and business development 22
Operating and financial review 24
Corporate Social Responsibility 37
Principal risks and uncertainties 39
Board of Directors 42
Directors’ report 43
Corporate governance 46
Remuneration report 53
Group financial statements
Independent auditors’ report (Group) 61
Consolidated income statement 62
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 63
Consolidated cash flow statement 64
Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net cash 65
Movement in net cash 65
Consolidated balance sheet 66
Consolidated statement of changes in equity 67
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 68
Company financial statements
Independent auditors’ report (Company) 132
Company balance sheet 133
Company cash flow statement 134
Notes to the Company financial statements 135
Information
Shareholder information 140
Glossary of terms 141



1 Xchanging  
Annual report and accounts 2010

Revenue increased by 4% to 

£780.6 million

Underlying operating profit1  
increased by 5% to

£67.3 million

1Underlying	operating	profit	excludes	exceptional	items,	costs	of	acquisition	and	
amortisation of intangible assets previously unrecognised by acquired entities. Going 
forward, management will manage the business using adjusted operating profit, which 
is discussed in detail in the Operating and financial review.

Underlying operating profit margin  
increased from 8.5% to 

8.6%
Adjusted operating profit  
reduced by 0.8% to 

£55.5 million

Adjusted operating profit margin  
reduced from 7.4% to 

7.1%
Statutory operating loss of £55.6 million  
after	exceptional	items	totalling	

£112.5 million
Net cash 

£24.8 million
Cash conversion 

55.9%
Adjusted earnings per share of 

11.99p
No dividend declared 

Performance highlights
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Key performance indicators

Return on invested capital (%)
CAGR 2006-2010: -37.2%

Return on invested capital for 2010 of 12.9% compares with 
the Group’s weighted average cost of capital of 10%. Return on 
invested	capital	represents	adjusted	operating	profit	less	a	tax	charge	
at the Group effective rate divided by average invested capital. 
2010 invested capital includes the add back of goodwill and other 
intangible asset impairments.

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

Cash conversion (%)
CAGR 2007-2010*: -11.6%

The Group’s cash flow performance is measured based on the 
percentage of adjusted operating profit converted to operating cash 
flow. Operating cash flow is calculated as cash flow from operations 
less	net	capital	expenditure	and	dividends	to	non-controlling	entities.

*Based on 4 year CAGR due to negative figure for 2006.

Equity free cash flow (£m)
CAGR 2007-2010*: -14.4%

Equity	free	cash	flow	represents	the	after-tax	cash	less	dividends	 
to non-controlling entities to indicate cash available to shareholders 
of Xchanging.

*Based on 4 year CAGR due to negative figure for 2006.

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

Adjusted operating profit margin (%)
CAGR 2006-2010: -3.2%

Adjusted operating margins measure our ongoing performance 
in managing the efficiency and cost effectiveness of the business. 
Adjusted	operating	profit	excludes	exceptional	items,	acquisition	
costs, amortisation of intangible assets previously unrecognised by 
an acquired entity, and non-recurring operational items that the 
Directors believe will aid the readers’ understanding of the accounts.

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
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Adjusted operating profit (£m)
CAGR 2006-2010: 14.9%

Underlying earnings per share (pence)
CAGR 2006-2010: 9.2%

Adjusted earnings per share (pence)
CAGR 2006-2010: 2.2%

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

Underlying operating profit (£m)
CAGR 2006-2010: 20.6%

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

Revenue (£m)
CAGR 2006-2010: 18.7%

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

393.5
468.2

557.8

750.4 780.6

Operating cash flow (£m)
CAGR 2007-2010*: -0.1%

*Based on 4 year CAGR due  
to negative figure for 2006.

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
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47.3

38.4
31.8

55.9 55.5
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31.8
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14.4
15.4 15.6

11.0 11.5

14.6

12.9
12.0

(0.8)

31.1 31.0

26.0

31.0

Historic performance
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Xchanging at a glance

Our business drivers

Our markets have long-term growth potential as customers look 
to focus on their core businesses and outsource non-core and 
back-office functions. Technological developments, such as cloud 
computing and high-speed wireless access, will facilitate this trend.

More details: page 14

Where we operate

We serve customers in 43 countries, from facilities in the UK, 
Germany, France, Italy, the USA, India, Singapore, Malaysia, 
Australia and Japan.

Our	broad	geographical	footprint	gives	us	an	advantage,	exposing	
us to a wider range of opportunities and allowing us to serve 
customers who are increasingly looking for multinational capabilities.

More details: page 10

How we deliver

Our customers are predominantly large companies, with around 
95% of our revenue coming from the private sector. We offer them 
two primary ways to contract with us for processing services:

•		outsourcing,	where	we	offer	fixed-price,	cost-per-transaction,	 
cost-plus or gainshare options for a defined scope and quality  
of service

•		Enterprise	Partnerships,	where	we	form	a	joint	venture	with	our	
customer, who becomes our partner, and use that platform to 
provide them with services, generating savings for them and 
profits for us. We then generate further benefits for both parties 
by adding third party customers to the platform.

More details: page 8

What we do

Business processing is at the heart of what we offer. We take on  
our customers’ non-core and back-office functions and perform 
them better, faster and more cheaply, allowing our customers  
to focus on their core business.

We also offer a range of advisory services and software products 
which add value for customers by helping to improve the efficiency 
and effectiveness of their processes.

More details: page 6
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High revenue visibility

Many of our customers sign multi-year contracts for our processing 
services. These contracts give us a high level of revenue visibility. 

At 31 December 2010, we had an order book of £1.6 billion, 
providing us with contracted revenue of £508 million in 2011. 
Volume-dependent revenue and contract renewals during the year 
are	expected	to	generate	a	further	£46	million	and	£94	million	of	
revenues respectively.

Revenue visibility
2011 and 2012

A values-led company

Our values are vital to our reputation. They define our culture  
and set us apart from competitors. We are:

•	responsive	to	the	aims	of	customers

•	clear	thinking,	resolute	and	brave	in	decisions

•	reliable	in	delivering	everything	we	promise

•	farsighted	in	relationships

•	skilled	at	releasing	the	entrepreneurial	spirit	in	our	people.

We translate our values into action, from our performance 
management process right through to our remuneration and 
benefits strategy.

Our vision and strategy 

We have had a consistent vision for Xchanging since we first 
launched the company. We want to become the global business 
processor of choice.

To achieve our vision, we follow a simple, three-pronged strategy:

•	grow	existing	platforms

•	add	new	platforms

•	become	the lean processor.

More details: page 9

A responsible company 

Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) is fundamental to the way  
we plan and run our business, and is closely aligned with our 
values. We divide CSR into four categories: people, environment, 
communities and marketplace.

More details: page 37

  Renewals to be won
  Volume at risk
  Annuity

2011 2012

508

428
63

14694

46
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What we do

Insurance services

We are one of the leading international providers of business 
processing services and software to the insurance industry. 

For the London insurance market, we process insurance policies, 
premiums and claims. We provide broking processing services,  
as well as accounting and settlement.

We built and now run the Insurers’ Market Repository. This  
enables its users to create, maintain and submit premium, policy 
and claims documentation directly to us and share documents  
with their trading partners, eliminating paper and increasing 
processing speeds.

In the Americas, we provide claims processing services to companies 
for their workers’ compensation schemes as well as professional, 
auto, product, general and consumer warranty liability claims. Our 
services include the initial claim intake, adjusting the claim, medical 
and non-medical bill review and claim payments. 

In Australia, we provide workers’ compensation and claims 
management services. 

Our broking and commercial insurance software products support 
the whole processing life cycle for commercial insurers and brokers. 

Financial services

We offer a range of services in banking, securities processing, 
investment account management and fund administration. Our two 
Enterprise Partnerships in Germany – Xchanging Transaction Bank 
(XTB) and Fondsdepot Bank (FDB) – have full banking licences.

In securities processing, we provide services such as trades 
processing, corporate event processing, handling of corporate 
annual	general	meetings,	regulatory	reporting	and	tax	services.	

For fund managers, brokers and investors we provide processing, 
settlement and account administration services.

We offer industry-specific services for insurance 
and financial services customers. We also 
provide business processing, technology services 
and software aimed at companies that want 
to improve their effectiveness and profitability. 
Our procurement and HR services are applicable 
across industries.

At the heart of our offering is business 
processing. This means that we re-invent  
and then operate our customers’ non-core  
or back-office activities, performing these 
functions faster, better and more cheaply  
than our customers could.
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Technology

Xchanging designs, builds and runs a range of technology 
solutions, embedding our intellectual property to create systems 
and software that help customers improve their processing.

We	work	with	customers	to	explore,	analyse	and	design	their	operating	
models,	through	a	combination	of	Lean	and	Six	Sigma	tools	and	
methodologies, a service we call process-led technology re-invention.

Our cloud and managed services include providing application 
management and service delivery across a range of cloud models, 
cloud providers and our own hosting facilities. 

We provide offshore application development and maintenance 
to blue-chip customers globally. Our capabilities include custom 
development, testing services, mobile application solutions,  
data migration and conversion, application re-platforming  
and application support. 

Our	business	process	management	solutions	simplify	complex	
processes and drive robust, streamlined and repeatable processes 
for our customers.

We offer our own software solutions in the insurance, financial 
services and manufacturing and logistic sectors. 

For banks, we provide SWIFT managed infrastructure services, 
connecting to the SWIFT Secure IP Network and processing 
transactions through it.

For	exchanges,	we	provide	IT-enabled	hosting	and	system	design,	and	
build	and	run	services	in	the	UK	and	Asia	Pacific.	For	example,	to	run	
equities,	derivatives,	commodities	and	foreign	currency	exchanges,	
we implement and manage TESA, an internet-ready solution that 
provides functions such as order management, matching, risk 
management, market administration, settlement and clearing.

The enterprise application solutions we offer include customer 
relationship management services, business intelligence and data 
warehouse solutions, Oracle packaged applications, HR, finance 
and procurement platforms, and e-commerce and enterprise portals.

Xchanging also delivers complete IT outsourcing services, including 
application development and support, infrastructure management, 
enterprise applications, product development, procurement, change 
management and process consulting.

Procurement and HR

We manage spend on behalf of our customers to drive value for 
them. We can act as an agent between customers and suppliers,  
or deliver a fully managed service where we contract with suppliers 
and sell their goods or services to our customers. 

Our services cover the full purchasing cycle. This includes processing 
purchase requisitions, orders and invoices, paying suppliers, 
administering	travel	and	expense	reports,	implementing	purchasing	
cards, maintaining data and tactical buying.

We manage numerous purchasing categories, including fleet, 
property and real estate (including facilities management), IT and 
telecommunications, maintenance, repair, operations and utilities, 
professional services, marketing and workplace services.

Within the manufacturing and logistics industries, we provide  
a wide range of supply chain solutions for finance, procurement, 
transportation, warehouse management, analytics and customer 
relationship management. 

Our HR services cover the full employment life cycle, from 
recruitment to payroll and pension payments. We combine HR 
administration with procurement efficiencies in strategic workforce 
management, global mobility and learning and development. 
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How we deliver

Business support and products
In addition to our processing services, we offer our customers  
a range of business support services and products.

Business support
We deliver professional advisory services in areas such as technology, 
insurance services, recruitment and corporate immigration. These 
services are provided on either a cost-per-project or a time and 
materials basis.

Products
Xchanging has a number of business processing software products 
for the insurance, financial services, manufacturing and logistics 
sectors. We charge for our software services on either a subscription 
or cost-per-seat basis.

Quality
Whatever service we are delivering and whichever way we are 
contracted to do it, we have a relentless focus on providing the  
high-quality	service	expected	by	our	customers.

We have a rigorous performance measurement methodology.  
We measure our performance regularly, in great detail and in the 
same way across each of our processing centres around the world.

For	example,	our	quarterly	service	reports	measure	thousands	
of data points across hundreds of processes, measuring both 
quantitative and qualitative outputs, such as customer satisfaction. 
We believe that our customers’ perceptions of our service are just  
as important as the actual results.

When our customers buy business processing 
services from us, we contract with them in  
one of two principal ways – outsourcing  
or an Enterprise Partnership. 

1 Outsourcing

In	an	outsourcing	contract,	we	use	one	of	our	existing	platforms	to	
provide customers with business processing or back-office services. 
By creating economies of scale and using standardised processes, 
we are able to meet our customers’ demands for efficiency and 
quality.	Customers	effectively	exchange	the	fixed	costs	of	their	in-
house functions for the variable costs of our services.

We	provide	these	services	on	a	fixed-price,	cost-per-transaction	or	
cost-plus basis or, for procurement services, on a gainshare basis, 
where we and the customer share the benefits of cheaper buying.

2 Enterprise Partnerships

An Enterprise Partnership (EP) is a joint venture with our customer, 
through which we provide them with processing services. These 
customers are typically large organisations with significant 
processing needs. A typical EP contract is 10 to 12 years long.

The customer benefits from better processing and lower costs and 
also has the potential to earn profit, as we use the EP’s processing 
platform to offer services to third parties. 

More information about our EPs and how they work can be found 
on page 12.
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Our vision and strategy

We have had a consistent vision for Xchanging 
since we first launched the company.  
We want to become the global business 
processor of choice.

To achieve our vision, we are following  
a simple three-pronged strategy:

•	grow	existing	platforms

•	add	new	platforms

•	become	the lean processor.

Add new platforms

1Add new customers and develop new platforms, or significantly 
extend	existing	platforms	through	open-book	agreements.

2 Make acquisitions which add international scale and market 
access through new customer relationships and functional  
and industry-specific platforms.

3Exploit	existing	infrastructure	and	expertise	to	create	new	
platforms.

Grow	existing	platforms

1Develop	our	existing	customer	relationships	in	new	geographies	
and service offerings.

2 Add processing volumes to our functional and industry-specific 
platforms.

3 Extend	the	scope	and	service	capabilities	of	our	processing	platforms.

Become the lean processor

1 Develop a standard operating model that is repeatable  
across the regions, to provide services at internationally 
competitive prices.

2 Create a globally integrated infrastructure of processing centres 
which are operated on a consistent basis, and move workloads 
between centres to take advantage of spare capacity, time 
zones and lower costs.

3Drive quality throughout Xchanging.
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Our geographical footprint

  Countries where we serve customers 
  Principal office locations

Xchanging is a global company, with more than 
8,500 people in ten locations around the world.

Leveraging our scale

Our geographical spread gives us an operational advantage.  
We can retain the processes that are most critical to customers at 
their sites (on-site), whilst transferring other processing to nearshore 
and offshore centres. Moving work around the world enables us  
to leverage the scale of our centres, reduce costs and offer  
24-hour services.
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Our customers

Global spread

The geographical spread of our top 50 customers is shown below.  
In 2010, these customers provided £542.7 million (69.4%)  
of our revenue.

asia

eur

usa

uk

42%

28%

22%

8%

 
  United Kingdom 
  Americas
  Continental Europe
  Asia Pacific

Top 50 customers in each region by location of headquarters

We have a wide range of customers, from 
small national businesses to major multinational 
companies. For some we provide a single 
service and for others we provide multiple 
services, sometimes in more than one country. 
Approximately	5%	of	our	revenue	comes	from	
public sector customers.

We value all of our customers and look  
to meet their needs consistently by delivering 
high-quality service.

Of our top 50 customers:
•		19	(38%)	generate	revenue	for	Xchanging	in	more	than	one	
region,	demonstrating	our	ability	to	extend	our	customer	
relationships across regions. 

•		14	(28%)	are	in	the	Americas,	the	largest	BPO	market	in	the	world.	

•		11	(22%)	are	in	Continental	Europe,	where	we	are	the	largest	
independent investment account administrator. 

•		4	(8%)	are	in	Asia	Pacific,	primarily	in	countries	with	good	
economic growth and which have not been significantly affected 
by the global recession, such as Australia, India and Singapore.

This geographical spread gives us the opportunity to sell in markets 
with growing economies and to meet growing market demand for 
multinational services. 
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The key features of EPs

An EP is a new company, jointly owned by Xchanging and our 
partner. Both parties make board appointments to the EP, but we 
have shareholder and board control. We establish shareholder 
and service committees, with appointments from both us and our 
partner, to oversee shareholder and service matters.

Our partner transfers or licences to the EP the resources and assets  
it has previously used to provide the processing services in-house. 
The EP then provides these services on an outsourced basis. 

Xchanging invests in the EP, to enhance and standardise its 
processes and deliver efficiency and quality improvements. Typically, 
we invest 10% of the day-one revenue, spread over the first two 
years of the contract.

Once we have standardised the processes in the EP, we are able to 
add third-party outsourcing contracts to the platform and generate 
additional revenues. Our partner therefore has the potential to earn 
profits from a function which had previously been a cost to it. Some 
of the EPs give our partner agreed discounts to the day-one cost.

Xchanging receives an annual licence fee for providing our 
intellectual property to the EP, and performance fees. Some of 
the EPs pay out dividends on the bases set out in the respective 
individual shareholder agreements.

For some EPs, we and our partner have the ability to call or put 
each other’s shareholding, after agreed dates or events1. Where 
these	options	exist,	we	show	them	at	their	net	present	value	in	 
our balance sheet under ’Financial liabilities’ (see page 104).

Enterprise Partnerships

Some of our customer relationships are based 
on Enterprise Partnerships (EPs). These are joint 
ventures with large customers through which 
we provide services to both our partner and 
third parties.

1Put	options	to	acquire	minority	interests	in	EPs	include:	Aon	(XBS)	–	exercisable	from	
September	2011;	Allianz	Global	Investors	(FDB)	–	exercisable	from	November	2011;	
and	SIA-SSB	(Kedrios)	–	exercisable	from	January	2014	to	January	2016.	The	estimated	
future cash flows associated with these options are discounted back to their present 
value on the balance sheet.
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Our people

Our people are fundamental to the delivery  
of	our	values	and	exceptional	customer	service.	
To become the global business processor of 
choice, we recognise that we need people with 
outstanding talent, energy and commitment. 
This means we are always looking at new 
ways to support and develop our people. 
Through this investment we can create and 
maintain a customer-focused, high-performance 
environment which enables our people to fulfil 
their potential.

Developing our people
All of our employees participate in a performance development 
review, which is integral to our business planning process. 

In 2010, we upgraded the performance development review system 
and, as part of these changes, we introduced a more rigorous 
approach to goal setting. The aim was to provide employees with a 
greater understanding of business goals as well as aligning personal 
objectives with these goals. 

We are identifying and assessing people with the potential to progress 
further in our organisation, a process which starts with our graduate 
intake. Our two-year graduate programme is designed to develop the 
next	generation	of	leaders	for	Xchanging	by	exposing	graduates	to	a	
mix	of	industry,	geographical	and	functional	experience.	Throughout	
the programme, each graduate receives director-level mentoring and 
rotates through different placements and projects.

Looking after our employees
We have a duty of care to protect our employees’ wellbeing.

As a result, we have reviewed our global wellbeing practices. In the 
UK, we put in place a formal employee wellbeing project team and 
rolled out a number of initiatives, including a cycle-to-work scheme.

In India, we have started to develop a state-of-the-art processing 
centre in a new Special Economic Zone in Shimoga, Karnataka.  
The first phase is due for completion by the end of 2011.  
The construction is following an integrated approach, combining 
energy	efficiency	–	such	as	maximising	the	use	of	natural	ventilation	
instead of air-conditioning – with the shaping of an ideal working 
environment for our employees. 

Number of employees globally 
At 31 December

2007 2008 2009 2010

Number of employees regionally 
At 31 December 2010 

In 2010, we began transforming our 
engagement and performance development 
practices. We believe that engaged people 
perform better and have a positive effect  
on the business and on shareholder value. 

393.5
4,255 4,541

8,211 8,548

  United Kingdom
  Americas
  Continental Europe
  Asia Pacific
  Corporate

Employee engagement
In 2010, we invited all of our employees to complete our first online 
engagement survey. This resulted in an overall response rate of 69%. 

The survey identified areas and initiatives which were working 
well, and areas for improvement. The survey action planning took 
place at a regional level and proposed actions were based on 
recommendations from employees and management.

We are committed to ensuring our people understand the business 
and the part they play in our success. This means we encourage 
open, two-way communication. In 2010, we launched a global 
intranet site to share information, as well as to inspire and motivate 
employees. We also regularly use channels such as webcasts and 
video broadcasts to reach employees in an imaginative and  
cost-effective way. 

gm

asia

eur

usa

uk

2,052

1,447

1,426

3,537

86
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Outsourcing market trends
Market advisory firm Everest notes that the outsourcing industry has 
moved into a phase in which both buyers and providers know how 
to succeed1.	The	challenge	for	the	next	five	years	will	be	making	
outsourcing work better. Outlined below are trends that strongly 
signal a move towards more effective outsourcing arrangements.

Cloud computing and 4G
Cloud computing is redefining the outsourcing marketplace,  
with industry commentators predicting an increasing shift towards 
cloud-based	services	over	the	next	five	years.	

There is also a trend towards commoditised IT services, through 
high-speed mobile communications such as 4G. 4G enables data 
transfer rates that are at least ten times higher than 3G, allowing 
ubiquitous wireless access.

These technologies have the potential to facilitate new sources 
of value in outsourcing, most importantly by enabling a global 
outsourcing model. This is a very appealing proposition for 
customers in a tight economy. For outsourcing providers, cloud 
computing and 4G provide an emerging growth opportunity  
across regions and industries. 

Market review

Global sourcing
Companies across the world increasingly see global sourcing  
as a key enabler of competitive advantage.

Global sourcing represents US$92-96 billion in revenues across IT 
and BPO services2. Whilst the US has traditionally been the largest 
sourcing market, Europe has grown faster over the past five years 
and now represents 30% of the total. This growth was driven 
by European-headquartered multinationals looking to remain 
competitive with their US and global counterparts. Growth is  
now driven by rising costs and competition, shortage of skills,  
global	expansion	of	firms,	and	the	increasing	proof	of	concept	
among peers.

Expanding	demand	for	global	sourcing	translates	into	a	market	
opportunity for outsourcing providers that have capability and 
scale in lower-cost offshore and nearshore centres. This increased 
receptiveness will also enable sustainable cost management for 
outsourcing providers.

Value-added services
As companies become more receptive to outsourcing,  
they	are	exploring	ways	to	get	further	value	from	their	providers.	
This means a growing demand for value-added services that help  
an organisation integrate and standardise processes, improve  
service levels, build stronger supplier and employee relationships  
and introduce best practices.

Sector developments
The	Chief	Executive	Officer’s	statement	describes	how	we	are	
introducing a focus on global sectors to the way we manage our 
business. These are some of the key global trends in these sectors.

The global recession significantly affected 
buying patterns for outsourced services, causing 
customers to postpone both discretionary and 
structural spending. Discretionary spending is 
now returning in IT and process re-engineering 
as we move out of recession and into a  
slow-growth period.

1Source: Everest: The Big Challenge that Will Reshape Outsourcing from 2011 – 
2015 | Article | Outsourcing Center http://www.outsourcing-center.com/2011-01-
the-big-challenge-that-will-reshape-outsourcing-from-2011-2015-article-42428.
html#ixzz1Co5RqgAt.

2Source: Everest Research Institute, ‘Europe’s Global Sourcing Market: Trends, 
Growth and Prospects’ September 2010.
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Financial services

As in the insurance industry, the financial services industry is seeing 
significant changes in its operating environment, particularly in 
respect of stricter regulatory regimes. Again, industry-specific 
capabilities are competitive differentiators for outsourcers.

The financial services sector is adopting outsourcing to manage 
risk, reduce costs and comply with increasingly rigorous regulatory 
demands. According to a 2010 survey3, one in ten financial 
services	firms	explored	moving	into	some	form	of	industry-specific	
outsourcing for the first time. These were typically areas offering  
an immediate labour arbitrage opportunity, such as trade 
settlement transactions and mortgage processing. 

Insurance services

The insurance industry is undergoing a fundamental change in 
its operating environment. Customers are looking for partners 
who can help them address this challenge, which means that 
for outsourcers, industry-specific capabilities are competitive 
differentiators.

The sector is gravitating towards integrated, electronic placing 
and settlement of claims, both within the London market and 
globally. The forthcoming Solvency II regulations will require insurers 
to improve their data management capability, to underpin their 
risk	management	and	capital	adequacy.	This	is	expected	to	drive	
ongoing investment in technology services, particularly around 
processing capacity and advanced data analytics.

Technology

Technology is a key competitive differentiator among outsourcing 
providers. It has become ubiquitous across business functions, 
fuelling demand for applications that help drive better productivity, 
are cheaper to run and faster to access. This has affected the 
outsourcing market in two principal ways. 

It has blurred the lines between BPO and IT outsourcing 
engagements. Outsourcers can provide consumption-based pricing 
models and sophisticated virtual resources without upfront capital 
investment. This is a compelling proposition for customers. 

It has also led to convergence of IT delivery models. Outsourcing 
contracts to provide technology as a managed service are gaining 
traction. These include managing software, infrastructure and 
platforms as a service. In the front office, such contracts help 
customers increase their speed to market with new products and 
enhance their adaptability to change. In the back office, they help 
optimise processes and thereby reduce overheads. The convergence 
of IT delivery models also sets the foundation for cloud-based 
services going forward. 

Procurement and HR

In the present slow recovery phase, outsourcing customers 
are seeking to capture more value from their HR outsourcing, 
allowing for more innovative deal terms and paving the way 
for cross-functional outsourcing. The inherent cost reductions 
from procurement and technology can be harnessed to support 
innovation in HR outsourcing. 

The procurement outsourcing marketplace is evolving, with more 
sophistication in pricing terms and the scope of contracts. There 
is a growing interest, particularly in Western Europe, the USA and 
Australasia, which will lead to significant market growth in 2011 
and beyond, with 20% year-on-year growth globally4. 

The primary driver of this growth is customers’ focus on their 
strategic activities and their lack of interest in investing in 
technology or talent to drive value from indirect procurement. 
Procurement outsourcing providers are able to leverage talent and 
technology across customers, as well as aggregate spend, to drive 
better value from supplier relationships.

4Source 2011 Market Predictions, Viewpoint, November 2010 – Everest Global Inc, 2010.

3Source: 2010 Global Services Compendium – quoting a research conducted by analyst 
advisory firm Horses for Sources.
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Chairman’s statement

Nigel Rich CBE
Executive	Chairman
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2010 was a difficult year, characterised by performance issues with 
parts of the Cambridge business and a weak economic background 
in our principal markets. 

In 2010, revenue increased by 4%. Underlying operating profit 
was £67.3 million (FY 2009: £63.9 million), helped by contract 
settlements and consultancy income totalling £11.8 million  
(FY	2009	£8.0	million).	In	addition,	exceptional	items	totalling	
£112.5 million have been recorded, including an impairment 
provision against goodwill arising from the Cambridge acquisition. 
The operating cash flow of the year was similar to 2009 and the  
net cash balance of £24.8 million at the year end was slightly  
higher than at the end of 2009 (£22.1 million).

Cambridge
Cambridge was purchased at the beginning of 2009 and the results 
to date, particularly in the American workers’ compensation and  
ITO businesses, have been very disappointing. The business in India  
is performing well. The results from the Australian and the other 
Asian	businesses	have	been	mixed	but	do	provide	a	platform	for	 
the future. The acquisition has been costly in terms of profitability, 
cash flow and management distraction. A plan is underway to 
resolve the major issues as quickly as possible.

Board changes
In October, Richard Houghton stood down from the Board and his 
role as Chief Financial Officer (CFO), and Ken Lever was appointed 
his successor. 

On 9 February, we announced that David Andrews had decided  
to	step	down	from	the	Board	and	his	role	as	Chief	Executive	 
Officer (CEO) with immediate effect. As David was the founder  
and successful creator of Xchanging as a business, I am delighted  
he has agreed to take on a new role as Senior Adviser to me,  
to support Xchanging’s business development initiatives.

We have begun the search for David’s successor as CEO. Whilst 
this is ongoing, Ken Lever will be acting CEO in addition to his 
responsibilities	as	CFO,	and	I	will	support	him	as	Executive	Chairman.

Our people
It is in difficult circumstances that we recognise the strength  
and resolve of our people, our most valuable resource. The last  
few weeks have been challenging but I am confident that our  

We	expect	2011	to	be	a	year	of	transition	 
for the company.

employees have the determination to meet these challenges  
and to put Xchanging back on the path to becoming the global 
business processor of choice.

Our customers
Xchanging’s strength is based on unrelenting attention to customer 
service. We have been reassured by the continued support of all 
of our customers and partners during 2010 and look forward to 
building on these relationships in 2011.

Liquidity
The Group’s liquidity and cash position remain sound and cash 
generation will be a primary focus in the coming year. 

Dividend
Shareholders will be disappointed by our decision not to declare a 
dividend in respect of 2010. However, we want to conserve our cash 
resources in the business for the changes we are effecting in 2011 
and to fund the growth opportunities we see. We will review this 
again at the end of the year. 

Action plan
We have developed a four-part action plan to overhaul our entire 
business, seeking value creation through regenerated profitable 
revenue growth and cash flow improvement. Where value is best 
created through disposal, we will pursue this option. The first part 
of our plan, a fundamental value assessment of our entire business, 
is complete, and we have already started taking specific action. We 
will report on progress at the half year. There will be costs associated 
with any such restructuring but we believe this will put the company 
in a better position to resume growth in 2012.

Outlook
We	expect	2011	to	be	a	year	of	transition	for	the	company.	We	will	
continue to drive the successful and profitable parts of our business, 
focusing	our	sales	efforts	on	our	existing	customer	base	and	some	
potential new ones. I believe that the initiatives now underway will 
enable us to start rebuilding shareholder confidence and value.

 

Nigel Rich CBE
Executive	Chairman

1 March 2011



18 Xchanging  
Annual report and accounts 2010

Chief	Executive	Officer’s	statement

We believe our base revenue is secure.  
Our basic business is sound and we have  
a strong customer base. 

Ken Lever 
Acting	Chief	Executive	Officer	and	Chief	Financial	Officer	
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Overview 
In 2010, Xchanging’s revenue increased by 4.0% to £780.6 million, 
as new business of £73.7 million and acquisitions were partially 
offset	by	leakage	from	existing	customers.	

Our underlying operating profit rose by 5.3% to £67.3 million, 
helped by acquisitions and by contract settlements and consultancy 
income. Although it is in the nature of our business to see such 
items each year, in the interests of clarity we believe it is helpful at 
this	time	to	identify	them.	Excluding	these	items,	adjusted	operating	
profit was 0.8% lower at £55.5 million. Net cash ended slightly up 
on the year at £24.8 million.

After amortisation of intangibles and a significant adjustment  
to goodwill related to the Cambridge business, it is disappointing  
to have to report a statutory loss for the year of £55.6 million. 

Whilst the problematic parts of the Cambridge business have been 
the focus of discussion in 2010, we have also made positive progress 
in other parts of the Group. We are now the largest independent 
investment account processor in Germany following further new 
customer	wins.	In	Technology	we	have	expanded	our	capabilities,	
enabling us to compete successfully in additional business areas,  
for	example	winning	two	important	contracts	from	Gatwick	Airport.	
An	additional	contract	in	Australia	from	our	existing	customer	Aon	
supported our strategic aim to grow our portfolio of customers 
served	in	multiple	regions.	Service	improvements	and	expansion	
helped us maintain and strengthen our leadership position in the  
UK insurance market.

Cambridge 
Cambridge gives us a strategically significant presence in India, 
additional	technology	expertise	and	some	important	international	
customers. However, it is clear that the cost of the acquisition in 
terms of profitability, cash flow and management distraction has 
been significant and it has set back Xchanging’s development. The 
business overall, which in 2010 accounted for 17.9% of our revenue 
and 3.2% of adjusted operating profit, underperformed during the 
year	and	it	is	unlikely	that	the	benefits	we	expected	at	the	time	of	
the acquisition will be fully realised. The recession had a part to play, 
preventing customers placing new business due to pressures on 
discretionary spend. 

The Cambridge business in India has performed well, both 
operationally and financially, and has given us a significant 
low-cost production base. This supports our strategic aim to 
increase offshoring and reduce our structural cost base. However, 
the Australian business has been less successful and the US 
has significantly underperformed, with the ITO and workers’ 
compensation business lines, which are heavily dependent on the 
US economy, severely hit by volume reductions, price pressures and 
competition. 

One of our critical actions for 2011 is therefore to stem Cambridge’s 
losses and restrict its cash outflow. We have initiated a plan to 
address the issues around Cambridge, including the transfer of the 
profitable	and	cash-generating	businesses	to	Xchanging	and	an	exit	
from those areas that do not fit into our strategy. We will report on 
our progress during 2011. 

Whilst these actions will lead to performance improvement in time, 
we believe it right to recognise a reduction in the value of goodwill 
which arose on the acquisition. The goodwill impairment reflects 
Cambridge’s substantial deviation from the original business case. 
It is not generating sufficient cash flow to support the valuation 
nor, based on what we currently know, is it likely to do so in the 
foreseeable future.

Operational performance
Our business structure
Since 2009 we have managed our business along regional lines, in 
part	due	to	the	expansion	of	our	business	following	the	Cambridge	
acquisition. We are now introducing to our structure an increasing 
focus on four global sectors: Insurance services, Financial services, 
Technology, and Procurement and HR. In addition to presenting the 
financial information on a regional basis in note 4 to the accounts 
we have also reported the information for each sector and set out 
our performance review by business sector. 

In revenue terms, our Insurance services, Financial services and 
Procurement and HR sectors are relatively evenly balanced. Although 
smaller, our Technology business has been growing in both strategic 
importance and size and offers significant potential for the future. 

Sector performance
Insurance services 
Overall revenue decreased by 2.2% to £258.0 million (FY 2009: 
£263.8 million) and adjusted operating profit rose by 12.8% to 
£33.0 million (FY 2009: £29.3 million). Adjusted operating profit 
margins improved to 12.8% (FY 2009: 11.1%). 

The revenue decline was driven by the workers’ compensation 
businesses in the US and Australia, which underperformed due 
to volume declines. In the highly competitive US market, this 
underperformance was accentuated by customer losses, including 
the California Insurance Guarantee Association (CIGA), and in 
Australia by lower bonus revenue amounts. 

The majority of our insurance business is in the UK and this business 
performed strongly. Margins also improved, benefiting from 
the 2009 restructuring carried out in the UK, which generated 
productivity savings.

In Australia, the impact of a loss-making contract was offset  
by strong performances elsewhere.

We won new business in the year, adding a further contract  
with Aon Australia’s Risk Solutions business, initially for two years, 
and	extending	the	length	of	the	existing	Enterprise	Partnership	 
with Aon (see page 22).

We are restructuring the businesses in the US and Australia  
and will divert resources to those areas of the business where  
our competitive position is strongest. We will then build globally  
on the strengths of the UK business. 
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Financial services
Revenue from Financial services rose by 15.9% to £194.8 million  
(FY 2009: £168.0 million), and adjusted operating profit decreased 
by 25.5% to £11.3 million (FY 2009: £15.1 million). Adjusted 
operating margins fell to 5.8% (FY 2009: 9.0%).

The main drivers of the revenue growth in the year were twofold. 
We completed the migration of the FondsServiceBank accounts 
onto the Fondsdepot Bank (FDB) platform, driving additional volume 
through this Enterprise Partnership. We also added investment 
accounts from SEB Bank, SEB Asset Management, VERITAS 
INVESTMENT TRUST, Goethaer Versicherung and OnVista Bank.  
The second half of the year also saw a first contribution from the 
Kedrios Enterprise Partnership. 

Transaction volumes in securities processing and fund administration 
remained low compared to previous years following the global 
financial crisis. However, towards the end of the year the market 
saw some signs of revival with a higher number of Initial Public 
Offerings and corporate actions (such as rights issues).

There were two one-off contract settlement payments in the year. 
One was due to the acquisition of one customer by another. The 
second was due to modification of a customer’s contract terms. 

During the year we established a new Enterprise Partnership 
in Italy with the Kedrios subsidiary of SIA-SSB. This Enterprise 
Partnership	combines	our	expertise	in	securities	processing	and	
investment account administration with the Kedrios strength in fund 
administration in the Italian market. This business has, however, 
underperformed and platform migration is proving challenging.  
We will address these issues in 2011 but there will continue to be an 
adverse effect on financial performance in 2011, with an anticipated 
loss in the order of €4 million to €5 million. 

Technology
Technology sector revenues rose by 24.7% to £116.2 million  
(FY 2009: £93.2 million) and adjusted operating profit increased by 
25.1% to £17.4 million (FY 2009: £13.9 million). Adjusted operating 
margins were maintained at 15.0% (FY 2009: 14.9%).

Our Technology business overall performed well during the year 
with particularly strong growth in the UK. This was partly offset by 
a decline in discretionary IT spend in the US and Asia Pacific markets 
affecting ITO revenues. The outlook for the Asia Pacific region  
looks improved.

In June we acquired Data Integration (DI), one of the UK’s leading 
networking, security and communication technology providers.  
The acquisition has strengthened our technology capabilities and 
also brought an important UK customer base.

The new capabilities that came with DI were instrumental in 
securing two contracts with Gatwick Airport, launching a strong 
new strategic relationship. 

We delivered new technology services and systems to the London 
Metal	Exchange,	deepening	our	existing	relationship	with	this	
important customer.

Illustrating the market trend to seek outsourcing in order to meet 
regulatory requirements, we launched, in partnership with hardware 
and software providers, a data management service that meets 
Solvency II regulations.

In the US, our ITO business continued to suffer from competitive 
pressures and declining revenues and profitability. This Cambridge 
business will be included in the strategic review of our US 
operations.

Procurement and HR
Procurement and HR revenue fell by 6.1% to £211.6 million  
(FY 2009: £225.2 million) and adjusted operating profit fell by 
34.4% to £11.1 million (FY 2009: £16.9 million). Adjusted operating 
margins fell to 5.2% (FY 2009: 7.5%).

The decline in the year was mainly attributable to two factors. 
Procurement revenues fell as government spending reductions 
affected key customers, leading to lower labour volumes. In HR 
services, revenues declined owing to contracts not being renewed in 
2009 and 2010. 

We won a five-year multinational contract with the pallet and 
container pooling services company CHEP Europe to manage  
£75 million of spend per annum. This contract demonstrates  
our ability to win cross-border business. 

During	the	year	we	expanded	our	service	relationship	with	BAE	
Systems in a number of areas, to deliver HR and procurement services. 

Action plan for 2011
We did not see the revenue growth we would have liked during 
2010 and our profit was helped by a number of non-recurring items. 
We recognise the need to achieve greater revenue growth in 2011 
and beyond, as well as to improve our operating margins through 
cost initiatives. Improving profitability will in turn increase our cash 
generation and value for our shareholders.

To achieve these improvements, we have developed a series of 
actions in four areas: strategic and intrinsic value review, operational 
improvements, revenue growth and cash flow and funding.  
A number of these actions are already under way.

Strategic and intrinsic value review
As the first part of our plan, we have conducted a root and 
branch review of our entire business portfolio. From this we have 
identified our businesses with unsatisfactory returns, including 
the underperforming parts of Cambridge and Kedrios. We also 
examined	the	value	creation	and	sharing	models	in	each	of	our	
Enterprise Partnerships to assess their attractiveness. 

This process has, in addition, enabled us to develop a clear view  
of the intrinsic value of each business and of the Group overall. 

We believe we can create value for shareholders by addressing 
our underperforming businesses, either through operational 
improvements or by changes in our portfolio of businesses  
which may result in some disposals. 

We also need to inculcate a culture of value creation and a focus  
on economic returns. Our operational improvement plans are 
designed to reflect this.

Chief	Executive	Officer’s	statement	continued
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Operational improvements
The second part of our plan tackles the need to be a low cost 
producer if we are to compete effectively and deliver profitability 
for	shareholders.	Our	infrastructure	has	expanded	faster	than	our	
rate of business growth. Without jeopardising our capabilities 
or potential for future growth, we must now prune out non-
value-adding overheads and reduce our cost structure to a more 
proportionate size. To this end, we have embarked on a strategic 
cost management programme comprising a number of elements.

We will continue to transfer more of our production offshore  
to low cost areas. In pursuit of this strategic aim, the restructuring  
in Germany and the UK, which we started in 2009, was completed 
in	2010,	delivering	cost	savings	in	the	year	of	approximately	 
£9.5	million.	We	expect	to	see	further	ongoing	savings.	

We can make further progress in this direction and are targeting to 
achieve an increase in our workforce located in low cost countries. 
There will be costs in 2011 to achieve this with the full benefits 
flowing in 2012. Typically the payback period for offshoring is on 
average around one year. 

We	will	examine	options	to	rationalise	our	space	requirements	in	the	
UK and we will reorganise the way we run our business to achieve 
both synergies and economies of scale. 

We are reducing our senior manager numbers by bringing  
together senior management teams, eliminating duplication and 
reducing the number of central function heads. This should lead  
to additional savings. 

At the same time we want to develop a performance culture with 
a focus on economic returns. To do this we are creating greater 
responsibility and accountability for performance throughout the 
company. This will be supported by the introduction of a revised 
incentive plan for management based on value creation. 

A more focused supplier management programme will contribute 
to improved competitiveness of cost inputs. This programme seeks 
annual savings of about £3 million to £5 million from 2012.

Revenue growth
The third part of our plan addresses our ability to generate  
revenue growth.

Current market trends are providing an environment offering 
the potential for us to grow. Chief amongst these are increasing 
demand for global sourcing; for value-added services and an 
innovative approach to methodologies and new processes; and 
for the increasing use of technology, especially cloud technology 
(see page 14). Companies are looking to outsourcing as a means 
of managing risk, reducing costs and complying with increasingly 
rigorous regulatory demands. For outsourcers, industry-specific 
expertise	and	capabilities	and	technology	are	proving	to	be	
competitive differentiators.

To achieve profitable revenue growth, we have refocused our market 
strategy. Whilst establishing new Enterprise Partnerships offers the 
opportunity to gain step changes in levels of revenue generation,  
it is just one way to achieve growth. In recent years our new revenue 
has come primarily from straightforward outsourcing contracts, 
business support services and product sales. We will continue 

to pursue this approach and will also actively pursue partnering 
opportunities with other service providers.

Expanding	our	business	with	existing	customers,	either	with	additional	
services	or	by	extending	into	other	geographies,	is	a	strong	growth	
strategy. So we will continue to focus on our top 50 customers. There 
is	also	good	scope	to	expand	relatively	small	existing	contracts	with	
the very large companies in our top 300 customer list. 

As part of our introduction of a greater focus on economic returns, 
we plan to improve the effectiveness of our sales force through 
greater accountability and closer links to targets. 

Cash flow and funding structure
The fourth part of our plan is to improve our cash flow and to 
ensure our funding arrangements are both adequate and efficient. 

We have now placed a keen focus on cash flow in all our businesses 
and need to improve conversion of operating profit into operating 
cash	flow.	Capital	expenditure	will	now	have	clear	limitations	and	
we are seeking improvements in our working capital management.

We have started to discuss ways of reconfiguring our funding 
arrangements. In particular we are looking at cash in the Enterprise 
Partnerships and the financial structure of Cambridge to see how 
we	can	introduce	more	flexibility	to	the	finances	of	these	businesses.	
Such	flexibility	in	our	internal	funding	flows	will	facilitate	both	our	
immediate restructuring plans and our future growth. 

Our current structure does not fully utilise the debt capacity of  
the	Group	and,	even	at	the	lower	levels	of	profitability	expected	for	
2011, the Group EBITDA should comfortably support debt service  
at a higher level. 

Our bank facility is scheduled for renewal in October 2012. We are 
initiating renewal negotiations early to ensure we have the funding 
in place to support our plans and to provide comfort to shareholders. 
This process should be complete by the time of our half-year results.

Outlook
There is no doubt that 2011 is going to be a challenging year. An 
action plan to capture the good parts of our business and to address 
the poorly performing areas is underway. 

We believe our base revenue is secure. Our basic business is sound 
and	we	have	a	strong	customer	base.	Our	experience	and	expertise,	
technology and global presence position us well to take advantage 
of the market trend towards greater outsourcing.

It will be a year of transition as we address and resolve some clearly 
defined problems. Based on the outcome of a detailed evaluation, 
we have a four-part plan to generate profitable revenue growth, 
to embed a focus on value creation, reduce cost and potentially 
reshape our business. Implementation of the plan has begun and 
in	2011	will	incur	costs.	However	we	expect	the	benefits	to	start	
accruing during the year and to become more clearly visible in 2012. 

 

Ken Lever 
Acting	Chief	Executive	Officer	and	Chief	Financial	Officer	

1 March 2011 
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Insurance services
Developing our services
We continued to enhance the Insurers’ Market Repository (IMR) 
by adding innovative capabilities, such as the upgraded electronic 
claims file (ECF2) and e-Accounts. ECF2 provides faster access to 
easily searchable electronic files and better workflow management. 
e-Accounts enhances the electronic submission of accounting 
entries to us by brokers and insurers. Benefits to brokers and insurers 
include earlier settlement of cash items, increasing the flow of 
business to the London insurance market.

Key contracts signed in 2010
We renewed a number of claims processing contracts in the 
Americas, including: 

•		a	multi-year	contract	with	one	of	the	largest	rental	car	companies	
in North America. Our services include managing loss fund 
accounts, customised loss reporting, claim adjudication, and 
subrogation and salvage recovery services. These services will  
be provided from our processing centre in Solon, Ohio

•		a	two-year	contract	with	a	leading	global	payments,	network	and	
travel company. We have provided services to this company since 
1996. We will provide claims administration, corporate billing and 
enrolment, tele-support helpdesk, claims reporting and status, and 
coverage enquiry services from our processing centre in Solon, Ohio 

•		a	contract	with	the	world’s	largest	retailer.	We	have	provided	
workers’ compensation claims handling and medical management 
services to this company’s US operations since 2002. With over  
1.4 million employees, it is the USA’s largest private sector employer. 
The customer declared our processing centre, located in Whippany, 
NJ, to be the ‘Small TPA Office of The Year’, for delivering the 
highest service standards in processing claims for its injured workers

•		a	contract	with	an	Illinois-based	purchasing	group	of	over	 
120 public schools for workers’ compensation services

•		a	medical	claims	processing	services	contract	with	a	generic	 
drug manufacturer

•		a	contract	with	one	of	the	largest	retailers	of	consumer	computers,	
electronics and appliances for claims processing services.

In Australia, we closed our first general insurance opportunity with 
Aon	Australia’s	Risk	Solutions	business.	This	expands	the	scope	of	
our work for Aon across the world and complements the workers’ 
compensation claims management business in the region.

In	late	2010,	we	extended	our	Enterprise	Partnership	contract	with	
Aon Limited, which had an original term of ten years. Aon has been 
a key customer of Xchanging since 2006. Through this Enterprise 
Partnership, Xchanging has been providing claims processing and 
accounting and settlement services to Aon and other third-party 
customers. 

Financial services
Key contracts signed in 2010
In Germany, we are a key player in the consolidation of the 
investment account processing market. We added investment 
accounts from SEB Bank and SEB Asset Management, VERITAS 
INVESTMENT TRUST, Gothaer Versicherung and OnVista Bank 
onto the Fondsdepot Bank (FDB) platform. We are now the largest 
independent investment account processor in Germany.

We signed an Enterprise Partnership with SIA-SSB to acquire 51% 
of	Kedrios,	its	Italian	subsidiary.	This	EP	combines	our	expertise	in	
securities processing and investment account administration with 
Kedrios’ strengths in fund administration in the Italian market. It will 
allow	us	to	serve	our	existing	customers	who	have	operations	in	Italy	
and	to	expand	our	international	customer	base.	

In India, we are leveraging our relationships with over 90 banks 
to	expand	the	services	we	provide.	For	example,	we	extended	
our relationship with UCO Bank to implement a disaster recovery 
solution for its financial telecommunications infrastructure. We will 
enable UCO Bank to integrate near real-time databases, payments 
and transactions seamlessly over its SWIFT payment gateway with 
the	bank’s	existing	disaster	recovery	infrastructure.	The	solution	will	
provide a secure environment for efficient duplication detection, and 
recoverability of high-volume messaging traffic. The scope of the 
implementation	also	includes	back-up	of	foreign	exchange	payments	
and telecommunications platform.

We signed a contract to upgrade the host trading platform and 
TESA	(our	proprietary	trade	software)	at	the	Dhaka	Stock	Exchange,	
the	premier	stock	exchange	in	Bangladesh.	

Key new contracts and business development 
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Technology
Developing our services
In partnership with hardware and software providers, we launched  
a data management solution to offer customers a compliant, cost-
effective enterprise-wide service that meets Solvency II regulations. 

We deployed an innovative, application-led service delivery 
framework (SDF) through a cloud-computing-based infrastructure. 
It encompasses our intellectual property along with that of 
complementary independent software vendors. With early 
customers secured, the SDF is initially targeted at the London market 
as well as other insurance sectors including life and pensions.

Acquisition
In June 2010, we acquired Data Integration (DI), one of the UK’s 
leading networking, security and communication technology 
providers. DI has been our preferred network partner for the past 
two years. The acquisition strengthens our technology capabilities  
in network managed services and establishes a reseller platform.  
DI also brings a strategic customer base in the UK through its 
existing	contracts.

Key contracts signed in 2010
We won a five-year contract with Gatwick Airport. We will provide 
a	comprehensive	and	flexible	network	managed	service,	including	
migrating Gatwick Airport’s legacy network infrastructure from  
BAA and delivering a range of enhanced services from our modern 
ITIL-based integrated processing centres. 

In early 2011 we won a second contract with Gatwick Airport,  
this time to provide the airport’s End User Computing Services.  
The move further strengthens this new strategic relationship.

Heath Lambert signed a new hosting contract with us to virtualise 
its	existing	platform	to	run	Brokasure,	one	of	our	global	enterprise	
software solutions for insurance customers. 

Cardif Pinnacle engaged us to provide an ITIL service management 
maturity assessment. This is an independent appraisal of the 
customer’s IT service management environment and makes targeted 
and pragmatic recommendations for enhancements.

One of the world’s leading marine services providers engaged 
us to assess its people, processes and technology. We will make 
recommendations for a practical enterprise architecture strategy  
to support its strategic plan.

We signed a contract with a global property and casualty insurance 
firm to provide IRIS (international insurance and reinsurance solution) 
and IRIS BI (business intelligence solution) as an end-to-end 
managed service. We are responsible for installing, commissioning 
and supporting the infrastructure, including disaster recovery.

Against a tight deadline, we delivered system changes to the 
London	Metal	Exchange	in	support	of	its	launch	of	the	world’s	first	
global steel contract. We also integrated all systems with the London 
Clearing House’s (LCH) new clearing system, upgraded the ring 
telephony system, dealer boards and warehousing warrant system, 
and implemented a web-based market indicative quotes tool, a new 
trade floor surveillance system and a new CRM system. In addition, 
we are delivering the over the counter (OTC) gold project, which 
allows LME members to capture and manage OTC gold trades via 
the LMESmart application, and to clear trades via LCH. 

We won a contract to develop an IT application system for the 
Subordinate Courts of Singapore. We will develop and maintain  
a finance management system to enable the courts to manage the 
collection of fines, and to allow court users to pay in multiple ways. 
This	system	will	interface	with	the	existing	IT	systems	and	streamline	
finance-related processes across the courts.

Procurement and HR
Key contracts signed in 2010
We won a five-year contract with CHEP Europe, to manage  
£75 million of spend per annum in the UK, France, Germany and 
Spain. We will consolidate spend management and help reduce 
non-core procurement costs. The contract includes sourcing and 
procure-to-pay activities.

We	signed	a	three-year	contract	with	existing	customer	SELEX	
Galileo, part of the Finmeccanica Group, to manage annual 
procurement spend of around £17 million.

We agreed additional contracts with a number of BAE Systems’ 
subsidiaries to cover procurement services.

Saudi Development and Training Company (SDT) awarded us  
a two-year contract to procure learning and development courses  
in the UK and Saudi Arabia. We will set up a sourcing hub with  
a central support helpdesk, and introduce a vendor management 
programme to optimise the supply chain.

We	extended	an	existing	contract	with	BAE	Systems	to	deliver	
HR Services in four key areas: HR core services, international 
assignments, graduate and industrial placement recruitment and 
training administration.

A leading US healthcare services and technology company gave  
us a contract to outsource mission-critical back-office processes. 
We will provide intake and referral services for physical therapy, 
diagnostic imaging and respiratory therapy. Services will also include 
provider referencing and home health compliance. This new contract 
complements	our	existing	healthcare	services,	and	will	be	delivered	
with	an	extensive	security	infrastructure	in	place	to	shield	sensitive	
information.
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         Increase/ 
     2010  2009  (decrease)

Revenue (£m)    780.6  750.4  4.0%
Underlying operating profit (EBIT) (£m)1   67.3  63.9  5.3%
EBIT margin (%)    8.6%  8.5%  0.1%
Adjusted operating profit (£m)2    55.5  55.9  (0.8%)
Adjusted operating profit margin (%)    7.1%  7.4%  (0.3%)
Statutory operating (loss)/profit (£m)    (55.6)  23.7  (334.1%)
Xchanging’s share of underlying profit for the year (£m)    37.3  36.3  2.8%
Underlying EPS – basic (pence)3    15.60  15.40  1.3%
Adjusted EPS – basic (pence)4    11.99  12.88  (6.9%)
Operating cash flow (£m)5    31.0  26.0  19.2%
Net cash (£m)6    24.8  22.1  12.2%
Equity free cash flow (£m)7    14.7  10.7  37.4%

1Underlying	operating	profit	excludes	exceptional	items	(FY	2010:	£112.5	million,	FY	2009:	£29.2	million),	amortisation	of	intangible	assets	previously	unrecognised	by	acquired	
entities (FY 2010: £9.2 million, FY 2009: £10.0 million) and costs of acquisitions (FY 2010: £1.2 million, FY 2009: £1.0 million).

2Adjusted	operating	profit	also	excludes	specific	non-recurring	items	in	the	income	statement	arising	in	the	ordinary	course	of	business	but	which,	in	the	Directo	rs’	judgement,	 
need	to	be	disclosed	by	virtue	of	their	size	and	incidence	(FY	2010:	£11.8	million,	FY	2009:	£8.0	million).	These	items	are	explained	further	below.

3Underlying earnings per share (EPS) – Xchanging share of underlying profit for the year divided by the weighted average basic number of Xchanging plc shares in issue for the year 
ended 31 December.

4Adjusted earnings per share (EPS) – Xchanging share of adjusted operating profit for the year divided by the weighted average basic number of Xchanging plc shares in issue  
for the year ended 31 December.

5Operating	cash	flow	is	calculated	as	cash	generated	from	operations	less	net	capital	expenditure	(including	pre-contract	costs)	and	dividends	to	non-controlling	interests.

6Net cash is calculated as cash and cash equivalents less bank loans and overdrafts, liabilities and receivable purchase facilities. The above net cash number does not include  
finance leases.

7Equity	free	cash	flow	is	calculated	as	operating	cash	flow	less	tax	and	interest.

Operating and financial review

Review of financial performance 

Group key performance indicators
The Group’s KPIs are calculated after adding back a number  
of	non-cash	and	acquisition-related	adjustments	and	exceptional	
charges, as noted below, in order to present the underlying 
performance of the business.
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Group performance
Revenue growth
Revenue for the year ended 31 December 2010 was £780.6 million, 
an increase of 4.0% over the previous year (FY 2009: £750.4 million).

Organic revenue was £737.9 million, a decline of 1.5% on 2009 
revenues. The organic revenue decline excludes the impact of 
foreign exchange rate movements and acquisitions, therefore 
showing a like-for-like revenue movement. 

In 2010, organic revenues exclude revenues of £42.7 million from 
acquisitions made in the year including Data Integration and Kedrios 
and the FondsServiceBank (FSB) and SEB transactions. In addition, 
organic growth excludes adverse currency movements of 0.2%. 

The organic decline was driven primarily by lower procurement 
revenues, lower revenues in the US and Australian workers’ 
compensation businesses, reduced demand in the ITO businesses 
and lower securities processing volumes in Continental Europe. 
These are partly offset by strong hosting technology services 
revenues and additional revenues in the UK insurance businesses. 

Revenue visibility
Xchanging uses a revenue visibility measure that represents 
revenue we can reasonably expect to arise in the year from current 
customers with whom we have a contractual relationship. In light 
of the economic climate and our performance in 2010, we have 
undertaken a thorough review of our revenue visibility.

Our visible revenue going into 2010 was £684.0 million. Going  
into 2011, our revenue visibility is £648.0 million. The Group’s order 
book totals £1.6 billion. This represents the remaining contracted 
value of all existing customer relationships.

Whilst the Group has high visibility of revenue, these are to  
an extent volume dependent, with a number of our businesses 
generating revenue on a transactional or partially transactional basis. 

In most cases, volumes are highly predictable and certain as is  
the case in our insurance claims and premium processing businesses 
and funds administration business. Additionally, the services  
to which these volumes relate are subject to exclusive contracts.  
In considering revenue visibility, fixed and highly predictable  
volume-based revenue is treated as fixed revenue and constitutes 
84% of our visible revenue. 

In other cases, volumes are more sensitive to market conditions and 
competition. These are generally in our business support businesses 
such as global mobility services and recruitment. In these cases, 
when considering revenue visibility, highly volume-dependent 
revenue is determined based on a conservative view of the 
businesses performance, capability, and competitive position.  
This revenue is treated as volume dependant and constitutes  
16% of our visible revenue.

Operating profit 
Underlying operating profit (EBIT) increased 5.3% to £67.3 million 
(FY 2009: £63.9 million). On a like-for-like basis, underlying 
operating profit decreased 10.8%, excluding profit earned from 
acquisitions of Data Integration (£1.7 million), SEB (£5.0 million),  
FSB (£3.6 million), and the Kedrios Enterprise Partnership (loss of 
£0.9 million) and beneficial foreign exchange rate movements of 
1.3%. The beneficial foreign exchange movements are driven by 
favourable movements in the Indian Rupee and Australian Dollar, 
offsetting negative movements in the Euro.

Statutory operating profit decreased to a loss of £55.6 million  
(FY 2009: profit £23.7 million (as restated following amendments  
to IFRS 3)). Statutory operating profit includes the following:

•		net	exceptional	items	totalling	£112.5	million,	primarily	related	
to the impairment of goodwill, intangible and other assets and 
onerous contract provisions (FY 2009: £29.2 million in relation  
to the integration of Cambridge, restructuring costs and a liability 
provision release)

•		amortisation	of	acquired	intangibles	totalling	£9.2	million	 
(FY 2009: £10.0 million) 

•		acquisition	related	expenses	of	£1.2	million	in	respect	of	
Xchanging Investment Services GmbH (XISG), Data Integration (DI) 
and Kedrios (FY 2009: £1.0 million in respect of FSB). 

Xchanging’s share of underlying operating profit for the year 
increased by 2.8% to £37.3 million (FY 2009: £36.3 million).  
This represents a margin after excluding non-controlling interests  
of 4.8% (FY 2009: 4.8%). 

Quality of profit
It is in the nature of our business that there are one-off items 
included each year in reported underlying operating profit. In this 
respect, our reported underlying operating profit for 2010 included 
£6.9 million relating to contract settlements arising in the second 
half of the year (FY 2009: £3.2 million).

In addition, as previously indicated, our reported underlying 
operating profit includes consulting income from the Compagnie 
Pour Assistance Technique et Investissements S.A. (CATISA) 
arrangement of £4.9 million (FY 2009: £4.8 million).

Adjusted operating profit
In order to improve the understanding of our accounts, going 
forward, the Group will move from reporting underlying operating 
profit to adjusted operating profit. Adjusted operating profit will 
adjust the statutory operating profit for both favourable and 
unfavourable one-off items which are received in the normal course 
of our business and add back costs of acquisition and amortisation 
of intangibles previously amortised by an acquired entity.
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The table below details the adjustments that have been made  
by Xchanging historically to determine underlying operating profit. 
The table further reconciles underlying operating profit to the 
adjusted number disclosing material transactions in the year which 
have had an impact on the Group’s results. 

During 2010, there were two contract settlements which arose as a 
result of the renegotiation of the contract terms and reconfiguration 
of the contracts following the acquisition of one customer by 
another. This amounted to £6.9 million. Similarly, in 2009 two 
contract settlements arose as a result of a service exit and contract 
renegotiation (£3.2 million).

In addition, in 2009 and 2010 the Group benefited from consulting 
income from the CATISA contract which will not recur in 2011.  
This was described in the 2009 Annual report and accounts.

Margins
Underlying EBIT margins for the Group increased by 11 basis points 
(bps) to 8.6% in 2010 (FY 2009: 8.5%). Adjusted operating profit 
margins (excluding one-off items, as noted above) decreased 
by 35 bps to 7.1% (FY 2009: 7.4%), driven by a decrease in 
adjusted operating profit margins in Continental Europe (due to 
financial services margin decline) and Asia Pacific (due to workers’ 
compensation and technology businesses margin decline), offset 
by an increase in margin in the UK region which showed a strong 
performance (technology and insurance services margins). In 
addition, a reduction in corporate costs, comprising unallocated 
central charges, also helped improve Group margins. Refer to the 
regional segmental and business sector analyses for further details.

Earnings per share
When considering earnings per share, the Group uses Xchanging’s 
share of underlying and adjusted profit for the year, to represent the 
performance of the business. 

Underlying basic earnings per share has grown by 1.3% to 15.60 
pence (2009: 15.40 pence). The improvement in earnings per share 
is driven by growth of 2.8% in Xchanging’s share of underlying profit 
after tax for the year. At a basic EPS level, this growth has been diluted 
by an increase in the average number of shares in issue by 1.5% to 
239.0 million shares (2009: 235.4 million). The increase in average 
number of shares in issue is due to the exercise of options resulting in 
the issue of 2.4 million shares (1.8 million on weighted average basis). 

Adjusted basic earnings per share has declined by 6.9% to 11.99 
pence (2009: 12.88 pence). The decline in adjusted earnings per 
share reflects a 5.6% decline in Xchanging’s share of adjusted profit 
after tax for the year. 

Exceptional items
The Group posted total exceptional items of £112.5 million during 
the year (FY 2009: £29.2 million). In 2010, these related to:

•		impairment	of	goodwill,	intangible	and	other	assets	totalling	
£110.0 million (see “Impairments” section below)

•		provision	for	onerous	contracts	totalling	£2.6	million,	relating	to	an	
Australian workers’ compensation processing contract deemed to 
be onerous in the Asia Pacific region, based on the loss of market 
share and likelihood of future revenues not being sufficient to 
cover the operating costs

           Restated 
         2010  2009 
       £m   £m

Statutory operating (loss)/profit      (55.6)  23.7

Amortisation of acquired intangibles      (9.2)  (10.0)
Acquisition costs      (1.2)  (1.0)
Exceptional items      (112.5)  (29.2)

Underlying operating profit      67.3  63.9

CATISA income      (4.9)  (4.8)
Contract settlements      (6.9)  (3.2)

Adjusted operating profit      55.5  55.9

       2010   2009

Underlying basic earnings per share 
Xchanging share of underlying profit after tax (£m)     37.3   36.3
Weighted average number of shares in issue (m)     239.0   235.4
Underlying basic earnings per share (pence)      15.60   15.40

Adjusted basic earnings per share 
Xchanging share of adjusted profit after tax (£m)     28.7   30.3
Weighted average number of shares in issue (m)     239.0   235.4
Adjusted basic earnings per share (pence)      11.99   12.88

Operating and financial review continued
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•		gain	on	acquisition	of	£0.1	million	relating	to	the	Kedrios	
Enterprise Partnership business combination.

In 2009, exceptional charges totalling £29.2 million related to the 
integration of Cambridge (£16.7 million) and the restructuring of the 
existing Xchanging business (£17.4 million), offset by an exceptional 
gain of £5.0 million associated with the release of a liability provision 
in the Fondsdepot Bank (FDB) business. 

Impairments
Following a review of goodwill and other intangible and asset 
balances, impairment charges totalling £110.0 million have been 
recorded. These relate to:

•		Impairment	of	Americas	goodwill	totalling	£50.4	million,	relating	
to the Cambridge US business acquired in 2009, reflecting the 
underperformance of the US workers’ compensation business 
against the original business case expectations. £3.5 million of 
goodwill remains in relation to the Cambridge US Business Process 
Outsourcing (BPO) business.

•		Impairment	of	Asia	Pacific	goodwill	totalling	£39.6	million,	relating	
to the Cambridge Australia business acquired in 2009, reflecting 
the decline in revenues from the Australian workers’ compensation 
business during 2010, and uncertainty over future revenues. 
Revenues from this contract are reliant upon a number of factors 

outside of the managing agents’ control including actuarial 
assessments of the performance of the State-wide injured workers’ 
fund schemes. £5.3 million of goodwill remains in relation to the 
Australia BPO businesses. 

•		Impairment	of	UK	and	Continental	Europe	goodwill	totalling	 
£9.4 million, relating to two smaller cash-generating units 
(European Procurement and UK advisory businesses) that have 
been affected by lower demand due to difficult economic 
conditions specific to those businesses. 

•		Impairment	of	other	intangible	assets	totalling	£7.4	million.	 
These relate to specific intangible assets within the Americas,  
Asia Pacific and Continental Europe regions that have been 
impaired based on the likelihood of insufficient future revenues 
from those assets. 

•		Impairment	of	an	available	for	sale	asset	and	investment	totalling	
£3.2 million, relating to an investment in Big E Real Estates Inc. 
which is owned by a Cambridge group company. 

Revenue and adjusted profit movement – like-for-like analysis
The table below shows the organic revenue and adjusted profit 
movements, by region, excluding the impact of foreign exchange 
movements and acquisitions. 

Regional segments 
     Prior year 
    Exchange like-for-like  Underlying Underlying 
   2009 rate effect basis Acquisitions1 change change  2010 
   £m £m £m £m £m % £m

Group               
External revenue  750.4 (1.5) 748.9 42.7 (11.0) (1.5%) 780.6
Adjusted operating profit  55.9 0.8 56.7 9.4 (10.6) (19.2%) 55.5

UK              
External revenue  406.7 0.0 406.7 9.0 (1.0) (0.2%) 414.7
Adjusted operating profit  47.3 0.0 47.3 1.7 4.9 10.4%  53.9

Americas              
External revenue  130.3 1.4 131.7 0.0 (6.2) (4.8%) 125.5
Adjusted operating profit  0.8 0.1 0.9 0.0 1.2 147.8%  2.1

Continental Europe              
External revenue  167.9 (8.4) 159.5 33.7 1.4 0.8%  194.6
Adjusted operating profit  13.2 (0.7) 12.5 7.7 (10.9) (82.7%) 9.3

Asia Pacific              
External revenue  45.3 5.5 50.8 0.0 (5.0) (11.0%) 45.8
Adjusted operating profit  13.2 1.6 14.8 0.0 (8.0) (60.8%) 6.8

Corporate              
External revenue  0.2 0.0 0.2 0.0 (0.2) (100.0%) 0.0
Adjusted operating profit  (18.6) (0.2) (18.8) 0.0 2.2 (11.6%) (16.6)

1Acquisition revenues and operating profit relate to Data Integration, SEB, FSB and Kedrios. As FSB customer accounts have been fully integrated and subsumed onto the FDB 
platform, it is not possible to fully and separately identify costs directly relating to FSB for 2010. Therefore, an estimate of the profit impact from FSB has been made for the 
purposes of identifying the underlying growth rate for adjusted operating profit. 
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On a like-for-like basis, excluding the impact of foreign exchange 
and acquisitions, Group revenues declined by 1.5%, and adjusted 
operating profit declined by 19.2%.

Favourable movements in the Australian Dollar, Indian Rupee and  
US Dollar exchange rates were offset by unfavourable movements  
in the Euro. 

Excluding the impact of the contract settlements noted in the 
“Adjusted operating profit” section (page 25), 2010 external 
revenue for the Group was £768.8 million, a 3.6% decline from 
2009 (FY 2009: £742.5 million).

Segmental performance
In the full year 2009 financial accounts, the Americas region 
included our IT outsourcing and insurance software businesses. 
These businesses consist of a number of entities in various locations, 
primarily the USA, India and the Far East. During 2010, these 
businesses were managed and reported within the respective 
geographic regions, resulting in the businesses based in India and 
the Far East moving from the Americas region to the Asia Pacific 
region reporting segment.

In addition, the Global Procurement segment, which previously 
included all of our procurement businesses, was regionalised. 
As a result, Global Procurement no longer exists as an operating 
segment, with the respective businesses being managed and 
reported within the UK, Continental Europe, Asia Pacific and 
Americas regions. 

Segmental performance, based on the 2010 reporting structure,  
is discussed below. 

UK
External revenue for the UK region increased by 2.0% to  
£414.7 million, including the £9.0 million of revenue associated with 
the acquisition of Data Integration in 2010. On a like-for-like basis, 
excluding acquisitions, the UK region revenue decreased by 0.2%. 

Revenues grew strongly within the Technology business, driven 
by services provided to the London Metal Exchange, and within 
the Insurance businesses from development revenues associated 
with electronic claims processing initiatives within the London 
insurance market. Together these accounted for £14.4 million of 
growth. These are fully offset by a sharp decline in UK Procurement 
revenues due to lower volumes resulting from government spending 
cuts affecting our key customers, and a decline in HR services 
revenues following terminated contracts in 2009 and 2010. These 
terminated contracts related to recruitment and pensions services, 
and accounted for £15.4 million of revenue decline. Procurement 
and HR revenue decline was partially mitigated by expanding our 
relationship with BAE Systems. 

Adjusted operating profit increased by 14.0% to £53.9 million 
(FY 2009: £47.3 million), representing an adjusted operating 
profit margin of 12.8% (FY 2009: 11.4%). On a like-for-like basis, 
excluding £1.7 million of profit from Data Integration, adjusted 
operating profit increased by 10.4%. 

Profit growth is driven by revenue increases in the higher margin 
Technology and Insurance businesses combined with productivity 
improvements from the lean processor restructuring programme 
commenced in 2009. Overall £10.1 million of adjusted profit growth 
came from the UK Technology and Insurance businesses. These are 
offset by a £3.9 million decline in adjusted operating profit from 
lower revenues in the Procurement business and a £1.3 million 
decline in adjusted operating profit from HR businesses. 

Segmental analysis by region
     Continental 
   UK Americas Europe Asia Pacific Corporate Eliminations Group 
   £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Gross revenue
2010 gross revenue  422.6 125.9 194.6 80.2 0.0 (42.7) 780.6

External  414.7 125.5 194.6 45.8 0.0  780.6
Internal  7.9 0.4 0.0 34.4 0.0  42.7

2009 gross revenue  414.5 130.3 168.3 77.1 0.2 (40.0) 750.4

External  406.7 130.3 167.9 45.3 0.2  750.4
Internal  7.8 0.0 0.4 31.8 0.0  40.0

 
Variance  8.1 (4.4) 26.3 3.1 (0.2) (2.7) 30.2
%  2.0% -3.4% 15.6% 4.0% -100.0% 6.8% 4.0%

Adjusted operating profit
2010 adjusted operating profit  53.9 2.1 9.3 6.8 (16.6)  55.5
2009 adjusted operating profit  47.3 0.8 13.2 13.2 (18.6)  55.9
 
Variance  6.6 1.3 (3.9) (6.4) 2.0  (0.4)
%  14.0% 176.1% -29.8% -49.0% -10.8%  -0.7%
 
2010 adjusted operating profit margin  12.8% 1.7% 4.8% 8.4%   7.1%
2009 adjusted operating profit margin  11.4% 0.6% 7.8% 17.2%   7.4%

Operating and financial review continued
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Americas
External revenue for the Americas region decreased by 3.7% to 
£125.5 million (FY 2009: £130.3 million), including a favourable 
foreign exchange impact of £1.4 million. On a like-for-like basis 
revenues declined by 4.8%. 

The decrease was driven by the workers’ compensation business, 
which has been adversely affected by volume declines and the  
full-year impact of customers lost during 2009. This was partially 
offset by increased case management vendor revenues resulting  
in an overall revenue decline of £3.9 million on a like-for-like basis. 
In addition, revenues from the IT outsourcing business declined  
due to lower levels of renewal and new sales. 

Adjusted operating profit increased to £2.1 million (FY 2009:  
£0.8 million), including £0.1 million benefit from foreign exchange, 
representing an increase in adjusted operating profit margins to 
1.7% (FY 2009: 0.6%). The profit impact of lower revenues in the 
workers’ compensation business was partially offset by productivity 
savings from the 2009 Cambridge integration programme. In 
addition, profit benefited from releases of onerous contract 
provisions (totalling approximately £1.0 million) following sublease 
and termination agreements established during 2010. Furthermore, 
in 2010 the workers’ compensation business received sales tax  
and other credits relating to prior years, totalling approximately  
£0.8 million. Profit from the Technology businesses in the Americas 
region declined by £1.6 million, primarily due to licence sales in 
2009 which were not renewed in 2010. 

The Americas revenue and underlying operating profit for the year 
also included £4.9 million of revenue from the contract for services 
with Compagnie Pour Assistance Technique et Investissements S.A 
(CATISA), which we have excluded in deriving adjusted operating 
profit (FY 2009: £4.8 million). 

Continental Europe
External revenue for the Continental Europe region increased  
by 15.9% to £194.6 million (FY 2009: £167.9 million), including 
unfavourable foreign exchange movements of £8.4 million and 
revenue from acquisitions in the year of £33.7 million. Acquisition 
revenues included Kedrios and the FSB and SEB transactions.  
On a like-for-like basis revenue for Continental Europe grew 
marginally by £1.4 million (0.8%). 

This increase includes £3.6 million of revenue from contract 
settlements within Xchanging Transaction Bank (XTB). Underlying 
revenues in Continental Europe therefore declined, primarily due to 
lower securities processing volumes within XTB and lower revenues 
from the German withholding tax services (Abgeltungssteuer), 
resulting in £6.3 million lower revenues on a like-for-like basis. These 
were partly offset by additional funds administration volumes within 
FDB where new third-party customers were added to the platform 
during 2010.

Continental Europe’s underlying operating profit for the year also 
included £6.9 million of one-time contract settlements, which have 
been excluded in deriving adjusted operating profit. 

Adjusted operating profit declined by 29.8% to £9.3 million  
(FY 2009: £13.2 million), representing an adjusted operating profit 
margin of 4.8% (FY 2009: 7.8%). This includes an unfavourable 
foreign exchange impact of £0.7 million, and an operating profit 
from acquisitions of £7.7 million.

On a like-for-like basis, therefore, Continental Europe adjusted 
operating profit declined by £10.9 million (82.7%). The decrease 
reflects significant cost pressures within the business and lower-
margin funds administration processing revenues within FDB 
replacing higher-margin securities processing and German 
withholding tax services (Abgeltungssteuer) revenues within XTB. 
In addition, operating costs increased in FDB due to additional 
discounts to the EP partner and additional costs associated with the 
transition of FSB and SEB. This offsets benefits from productivity 
improvements from the lean processor restructuring programme 
commenced in 2009. Furthermore, the Kedrios Enterprise 
Partnership reported operating losses of £0.9 million in 2010. 
Underperformance in 2010 and a challenging integration are 
expected to continue to adversely impact 2011 performance. 

Asia Pacific
External revenue for the Asia Pacific region increased by 1.2%  
to £45.8 million (FY 2009: £45.3 million). This includes favourable 
foreign exchange movements of £5.5 million due to the movement 
in the Australian Dollar and Indian Rupee exchange rates year-on-
year. Therefore, on a like-for-like basis, revenues decreased by  
£5.0 million (11.0%). 

The underlying decrease is driven by poor performance in the 
workers’ compensation businesses, which have been affected by 
lower bonus revenue amounts. These lower bonus revenues reflect 
the volatile nature of the performance bonus schemes on which 
managing agent remuneration is based. Australia BPO revenues 
declined by £3.6 million on a like-for-like basis. In addition, revenues 
from the IT outsourcing business in Asia Pacific declined by  
£1.6 million like-for-like, due to lower levels of spend on technology 
projects by key customers who operated at higher volumes in 2009. 
These impacts were partly mitigated by new advisory business won 
from Aon Australia’s Risk Solutions business and through strong 
performance in our Indian offshoring businesses.

Adjusted operating profit declined by 49.0% to £6.8 million  
(FY 2009: £13.2 million), representing an adjusted operating profit 
margin of 8.4% (FY 2009: 17.2%). Profit benefited from favourable 
foreign exchange movements by £1.6 million (2.5%), therefore 
on a like-for-like basis profit declined by £8.0 million (60.8%). This 
reflects the lower revenue levels, and a large proportion of bonus 
revenues decline in the workers’ compensation businesses dropping 
straight to the bottom line. Operating profit from the Australian 
workers’ compensation businesses declined by £5.2 million  
year-on-year on a like-for-like basis. 
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Corporate
Central costs, which include unallocated Corporate costs, declined 
by 10.8% to £16.6 million (FY 2009: £18.6 million). Central costs  
as a percentage of revenue reduced from 2.5% in 2009 to 2.1%  
in 2010. 

This decline includes a reduction in senior management costs from 
the lean processor restructuring programme, lower staff bonus 
levels as well as lower expatriate costs, partly offset by additional 
investment in business development costs during 2010. 

Analysis by sectors
Going forward, as the Group will be focusing on global business 
sectors to make better use of our expertise and resources, the 
Directors believe information by sector, as provided below, is also 
helpful to users of the financial statements in understanding the 
Group’s performance. 

The sectors represent the business lines operated by the Group, 
including profits generated from the Indian offshoring entities  
within each sector (within the segmental structure these profits  
are included solely within the Asia Pacific region).

Operating and financial review continued

Analysis by sector 
    Insurance Financial  Procurement 
    services services Technology and HR Corporate Group 
     £m £m £m £m £m £m

External revenue            
2010 Revenue   258.0 194.8 116.2 211.6 0.0 780.6
2009 Revenue   263.8 168.0 93.2 225.2 0.2 750.4
 
Variance   (5.8) 26.8 23.0 (13.6) (0.2) 30.2
%   -2.2% 15.9% 24.7% -6.1% -100.0% 4.0%

Adjusted operating profit            
2010 Adjusted operating profit   33.0 11.3 17.4 11.1 (17.3) 55.5
2009 Adjusted operating profit   29.3 15.1 13.9 16.9 (19.3) 55.9
 
Variance   3.7 (3.8) 3.5 (5.8) 2.0 (0.4)
%   12.8% -25.5% 25.1% -34.4% -10.3% -0.8%
 
2010 Adjusted operating profit margin   12.8% 5.8% 15.0% 5.2%  7.1%
2009 Adjusted operating profit margin   11.1% 9.0% 14.9% 7.5%  7.5%

Like-for-like analysis by sector
     Prior year 
    Exchange like-for-like  Underlying Underlying 
   2009 rate effect basis Acquisitions change change  2010 
Sectors   £m £m £m £m £m % £m

Group (including eliminations)            
External revenue  750.4 (1.5) 748.9 42.7 (11.0) (1.5%) 780.6
Adjusted operating profit  55.9 0.8 56.7 9.4 (10.6) (19.2%) 55.5

Insurance services              
External revenue  263.8 5.1 268.9 0.0 (10.9) (4.1%) 258.0
Adjusted operating profit  29.3 1.3 30.6 0.0 2.4 8.4%  33.0

Financial services              
External revenue  168.0 (7.8) 160.2 33.7 0.9 0.5%  194.8
Adjusted operating profit  15.1 (0.8) 14.3 7.7 (10.7) (70.9%) 11.3

Technology              
External revenue  93.2 1.0 94.2 9.0 13.0 13.9%  116.2
Adjusted operating profit  13.9 0.4 14.3 1.7 1.4 10.0%  17.4

Procurement and HR              
External revenue  225.2 0.2 225.4 0.0 (13.8) (6.1%) 211.6
Adjusted operating profit  16.9 0.1 17.0 0.0 (5.9) (35.0%) 11.1

Corporate         
External revenue  0.2 0.0 0.2 0.0 (0.2) (91.2%) 0.0
Adjusted operating profit  (19.3) (0.2) (19.4) 0.0 2.2 11.2%  (17.3)
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Insurance services
External revenue for the Insurance services sector decreased by 
2.2% to £258.0 million (FY 2009: £263.8 million). This includes  
£5.1 million of foreign exchange benefit, primarily due to the 
movement of the Australian Dollar. On a like-for-like basis, revenues 
declined by 4.1% (£10.9 million). The decrease is driven by the 
US workers’ compensation businesses which have been adversely 
impacted by volume declines and the full year impact of customers 
lost during 2009 as well as lower bonus revenue amounts in 
Australia. Together the revenue decline on a like-for-like basis 
totalled £10.3 million. This has been partially offset by strong 
performance in the UK Insurance businesses which delivered higher 
revenues within the London insurance market from electronic claims 
processing initiatives and additional core claims processing. 

Adjusted operating profit increased by 12.8% to £33.0 million  
(FY 2009: £29.3 million), representing an adjusted operating profit 
margin of 12.8% (FY 2009: 11.1%), including a foreign exchange 
benefit of £1.3 million. On a like-for-like basis, adjusted operating 
profit increased by 8.4% (£2.4 million) despite the revenue  
decrease. This is driven by profit improvement in the UK Insurance 
businesses of £3.1 million from productivity savings and additional 
development and core processing revenues. In addition, despite 
the revenue decline in the US workers’ compensation business, 
profit was maintained partly through productivity savings from the 
Cambridge integration programme in 2009, and through releases  
of onerous contract provisions (totalling approximately £1.0 million)  
following sublease agreements and lease terminations agreed  
during 2010. Furthermore, in 2010 the US workers’ compensation 
business received sales tax and other credits totalling approximately 
£0.8 million. These were partly offset by operating profit from  
the Australian workers’ compensation businesses declining by  
£4.8 million year-on-year on a like-for-like basis, largely reflecting  
the impact of lower bonus revenues in 2010.

Financial services
External revenue for the Financial services sector increased by 15.9% 
to £194.8 million (FY 2009: £168.0 million), including unfavourable 
foreign exchange movements of £7.8 million and revenue from 
acquisitions in the year of £33.7 million. On a like-for-like basis 
Financial services revenues grew marginally by £0.9 million (0.5%). 

This increase has primarily been generated from additional  
funds administration volumes within FDB (representing growth  
of £31.1 million) including the FSB and SEB transactions completed 
during 2010 and new third-party customers added to the platform 
during 2010. A further £5.3 million of growth was attributable to 
the Enterprise Partnership with SIA-SSB during the second half of 
the year. This is partially offset by a decline in securities processing 
volumes in 2010 within XTB and lower revenues from the German 
withholding tax services (Abgeltungssteuer), delivering £6.3 million 
lower revenues on a like-for-like basis.

Adjusted operating profit declined by 25.5% to £11.3 million  
(FY 2009: £15.1 million), representing an adjusted operating profit 
margin of 5.8% (FY 2009: 9.0%). This includes an unfavourable 
foreign exchange impact of £0.8 million, and profit from acquisitions 
of £7.7 million. On a like-for-like basis, adjusted operating profit 
declined by £10.7 million (70.9%). 

The Financial services sector currently consists of businesses solely 
within the Continental Europe segmental region, but includes the 
associated offshore efforts within the Asia Pacific region. The drivers 
of Financial services sector performance during 2010 have been 
noted in the Continental Europe segmental commentary. 

Technology
External revenue for the Technology business increased by 24.7% to 
£116.2 million (FY 2009: £93.2 million), including foreign exchange 
benefit of £1.0 million and revenues from the Data Integration 
acquisition of £9.0 million. On a like-for-like basis, revenues 
increased by £13.0 million (13.9%). This movement reflects strong 
growth within the UK Technology business of £16.2 million, driven 
primarily by additional revenues from services provided to the 
London Metal Exchange. This growth is partly offset by a decline  
in IT outsourcing revenues within the US and Asia Pacific markets  
as a result of lower customer discretionary spend on IT projects 
during 2010 as compared to 2009.

Adjusted operating profit increased by 25.1% to £17.4 million  
(FY 2009: £13.9 million), representing an adjusted operating  
profit margin of 15.0% (FY 2009: 14.9%). This includes foreign 
exchange benefit of £0.4 million and profit from Data Integration 
of £1.7 million. On a like-for-like basis, adjusted operating profit 
increased by £1.4 million (10.0%). Profit growth in the UK 
Technology business of £3.7 million was offset by the impact of  
the revenue decline in the IT outsourcing businesses and a lower 
level of high-margin licence sales in the Insurance Software business 
in 2010, together reducing profit by £2.8 million. 

Procurement and HR
External revenue for the HR and Procurement businesses decreased 
by 6.1% to £211.6 million (FY 2009: £225.2 million), with marginal 
impact from foreign exchange rates. This movement reflects decline 
in UK Procurement revenues of £10.8 million year-on-year primarily 
due to the impact of lower labour volumes from government 
spending cuts in the UK impacting our key customers, as well 
as pricing pressures on existing business. In addition, HR services 
business revenues declined by £2.9 million following terminated 
contracts in 2009 (recruitment services) and 2010 (pension services). 
Revenue decline was partially mitigated by extending our service 
relationship with BAE Systems.

Adjusted operating profit declined by 34.4% to £11.1 million  
(FY 2009: £16.9 million), representing an adjusted operating profit 
margin of 5.2% (FY 2009: 7.5%). This decline reflects the reduced 
revenues within the sector and a resulting mix of a higher proportion 
of lower margin revenues, particularly within the Procurement and 
advisory businesses. 

Net finance cost
Net finance costs (pre exceptional items, imputed interest on 
put options and imputed interest on employee loans) decreased 
from £4.1 million in 2009 to £3.9 million in 2010. Although the 
aggregate balance of drawn debt increased during 2010, we 
benefited from a year-on-year reduction in the net finance cost 
attributable to the post-employment benefits liability to £1.3 million 
(FY 2009: £1.9 million). 

The component of the finance charge relating to external debt 
facilities and finance leases within the Cambridge entities was  
£0.6 million (FY 2009: £2.3 million).
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Cash flow
Operating cash flow in 2010 was £31.0 million (FY 2009:  
£26.0 million).

Dividend payments to non-controlling interests were £8.5 million. 
Included in these payments was £2.0 million relating to a dividend 
declared by Ins-sure Holdings Limited (XIS) in 2009 but not paid until 
2010, due to the high level of capital investment within the business 
in 2009.

Equity free cash flow for the year was £14.7 million (FY 2009:  
£10.7 million), and £6.6 million of ordinary dividends were declared 
and paid in relation to 2009 (FY 2009: £5.5 million in relation  
to 2008).

Expenditure on acquisitions in the year was £16.5 million (FY 2009: 
£63.8 million), excluding acquired cash of £9.8 million. There were 
no disposals.

Cash generated from operations decreased by 1.8% to £61.8 million.

The poor trading performance and the impact of the onerous 
contracts and legacy lease liabilities has taken its toll on cash 
flow within Cambridge. Most of the cash outflow is funded by 
Xchanging as Cambridge has little access to external debt facilities. 
Cambridge is being funded by intra-group loans from Xchanging.  
In 2010 new loans to Cambridge from Xchanging totalled  
£12.7 million. The total amount Xchanging can extend by way of 
loans to Cambridge is capped at US$ 105 million and at the year 
end the balance was £56.0 million (US$ 86.6 million). 

Capital expenditure
Our net capital expenditure was £22.4 million (FY 2009:  
£32.6 million), representing 2.9% of revenue (FY 2009: 4.3%). 
In 2010 Xchanging invested in developing technology to support 
its network managed services offering, migration of fund 
administration processing platforms for the European financial 
markets and continued to develop its insurance application platform.

Operating and financial review continued

       2010  2009 
       £m  £m

Statutory operating (loss)/profit       (55.6)   23.8

    
Impairments      110.0  0.0
Depreciation and amortisation      39.9  39.0
Other non-cash items       2.6   2.0

EBITDA      97.0  64.8
Movement in payables/receivables      (12.1)  (9.2)
Movement in pensions      (0.6)  1.4
Movement in provisions       (22.4)   5.9

Cash generated from operations       61.8   62.9

Overall, our net cash position improved by £2.3 million.

       2010  2009 
       £m  £m

Opening net cash/(debt)       20.8   117.8
    
Cash generated from operations      61.8  62.9
Non-controlling interests’ dividends      (8.5)  (4.3)
Net capital expenditure       (22.4)   (32.6)

Operating cash flow      31.0  26.0

Tax      (14.2)  (13.8)
Interest       (2.1)   (1.5)

Free cash flow to equity shareholders      14.7  10.7

Ordinary dividends       (6.6)   (5.5)

Cash flow after interest, tax and dividends     8.1  5.2

Acquisitions and disposals      (16.5)  (63.8)
Net cash/(debt) acquired       9.8  (36.3)
Proceeds from issue of shares      2.1  1.9
Foreign currency movements       (1.2)   (4.0)

Cash movements in net cash/(debt)      2.3  (97.0)

Closing net cash/(debt)       23.1   20.8
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Funding, distribution policy and dividends
Funding for sustaining investment and organic growth is met initially 
from cash flow. Our equity free cash flow and available debt finance 
determine the funding available for acquisitions and distributions.

To ensure that we have sufficient cash to fund future growth,  
the Board has decided not to pay a dividend for 2010. The Board 
will keep payment of future dividends under review. 

Treasury management
All of our treasury activity takes place within a formal control 
framework, under policies approved by the Board. We monitor 
compliance with these policies and guidelines through regular 
reporting of treasury activities. 

The treasury function’s primary responsibilities are to procure  
our capital resources and manage our liquidity, foreign exchange 
and interest rate risks on a Group-wide basis.

Borrowing facilities
Our principal sources of debt finance are a £75 million multi-
currency revolving credit facility and a $58 million term loan.  
We make regular repayments against the term loan and at the  
end of 2010 the balance outstanding was $34 million (FY 2009:  
$50 million). At the year end, $45 million (FY 2009: nil) had been 
drawn under the revolving credit facility. Both facilities mature in 
October 2012. The Group also has a £10 million uncommitted 
overdraft facility. 

In addition, there are term loan and overdraft facilities provided 
to Cambridge in India. The total amount outstanding under the 
Cambridge Indian bank loan and working capital facilities at the  
year end was £5.1 million (FY 2009: £7.4 million). 

At the year end, we had £28.8 million of headroom under our 
committed debt facilities. 

We expect to be able to finance our current business plans from 
ongoing operations and our committed funding facilities.

Borrowing covenants
The Group is subject to covenants, representations and warranties 
commonly associated with corporate bank debt for its committed 
term loan and £75 million revolving credit facility.

There are three financial covenants within this facility:

•		the	ratio	of	consolidated	borrowings	to	Xchanging’s	share	 
of consolidated profit before depreciation and amortisation  
(pre exceptional items) must not exceed 2.0 times. As at  
31 December 2010, the ratio was 0.74 times

•		the	ratio	of	Xchanging’s	share	of	consolidated	profit	before	
depreciation and amortisation (pre exceptional items) to net 
consolidated finance charges must not be less than 6.0 times.  
As at 31 December 2010, the ratio was 35.4 times

•		total	net	worth	must	exceed	£175	million	plus	an	adjustment	for	
retained earnings. As at 31 December 2010, the total net worth 
covenant headroom was £44.9 million.

As indicated above, we operated within these limits throughout 
2010 and expect to do so in 2011 and 2012.

Headroom under committed and uncommitted credit facilities
       Committed Uncommitted 
       facilities facilities Total 
       £m  £m £m

Total facility    
Xchanging      96.7 10.0 106.7
Cambridge      6.1 5.0 11.1
Enterprise Partnerships      0.0 0.0 0.0

    
Cash drawings    
Xchanging      (50.8) 0.0 (50.8)
Cambridge      (1.0) (4.1) (5.1)
Enterprise Partnerships      0.0 0.0 0.0

    
Letters of credit & bank guarantees   
Xchanging      (17.1) 0.0 (17.1)
Cambridge      (5.1) 0.0 (5.1)
Enterprise Partnerships      0.0 0.0 0.0

         
Headroom    
Xchanging      28.8 10.0 38.8
Cambridge      0.0 0.9 0.9
Enterprise Partnerships      0.0 0.0 0.0

Total headroom      28.8 10.9 39.7
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Levels of borrowing and seasonality
Xchanging operates in a wide range of markets and locations and 
as a result the seasonality of our borrowing requirements is relatively 
low. Underlying cyclicality before capital expenditure is driven 
principally by the timing of our ordinary dividends, collections of 
dividends and royalties from Enterprise Partnerships and scheduled 
repayments under the term loan facilities. 

During 2010, the peak level of net debt was £7.0 million.

Cash balances
We invest surplus cash to maximise return, within liquidity and 
counterparty credit constraints that have been approved by the Board. 

The majority of our 100%-owned UK entities are included in a 
pooling arrangement, to optimise liquidity management. We review 
the efficiency of our other cash balances on a monthly basis.

Enterprise Partnerships operate on a 100% distribution policy, so 
the net equity in each partnership is maintained at a stable level. 
Additional cash payments are made to the Group on an annual 
or quarterly basis, as contractual performance or licence fees. 
Approximately £14.8 million of the cash balance in Enterprise 
Partnerships at the year end represented accrued but unpaid licence 
fees due to Xchanging and a further £11.0 million is expected to be 
repatriated to Xchanging as dividends in 2011. The remaining cash 
balance in the Enterprise Partnerships represents dividends due to 
non-controlling interests and working capital.

Foreign currency translation exposure
We do not hedge foreign currency profit and loss translation 
exposures and our reported results may therefore be affected  
by currency fluctuations.

Foreign currency transaction exposures
We are subject to foreign exchange transaction exposure in our 
Indian operations, where revenues are generated in Sterling, US 
Dollars and Euros and the cost base is primarily in Indian Rupees. The 
principal transaction exposures arising during 2010 included Sterling 
revenue of £22.3 million and US Dollar revenue of $22.7 million. 
Under our foreign exchange risk management policy, exposures 
may be hedged with forward foreign exchange contracts when the 
underlying cash flows are deemed certain. Typically, we will look to 
hedge revenue to protect operating cash flow and to support the 
planning cycle. No foreign exchange derivatives were outstanding  
at the year end but subsequently £3.6 million of Sterling revenue 
and $2.8 million of US Dollar revenue have been hedged against  
the Indian Rupee. 

Interest rate risk management
We review our interest rate exposure against acceptable risk profiles 
on a periodic basis. At the year end, all of our drawn debt was 
subject to floating rate interest.

Pensions
The Group has three funded Defined Benefit Schemes in the UK, all 
of which are closed to new members. The Group works closely with 
the Trustees of the schemes to manage risk in the schemes, and in 
2009 completed investment strategy reviews on all three, resulting 
in improved diversification of the underlying assets. All currency 
exposure in the assets is hedged. 

The cash contribution to the UK plans includes £1.4 million per year 
in respect of a recovery plan agreed with the Trustee on one UK Plan 
in 2008. Recovery plans are agreed on completion of the triennial 
actuarial valuations (which commenced in 2010) and therefore 
revised recovery plans for two UK schemes will be put in place 
during 2011 following discussions with Trustees. It is expected that 
contributions in respect of the UK defined benefit schemes during 
2011 will be £4.0 million (of which £1.6 million is expected to be 
funded from UK Enterprise Partnerships, and the remainder from 
wholly owned subsidiaries). 

Consolidated net cash/(debt)
          2010   2009 
       £m  £m

Cash     
Xchanging      8.0  20.1
Cambridge      11.7  8.5
Enterprise Partnerships      61.0  31.5

       80.7  60.1
Bank loans and overdrafts     
Xchanging      (50.8)  (31.0)
Cambridge      (5.1)  (7.0)
Enterprise Partnerships      0.0  0.0

Net cash/(debt)        24.8   22.1

Finance leases and other debt    
Xchanging      (1.1)  0.0
Cambridge      (0.6)  (1.3)
Enterprise Partnerships      0.0  0.0

Net cash/(debt) (incl finance leases)       23.1   20.8

Operating and financial review continued
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Around 70 UK employees are members of various BAE Systems 
defined benefit pension schemes; however, the contributions made 
by the Group to the BAE Systems schemes can only vary in respect 
of future service contributions and are therefore accounted for on  
a defined contribution basis. The Group has various indemnities  
in place with BAE Systems and therefore could only be exposed  
to deficits in the BAE Schemes in the event that BAE Systems  
were to become insolvent. 

In Continental Europe, the Group operates various unfunded 
defined benefit plans, the largest of which is supported by a 
Contractual Trust Arrangement (CTA). The CTA investment strategy 
adopted by the Group seeks to match asset movements to changes 
in the value of the liabilities. It is expected that contributions in 
respect of the Continental Europe defined benefit schemes during 
2011 will be £4.1 million (all of which is expected to be funded  
from Continental Europe Enterprise Partnerships). 

The Group works closely with the Trustees of all of the pension plans 
to manage the risks associated with the defined benefit pension 
provision. The factors that most affect the value of the liabilities are 
interest rate and mortality risk, and the Group’s sensitivity to these 
particular risks is shown in notes to the accounts. 

Capital structure
The Group seeks to maintain a strong credit profile to aid its ability 
to partner in business and will aim not to exceed consolidated 
borrowings of 2.0 times Xchanging’s share of consolidated profit 
before depreciation and amortisation. In order to achieve its desired 
capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends 
paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders and adjust asset 
holdings to reduce or increase debt.

As part of the normal course of business, refinancing of the  
Group’s debt facility will get underway in quarter two of 2011.  
As part of this exercise we will look at ways of optimising the 
funding structure to make full use of the Group’s cash resources  
in Enterprise Partnerships.

Regulatory capital
Xchanging operates in a number of regulatory regimes. The key 
businesses affected by regulatory requirements are XTB and FDB, 
which conduct securities processing and retail investment account 
management in Germany. They both maintain full banking licences 
and are regulated under the German Federal Financial Supervisory 
Authority (BaFin). Sufficient regulatory capital must be held in these 
entities to cover the operating and credit risks of the business. 
Regulatory capital requirement is based on market, operating and 
credit risk factors applied to asset classes. The regulatory capital 
in the business is calculated as total equity less total intangible 
assets. There is no obligation to set cash aside to meet regulatory 
capital requirements but funding may be required from the holding 
company if the required regulatory capital is less than the calculated 
regulatory capital.

During 2010, Xchanging contributed €17.5 million (£14.6 million)  
as capital to the German banking group to support regulatory 
capital adequacy requirements and to provide funding for the 
completion of the FSB acquisition.

Components of the insurance business are regulated in the United 
Kingdom by the Financial Services Authority (FSA). 

Weighted average cost of capital
The Group uses a weighted average cost of capital of 10%. 

Taxation
The Group’s underlying effective tax rate, before exceptional items, 
was 27.4% (FY 2009: 25.7%). The effective tax rate on adjusted 
operating profit is 29.8% (FY 2009: 28.0%).

The effective tax rate on Xchanging’s share of underlying operating 
profit for the year was 27.3% (FY 2009: 26.4%). The effective tax 
rate on Xchanging’s share of adjusted operating profit for the year 
was 29.4% (FY 2009: 28.6%). 

The effective tax rates for 2009 benefited from the recognition of 
tax losses in the central services entity.

Non-controlling interests
In 2010, the profit after tax attributable to non-controlling interests 
totalled £5.5 million (FY 2009: £5.6 million), despite the statutory 
loss reported. This is reflective of goodwill impairment charges not 
being allocated to non-controlling interests.

Non-controlling interest calculations for the Group’s Enterprise 
Partnerships (see page 12 for an overview of Enterprise Partnerships) 
are dependent upon the individual contractual terms. Some define 
adjustments in relation to certain items prior to calculating profit 
share based on the percentage share ownerships. These may 
include, for example, adjustments for differences between local and 
international accounting standards, adjustments for any discounts 
or fees payable between parties or adjustments for share-based 
payment charges for employees.

Major accounting judgements
Goodwill 
At 31 December 2010, the Group has goodwill balances remaining 
of £190.3 million (FY 2009: £259.6 million), following impairments 
to goodwill of £99.4 million, primarily in relation to the US and 
Australia BPO businesses acquired with Cambridge.

Goodwill carrying values are supported by future cash flow 
projections for each cash-generating unit, and therefore inherently 
involve estimations of future sales growth, operating costs and 
margin. In addition, consistent with consideration of strategic 
options, calculation of the recoverable amounts in relation to the 
US and Australia BPO goodwill impairment reviews include fair-
value less cost-to-sell assumptions with regard to underperforming 
elements of the businesses. The Directors have reviewed and 
approved the estimations supporting the carrying value of all 
goodwill remaining at 31 December 2010. 

However, it should be noted that calculation of recoverable  
amounts used to support certain goodwill balances are sensitive  
to material assumptions which may impact the future carrying  
values of goodwill. These assumptions include the timing of exits  
of underperforming businesses (potentially impacting £8.7 million  
of goodwill remaining). In addition, future contract renewals with 
longstanding key customers are a material assumption in relation  
to goodwill values, particularly in the Procurement and HR businesses. 



36 Xchanging  
Annual report and accounts 2010

Provisions
The Group holds provisions for future obligations where it is 
probable that there will be an outflow of economic benefit. 
Provisions by their nature may involve estimations of the expected 
outflows. The primary provisions held relate to onerous leases and 
contracts, restructuring, litigation and employee-related provisions.

The table above shows total provision movements in 2010.

The material provisions created during the year relate primarily to an 
onerous contract in our workers’ compensation business in Australia 
totalling £2.6 million and onerous leases (largely due to contract losses 
in the US workers’ compensation business) totalling £1.2 million.  
In addition, litigation provisions were created in the normal course  
of business totalling £0.8 million, primarily in the US. 

The material releases during the year relate to onerous lease 
provisions largely in the US where sublease agreements and lease 
terminations have been secured on previously vacant properties 
totalling £1.2 million. The remaining £2.0 million of releases consist 
of a number of specific operational and employee-related provisions 
where the potential liabilities are assessed as unlikely to crystallise. 

The utilisation of provisions during 2010 increased significantly  
on 2009, as they relate primarily to amounts paid against the lean 
processor restructuring provision created in 2009 (£12.5 million), 
settlement of litigation cases – in particular one specific US case  
in early 2010 (£4.2 million in total) – and the cash outflows against 
onerous lease liabilities mainly acquired with the Cambridge business 
(totalling £5.1 million). 

The remaining provision balances are considered sufficient to cover 
known and likely exposures and primarily consist of £12.0 million 
for onerous leases and contracts (including a £2.6 million onerous 
contract provision), £7.0 million for restructuring, £3.7 million for 
litigation and £8.4 million for employee-related and other provisions.

Capitalised costs and intangible assets
Intangible assets total £67.6 million at 31 December 2010 (FY 2009: 
£75.3 million). Intangible assets comprise development costs  
(£5.2 million), software costs (£40.5 million), customer relationships 
(£20.8 million) and assets in the course of development (£1.2 million).

Software costs include material technology assets developed  
and other software underpinning our processing operations. These 
include the Xchanging Insurance Application Platform (XIAP),  

a global insurance application platform developed during 2009 
and 2010, the Insurance Market Repository used for data storage 
within the London insurance market, and securities and fund 
administration processing platforms in our Financial Services 
businesses in Continental Europe. These are described in further 
detail in note 14 of the accounts.

Customer relationships primarily relate to business combinations, 
including FSB open architecture customers, Data Integration network 
managed services customers, funds administration customers and 
claims processing customers.

During 2010, additions to intangible assets totalled £15.2 million  
(FY 2009: £18.7 million), of which £8.9 million related to internal 
costs capitalised (FY 2009: £8.5 million). These primarily relate to  
the XIAP development during 2010 and FSB platform migration 
costs following the transition of the FSB business onto the FDB 
processing platform. 

Deferred income
At 31 December 2010, deferred income totalled £36.4 million  
(FY 2009: £43.3 million). Deferred revenue balances largely relate 
to workers’ compensation claims business (£20.6 million) primarily 
in the US where income is released in line with estimates of the 
cost to service claims over their life cycle based on actuarial tables. 
Deferred revenue of £12.1 million is held in relation to one material 
contract lost towards the end of 2010, with £2.4 million of revenue 
recognised in 2010 at a margin of 6.7%. In addition, software 
maintenance and licence fees received in advance are deferred  
and the income recognised in the period to which they relate  
(£5.6 million). Further deferred income details are provided  
in note 20 of the accounts.

During 2010, £25.8 million of revenue was recognised in the year, 
and £15.1 million deferred at the end of the year. This reflects the 
decline in the workers’ compensation business and lower revenue 
levels of revenue deferred in relation to insurance software  
product sales.

Ken Lever
Acting Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officer

1 March 2011

Provisions
       2010 2009 Movement  
       £m £m £m

Beginning of period      48.5 19.3 
Acquired in the year      4.5 25.9 (21.4)
Charged in the year:      
– Provided in the year      6.0 23.5 (17.5)
– Released in the year      (3.2) (7.9) (4.7)
– Unwinding of discount      0.2 0.7 (0.5)
Utilised in the year      (25.1) (9.7) 15.4
Exchange adjustments      0.2 (3.4) 3.6

At end of the period      31.1 48.5 (17.4)

Operating and financial review continued
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Delivering our business responsibly
Our approach to engaging with and developing our people  
is set out on page 13. The way we manage our environmental, 
community and marketplace responsibilities is set out below.

Environment
Our environment policy aims to integrate sound environmental 
practices into all of our operations, so that we have as little  
impact on the environment as possible. 

Xchanging’s most significant environmental impacts are:

•	atmospheric	emissions	as	a	result	of	our	electricity	use	

•	atmospheric	emissions	from	the	fuels	used	in	business	travel	

•	the	production	of	waste	going	to	landfill	

•	the	environmental	impact	of	our	suppliers.

Our carbon footprint
We have published our carbon footprint each year since 2008.  
In 2010, our footprint increased by 96% to 29,521 tonnes of CO2e, 
due to greater volumes of business travel and the inclusion of new 
locations, following the acquisition of Cambridge Solutions.

Global Carbon Footprint (tonnes of CO2e)
  2008 2009 2010

Scope 1 1,384 931 2,185
Scope 2 10,834 10,925 22,711
Scope 3 1,936 3,218 4,626
Total 14,155 15,075 29,521
Employees 4,541 3,9091 8,548

12009 Carbon Footprint excludes the employees we gained as a result of the 
acquisition of Cambridge Solutions.

Calculated using the Greenhouse Gas Protocol Corporate Accounting and Reporting 
Standard. Includes actual and estimated data for all offices operated by Xchanging. 
Excludes sites where employees are working on customer sites. Based on Scope one, 
two and three.

Scope 1 – Direct emissions resulting from activities within the 
organisation’s control. Includes on-site fuel combustion, refrigerant 
losses and company vehicles. 

Scope 2 – Indirect emissions from electricity purchased and used  
by the organisation. 

Corporate Social Responsibility

Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) is 
fundamental to the way we plan and run our 
business, and is closely aligned with our values. 
We divide CSR into four categories: people, 
environment, communities and marketplace.

Scope 3 – Indirect emissions other, including employee business 
travel, outsourced transportation, waste disposal, water usage  
and employee commuting. 

Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP)
For the first time, Xchanging features in CDP’s Carbon Disclosure 
Leadership Index. This index is a key component of CDP’s annual 
FTSE 350 Report and highlights the companies which have displayed 
the most professional approach to corporate governance, in respect 
of climate change disclosure practices.

Xchanging Global Environment Week
This was the second year that Xchanging took part in a Global 
Environment Week, which coincided with the UN World 
Environment Day. It was an opportunity for the CSR teams across 
the Group to share our environmental successes and future plans.

Communities
We support the communities in which we operate, with an 
approach aligned to our values of being farsighted in relationships 
and releasing the entrepreneurial spirit of our people.

This means that we look to create long-term sustainable 
relationships with our communities, and focus on projects linked 
to youth and education. For example, our partnership with Vinoba 
Vidyalaya, a school in Shimoga, India, has a direct and positive 
impact on the Shimoga community.

Each of our sites supports local charities, as well as national partners, 
focused on youth and education. In the UK our relationship with 
our educational charity partner, Career Academies UK, continues 
to develop. This organisation works with schools and colleges to 
introduce students studying business, IT or finance-related A-levels 
or equivalents to the world of work. We provide Partners in 
Business, internships and ‘guru lectures’ across many of our sites. 

Our volunteering programme entitles employees to up to one day 
of paid leave per financial year, to take part in volunteering activities 
organised by the CSR Team. These activities are based around our 
commitment to youth and education, the local community and the 
environment. We believe that all of our employees have the skills 
and experience to make a real difference and that this is also an 
excellent opportunity for personal development.
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Marketplace
We aim to achieve long-term sustainable relationships with all 
of our customers and suppliers. Our values and Ethical Code of 
Business Conduct support what we expect of our people and their 
interactions with our customers and suppliers. We aim to be honest, 
transparent and ethical in all our interactions.

Customers
We deliver our services to customers in 43 countries. Understanding 
our customers is critical to provide excellent service. Our aim is to 
transform our customers’ services, adding value to their operations 
and meeting the needs of their customers. Our Service professionals 
manage our relationships with our customers and we invest a 
considerable amount of time obtaining feedback on our service 
delivery. We track this feedback in a consistent and measured way. 

Many of our customers have sustainability agendas. They are keen to 
reduce their environmental impact and to ensure that their business 
operates in a sustainable and ethical manner. Xchanging has a part 
to play here. For example, cloud computing will increasingly provide 
opportunities to reduce wasted capacity and lower the energy 
consumed by powering and cooling each server.

Suppliers
We are committed to working with suppliers who respect our  
ethical and environmental standards. As a result, we rolled out  
an ethical supply programme in our UK and German operations.  
We invited our suppliers to complete an online survey and sign up  
to our supply policy. The programme is based on ethical principles, 
such as environmental protection, anti-corruption standards, and 
labour and human rights. 

Managing our responsibilities
Our CSR Committee is responsible for setting the strategy for 
our CSR programme and overseeing its performance. Further 
information on the CSR committee can be found on page 50.

In addition, each region has a CSR co-ordinator and each major 
location has a CSR champion. They are responsible for implementing 
our CSR programme and together they form our Group-wide  
CSR network.

FTSE4Good 
We are pleased that Xchanging remains part of the FTSE4Good 
Index Series for the third consecutive year. FTSE4Good has been 
designed to measure the performance of companies that meet 
globally recognised corporate responsibility standards. 

Social, ethical and environmental (SEE) risks
SEE risks are not priority risks for Xchanging but we consider them 
important in providing us with a balanced risk portfolio. The CSR 
Committee reviews our SEE risk register, to ensure we have the right 
plans in place to mitigate these risks.

Performance reporting
We monitor our CSR performance through our quality performance 
reports. The Xchanging Performance Committee reviews these 
reports regularly.

Corporate Social Responsibility continued
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Xchanging maintains risk registers covering each 
significant operation, region and the Group. 
We review our whole risk hierarchy twice a year, 
which helps to ensure we have a consistent 
approach and focus on the right risks. The Board 
approves the Group risk register annually.

We analyse the nature and extent of risks and consider their 
likelihood and impact, both on an inherent and a residual basis,  
after taking into account mitigating controls. This allows us to 
determine how we should manage each risk in order to achieve  
our strategic objectives. 

A year of significant change has heightened certain key risks  
and uncertainties. During 2010 we experienced market conditions 
where it became extremely difficult to grow revenues and customers 
put us under increasing margin pressure. In addition the business 
performance issues within Kedrios and parts of our Cambridge 
acquisitions have required us to take decisive action in order to 
restore the value of the Group and to reduce the cash outflows 
being experienced.

The immediate challenges faced by the Group will be addressed  
by a Board-approved four-part plan, in particular: 

•		performing	a	strategic	and	intrinsic	value	review	and	addressing	
our underperforming businesses

•		generating	operational	improvements	by	reducing	our	
infrastructure and central costs to match the size and scale  
of the business

•		re-focusing	our	market	strategy	to	grow	revenue

•		improving	our	cash	flow	and	ensuring	our	funding	arrangements	
are adequate and efficient. 

The plan can only be achieved whilst having the continued 
confidence of our shareholders, customers and our people, and  
we are completely focused on delivering the steps necessary  
to achieve this.

How we manage risk
We divide our risks into strategic, commercial, operational and 
financial categories: 

•		Strategic	risks	reflect	the	potential	for	a	significant	strategic	action	
to have a financial impact on the economic value of our business.

•		Commercial	risks	and	contracting	risks	reflect	the	potential	to	enter	
into a critical contract or commercial arrangement which may have 
an adverse impact on the economic value of our business.

•		Operational	risks	reflect	the	potential	for	the	failure	of	a	critical	
process or procedure to have an adverse impact on the economic 
value of our business. 

•		Financial	risks	include	risks	such	as	interest,	foreign	exchange,	
tax, pension valuations and liquidity. Failure to manage these risks 
could negatively impact the economic value of our business. 
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Principal risks and uncertainties continued

Strategic risks 
Key risk 

Successful and timely execution of the  
four-part plan is fundamental to achieving 
our long-term profitability and cash 
generation goals.

We must be able to anticipate and manage 
changes in the economic environment, 
including an inflating cost base in India. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Commercial risks 
Key risk 

We may be exposed to complex and 
technical contractual terms with key 
customers. Breaching contracts could  
lead to customer relationship issues  
and potential financial penalties. 

In certain cases, partners have rights to 
‘put’ their shares to us, creating a cash 
requirement, or to ‘call’ our shares for  
little consideration.  
 

Operational risks 
Key risk 

Our reputation and ultimately our 
profitability are reliant on:

•		successfully	implementing	large-scale	
partnerships and outsourcing contracts

•		integrating	new	businesses	and	divesting	
unprofitable businesses

•		identifying	and	acquiring	the	right	
businesses to drive profitable and  
cash-generative growth and ultimately 
economic value. 

Commentary and mitigating plan

The four-part plan is fully explained in the CEO’s statement. 

•		Execution	risk	will	be	addressed	through	strong	central	oversight. 

Although there are some signs that the economic recession is 
easing, these risks are likely to remain for the foreseeable future, 
affecting our ability to secure new revenue opportunities and 
manage margin.

•		Clearly	defined	service	offerings	and	sales	strategies	help	 
us to attract customers.

•		Offshoring	enables	us	to	conduct	our	processing	activities	 
where they are most cost effective.

•		We	are	establishing	quarterly	18-month	rolling	forecasts	 
to help us respond to changing financial conditions.

Commentary and mitigating plan

Our commercial risks continue to be well managed through legal 
review, delegated authorities and contract monitoring processes.

•		Clearly	defined	partnership	governance	structures	help	to	identify	
and resolve potential issues. 

•		The	embedded	delegated	authorities	process	requires	senior	
management involvement for complex transactions. 

•		Detailed	registers	enable	close	monitoring	of	all	key	contractual	
obligations with partners. 

•		Structured	service	management	identifies	issues	early	and	triggers	
corrective actions. 

 
Commentary and mitigating plan

We have successfully completed the realignment of new operations 
in 2010, such as the new investment accounts in Germany. 

Following the issues faced by the Group due to the acquisitions  
of Cambridge and Kedrios, the Group is developing new investment 
criteria. No further acquisitions will be completed until these criteria 
have been approved by the Board.

•	We	apply	standard	procedures	for	implementing	new	partnerships.

•	Rigid	approval	processes	require	defined	standard	deliverables.	

•		Experienced	employees	with	strong	project,	change	and	people	
management skills ensure continuity of service and retention  
of employees.

Further information 

CEO’s statement, 
Action Plan for 2011  
– see page 20 

CEO’s statement, 
Action Plan for 2011  
– see page 20 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Further information 

Enterprise 
Partnerships  
– see page 12 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Further information 

CEO’s statement, 
Action Plan for 2011  
– see page 20 
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Operational risks continued
Key risk 

Our customers and partners demand 
efficient processing and high levels  
of service to help them achieve their 
objectives and protect our reputation.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Continuing to retain our key personnel  
and recruit new talented individuals is  
key to our success. 

This includes ensuring we have robust 
succession plans in place at Board level. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Our service delivery and reputation  
are highly reliant on business continuity  
and information security. 

Business disruption, IT system issues or 
security issues could result in loss of service, 
loss or compromise of customer and 
internal data, breach of legal and regulatory 
obligations and damage to our reputation.  

Financial risks 
Key risk 

The Group’s financial results may be  
subject to volatility arising from movements 
in interest, foreign exchange, taxation  
rates, pension asset and liability valuations 
and liquidity. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Commentary and mitigating plan

Service levels continue to improve, as measured by our customers.

•		We	measure	and	monitor	performance	across	all	functions	and	
focus on being responsive to customer needs, which is one of  
our core values.

•		We	have	a	clearly	defined	operating	strategy	and	target	model.

•		Our	production	function	focuses	on	improving	efficiency	through	
standardisation, nearshoring and offshoring. 

•		Our	quality	function	focuses	on	improving	processes,	controls	 
and performance. 

The change in CFO and other senior key positions in 2010 were  
well managed. The number of changes, in conjunction with the 
sudden departure of our CEO, did impact our succession plans  
for the CEO role.

•		We	are	recruiting	for	a	new	CEO	and	will	refresh	our	CEO	
succession plan.

•	Retention	plans	are	in	place	for	key	employees.	

•		We	have	an	established	structure	for	employee	performance	 
and development monitoring. 

•		A	clear	recruitment	strategy	and	graduate	programme	attract	 
high-potential employees.

•		Leadership	training	schemes	underpin	our	succession	plans.	

We continue to work with customers to understand their 
requirements, in addition to continuously improving and achieving 
relevant quality certifications to support our internal requirements.

•	We	have	clearly	defined	information	security	policies	and	protocols.	

•		We	focus	on	continued	development	of	business	continuity	and	
disaster recovery planning, and testing. 

•		The	Group	Information	Steering	Committee	leads	teams	within	
each region. 

Commentary and mitigating plan

Our budgeting, forecasting and working capital controls are being 
strengthened through implementing a quarterly 18-month rolling 
forecast process. 

With these enhancements our financial risks are well managed, 
reducing the volatility of our financial results, giving the Board 
greater medium-term visibility and ensuring we have required credit 
facilities in place.

•	Our	Group	treasury	and	pension	operations	are	controlled	centrally.	

•		The	Treasury	Risk	Committee	monitors	our	financial	KPIs	and	
bank covenants, in accordance with clearly defined policies and 
procedures authorised by the Board. 

•		Regular	discussion	with	the	pension	trustees,	additional	
contributions to the schemes and prudent assumptions for 
actuarial valuations control our pension-related risks.

 
Further information 

How we deliver  
– see page 8 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Chairman’s 
statement  
– see page 16 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Our people  
– see page 13 

 
 
 

 
Further information 

OFR – see page 24 
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Board of Directors

The composition of our Board complied with the Combined Code 
throughout 2010. The Board currently comprises an Executive 
Chairman, one Executive Director and five further Non-Executive 
Directors.

Ken Lever was appointed to the Board as Chief Financial Officer on 
5 October 2010, replacing Richard Houghton. On 9 February 2011, 
he also became acting Chief Executive Officer after David Andrews 
stepped down from the Board.

Nigel Rich
Executive Chairman
Age: 65 

Nigel is an experienced company chairman, providing broad 
international business and leadership experience. He joined the 
Board as Non-Executive Deputy Chairman in November 2006 and 
was appointed Chairman in 2008. He also chairs the Nominations 
Committee. 

Nigel is Chairman of Segro plc and a Non-Executive Director of 
Pacific Assets Trust plc, Matheson & Co Ltd, Castle Asia Alternative 
PCC Ltd and Bank of the Philippine Islands (Europe) plc. 

His previous roles include Chairman of Exel plc, CP Ships and 
Hamptons Group Ltd, Managing Director of Jardine Matheson 
Holdings Ltd and Chief Executive of Trafalgar House plc. He has 
worked in South Africa, the UK and the USA and spent more than 
20 years in the Far East. He is a chartered accountant and was 
awarded a CBE in 1995.

Ken Lever
Acting Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officer
Age: 57

Ken is an experienced Chief Financial Officer, with a wealth of public 
company knowledge and financial experience from a number of 
established UK and international listed businesses.

He was previously a partner in Arthur Andersen, Finance Director 
and then Managing Director of Corton Beach plc, Finance Director 
of Alfred McAlpine plc, Albright & Wilson plc and Tomkins plc, and 
Chief Financial Officer of Numonyx BV. He was also a Non-Executive 
Director of Vega Group plc, Meerwood Group plc, iSoft plc and 
Wolsey Securities Group.

Ken is a chartered accountant and a member of the UK Accounting 
Standards Board. He has served as the Vice Chairman of the 
Financial Reporting Committee of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants in England and Wales (1998 to 2006) and Chairman of 
the Financial Reporting Committee of the UK 100 Group of Finance 
Directors (2004 to 2008).

Dennis Millard
Senior Non-Executive Director
Age: 62

Dennis provides current and relevant experience on financial issues 
and broad international business experience. He joined the Board in 
2005 as a Non-Executive Director and is the Chairman of the Audit 
Committee. 

Dennis is Chairman of Halfords Group plc and Smiths News plc,  
and a Non-Executive Director and Chairman of the Audit Committee 
of Debenhams plc. He is also Senior Independent Non-Executive 

Director and Chairman of the Audit Committee of Premier Farnell 
plc. He was previously Finance Director of Cookson Group plc. 
He holds an MBA from the Graduate School of Business of Cape 
Town University and is a member of the South African Institute of 
Chartered Accountants. 

Stephen Brenninkmeijer
Non-Executive Director
Age: 54

Stephen provides broad international business experience, particularly 
of the Far East, having worked for C&A in the UK, Continental Europe 
and Japan. He joined the Board in 2000 as a Non-Executive Director 
and chairs the Corporate Social Responsibility Committee. 

Stephen is a Board member of responsAbility Social Investment AG 
and a Director of OptiNose Ltd and Porticus UK.

Johannes Maret
Non-Executive Director
Age: 60

Johannes provides essential insight and advice on the German 
financial services industry. He joined the Board in 2003 as a Non-
Executive Director. 

Johannes is Managing Director of Maret GmbH and Advisory Board 
Chairman of Bex Beteiligungs GmbH and Gebr Rhodius GmbH & 
Co KG. He is a Non-Executive Director of both MLP AG and the 
investment committee of Triton Managers Ltd, and Managing 
Partner of Weingut Reverchon KG. He was formerly a partner in, 
and Chief Financial Officer of, Sal. Oppenheim jr, where he was 
responsible for banking and administration, and a member of the 
supervisory board of European Transaction Bank. 

Pat O’Driscoll
Non-Executive Director
Age: 51

Pat has large multinational company management experience, 
providing valuable insight into developing and implementing 
Xchanging’s international strategy. She joined the Board in 
November 2008 as a Non-Executive Director and chairs the 
Remuneration Committee. 

Pat is a Director of Maltby Capital Limited and an Operational 
Managing Director with Terra Firma Capital Partners Ltd. She 
was Chief Executive Officer of Northern Foods plc and ran Shell’s 
European retail business. She is also a Trustee of the Cherie Blair 
Foundation for Women and mentors young women in business.

Michel Paulin
Non-Executive Director
Age: 50

Michel is an experienced French business leader, providing 
knowledge and guidance to assist Xchanging’s growth, particularly 
in Continental Europe. He joined the Board in January 2010 as a 
Non-Executive Director.

Michel is Chief Operating Officer at the Louis Dreyfus Group’s major 
commodity trading business. He is also a Non-Executive Director of 
Myriad Group AG, and was Deputy Chief Executive Officer of Neuf 
Telecom/Cegetel.
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The Directors present their report and the audited financial 
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2010.

Principal activities and business review
The Group’s principal activities are the provision of a range of 
industry-specific processing services to the banking and insurance 
industries as well as technology, human resources and procurement 
services across industries. The Company acts as the holding 
company for the Group.

The Companies Act 2006 requires Xchanging to present a fair 
review of the Group’s business and a description of the principal  
risks and uncertainties facing the Group. The information which 
fulfils these requirements is provided in the sections of the Annual 
Report entitled Chairman’s statement, Chief Executive Officer’s 
statement, key contracts and business development in 2010 and 
operating and financial review, on pages 16 to 36, providing 
detailed information on the Group and its strategy, the operation 
of the businesses, and the results and financial position for the 
year ended 31 December 2010. These report on the principal risks 
and uncertainties facing the Group, trends and economic factors 
impacting the business and likely future developments. 

Results and dividends
The loss for the year attributable to equity shareholders was 
£78,817,000 (restated FY 2009: profit for the year attributable to 
equity shareholders: £6,367,000). The Board resolved in February 
2011 that no dividend would be recommended in respect of the 
year ended 31 December 2010, as announced on 9 February 2011. 

Research and development
The Group incurs development costs in the design of processes  
and systems that substantially improve those already installed in  
the Enterprise Partnerships and used in other parts of the Group, 
which include business process mapping, process re-organisation 
and software development. 

The amount capitalised in the year in respect of development 
expenditure was £7,964,000 (FY 2009: £7,765,000).

Branches
The Group has a branch of its procurement business which operates 
in Spain.

Charitable donations
Donations to various international, national and local charities 
amounted to £50,971 during the year (FY 2009: £36,060).  
No donations were made to political parties.

Directors and their interests 
Details of changes to the Board during the year, and up to the date 
of this report, are set out on pages 46 to 48.

The Directors’ interests in the shares and share options of the 
Company are shown on pages 58 to 60.

Significant agreements
The key customer and supplier contracts and other arrangements 
essential to the Group are described throughout the business review. 
Xchanging does not consider itself to be dependent on a single  
key supplier.

Significant agreements – change of control
Upon a change of control (as variously defined in the respective 
agreements outlined below) of Xchanging plc, a number of 
significant agreements take effect, alter or terminate as follows:

Customer service agreements
Under the terms of the agreement for the provision of human 
resources services by Xchanging HR Services Limited to BAE Systems 
plc, entered into on 19 April 2001 (as amended on 16 January 2007 
and 8 December 2010), BAE Systems plc may elect to continue to 
receive such services, or alternatively terminate the contract.

Enterprise Partnerships 
Under the terms of certain Enterprise Partnership shareholders’ 
agreements, the Enterprise Partner may elect to exercise options 
over the shares in the Enterprise Partnership, for a share value as 
variously defined in the respective agreements. The agreements  
are as follows:

•		Deutsche	Bank	AG	(DB)	may	elect	to	call	Xchanging’s	shares	in	
XTB under the terms of the shareholders’ agreement, entered into 
between DB and Xchanging Holdco No. 3 Ltd on 26 May 2004

•		Aon	Limited	(Aon)	may	elect	to	put	its	shares	in	XBS	to	Xchanging,	
or call Xchanging’s shares in XBS under the terms of the 
shareholders’ agreement, entered into between Aon and Xpanse 
Limited on 9 August 2006

•		Allianz	Global	Investors	Kapitalanlagegesellschaft	mbH	(AGI)	may	
elect to call Xchanging’s shares in Fondsdepot Bank GmbH under 
the terms of the shareholders’ agreement, entered into between 
AGI	and	XTB	on	21	August	2007.

Revolving credit facility and term loan
Under the terms of the £75 million revolving credit facility  
and $58 million term loan provided by a syndicate of banks to 
Xchanging plc, the lenders may elect to continue to provide such 
facility, or alternatively cancel it and require all monies borrowed 
under such facility to be repaid.

Directors and employees
There are no agreements between the Company and its Directors 
or employees providing for compensation for loss of office or 
employment that occurs because of a takeover bid or change  
of	control,	other	than	in	respect	of	Ken	Lever,	the	CFO.	For	more	
information please see page 55.

Directors’ indemnities
The Company’s Articles of Association contain a qualifying third-
party indemnity provision (as per the Companies Act 2006) that 
provides, for the financial year ended on 31 December 2010 and 
as at the date of this document, that the Company may pay for 
Directors’ indemnities out of its own assets. The Company has 
procured directors’ and officers’ insurance for this purpose.

Directors’ report
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Directors’ Report continued

Share capital
At the date of this report, 239,509,739 ordinary shares of 5 pence 
each have been issued, are fully paid up and are admitted to trading 
on the London Stock Exchange. 

The rights and obligations attaching to the Company’s ordinary 
shares, as well as the powers of the Company’s Directors, are set  
out in the Company’s Articles of Association, copies of which  
can be obtained from Companies House or by writing to the 
Company Secretary.

There are no general restrictions on the voting rights attaching  
to the Company’s ordinary shares (and the times by which proxies 
must be lodged are specified in the Articles of Association) or on 
the transfer of ordinary shares. No person holds ordinary shares in 
the Company carrying special rights with regard to control of the 
Company. The Company is not aware of any agreement between 
holders of ordinary shares that may result in restrictions on voting 
rights or on the transfer of ordinary shares. Unless expressly specified 
to the contrary in the Articles of Association of the Company, the 
Company’s Articles of Association may be amended by special 
resolution of the Company’s shareholders.

The Articles of Association contain provisions governing the 
appointment, retirement and removal of Directors. 

The Articles of Association grant the Company power to purchase 
its own shares subject to specific authority being granted by 
the shareholders. An authority to purchase ordinary shares was 
granted at the Annual General Meeting (AGM) held on 27 April 
2010. A resolution to renew this authority will be proposed at the 
AGM in 2011, details of which are given in the Notice of AGM 
2011. The current authority is described in the explanatory notes 
which accompanied the Notice of AGM 2010. The details of the 
replacement authorities to be proposed at the AGM in 2011 are 
given in the Notice of AGM 2011.

Substantial shareholders 
On 16 February 2011, the Company had been notified of the 
following material or notifiable interests in its issued share capital  
by persons other than the Directors of the Company:

   Number of shares Percentage

FIL	Limited/FMR	LLC	 	 34,099,285	 14.23

General Atlantic LLC   22,404,241 9.35

UBS AG  15,463,705 6.46

Breeden Capital Management LLC  12,319,790 5.14

Morgan Stanley Securities Limited  11,345,430 4.74

T.	Rowe	Price	International	Inc	 	 9,289,306	 3.88

Legal	&	General	Investment	 
Management Limited   9,183,140 3.83

Standard	Life	Investments	Limited	 	 7,959,472	 3.32

Scandent Holdings Mauritius Limited  7,845,172 3.28

Non-controlling interests
The non-controlling interests in the Group’s subsidiaries  
at 31 December 2010 are set out as follows:

	 	 Interest	in	Xchanging	Group 
Non-controlling interest Enterprise Partnership

The	Corporation	of	Lloyd’s	 25%	interest	in	Ins-sure	 
  Holdings Limited

  50% interest in Xchanging  
  Claims Services Limited

International	Underwriting		 25%	interest	in	Ins-sure 
Association Holdings Limited

Aon Limited 50% interest in Xchanging  
  Broking Services Limited

Deutsche Bank AG 44% interest in Xchanging  
  etb GmbH

Sal.	Oppenheim	jr.	&	Cie.	KgaA	 5%	interest	in	Xchanging	 
  etb GmbH

Allianz	Global	Investors		 49%	interest	in	Fondsdepot 
Kapitalanlagegesellschaft	mbH	 Bank	GmbH

SIA-SSB	S.P.A	 49%	interest	in	Kedrios	S.p.A

 

	 	 Interest	in	other	Xchanging 
Non-controlling interest Group companies

Scandent Holdings  24.4% interest in Cambridge 
Mauritius Ltd (11.8%) Solutions Limited

Katra	Finance	Limited	(2.7%)

Aon Minet Pension Scheme (3.8%)

Other (public) (6.1%) 

The profits of the Xchanging Group Enterprise Partnerships in 
which the minorities have an interest are not necessarily shared  
in proportion to the shareholding interest in that company, as 
each Enterprise Partnership has a distinct contractual method  
of profit share.

Equal opportunities
The Group is committed to employment policies which follow best 
practice based on equal opportunities for all employees, irrespective 
of gender, race, nationality, colour, disability, marital status, sexual 
orientation, age or religion. All decisions relating to employment 
practices are objective, free from bias and based upon work criteria 
and individual merit. The Group’s policy is to offer appropriate 
training and career development to disabled persons that are, as 
far as possible, identical to other employees and in line with best 
practice.	In	the	event	of	a	member	of	staff	becoming	disabled,	
the Group makes every effort to continue employment, arrange 
appropriate retraining and offer opportunities for promotion.

Policy on payment of creditors
The Company aims to pay suppliers in accordance with the 
suppliers’ contract terms. The Company had an average of 41 days 
purchases outstanding (FY 2009: 36 days) in trade payables in 2010.
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Policy on financial instruments
The policy with respect to financial instruments is covered in the 
accounting policy xvii at note 2 on page 74.

Independent auditors
A resolution will be proposed at the 2011 AGM to reappoint our 
current auditors, PwC, for 2011 and also to allow the Board to set 
their remuneration. The Board is satisfied that the external auditors 
remain independent and PwC have indicated their willingness to 
continue in office.

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities in respect of the 
financial statements and auditors
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report,  
the remuneration report and the financial statements in accordance 
with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements 
for each financial year. Under that law, the Directors have prepared 
the	Group	financial	statements	in	accordance	with	International	
Financial	Reporting	Standards	(IFRSs)	as	adopted	by	the	European	
Union, and the parent company financial statements in accordance 
with	United	Kingdom	Generally	Accepted	Accounting	Practice	
(United	Kingdom	Accounting	Standards	and	applicable	law).	
Under company law, the Directors must not approve the financial 
statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair 
view of the state of affairs of the Group and the Company and of 
the	profit	or	loss	of	the	Group	for	that	period.	In	preparing	these	
financial statements, the Directors are required to:

•		select	suitable	accounting	policies	and	then	apply	them	consistently

•		make	judgements	and	accounting	estimates	that	are	reasonable	
and prudent

•		state	whether	applicable	IFRS,	as	adopted	by	the	European	Union	
(EU),	and	applicable	UK	Accounting	Standards	have	been	followed,	
subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the 
Group and parent company financial statements respectively

•		prepare	the	financial	statements	on	the	going	concern	basis	 
unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will 
continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting 
records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company’s 
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the 
financial position of the Company and the Group and enable them 
to ensure that the financial statements and the remuneration report 
comply with the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the Group 
financial	statements,	Article	4	of	the	IAS	Regulation.	They	are	also	
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and the 
Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention  
and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Directors’ statement pursuant to the Disclosure and 
Transparency Rules
Each of the Directors, whose names and functions are listed in the 
Board of Directors, on page 42, confirm that, to the best of each 
person’s knowledge and belief:

•		the	Group	financial	statements,	which	have	been	prepared	in	
accordance	with	IFRS	as	adopted	by	the	EU,	give	a	true	and	fair	
view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit (loss)  
of the Group and the Company

•		the	business	review	and	Directors’	report	contained	in	the	Annual	
Report include a fair review of the development and performance 
of the business and the position of the Company and the Group, 
together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties 
that they face (see pages 2 to 41).

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity  
of	the	Group’s	website,	www.xchanging.com.	Legislation	in	the	UK	
governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements 
may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions. 

Statement of disclosure of information to auditors
In	the	case	of	each	of	the	persons	who	are	Directors	of	the	
Company at the date when the report was approved:

•		so	far	as	each	of	the	Directors	is	aware,	there	is	no	relevant	audit	
information of which the Company’s auditors are unaware

•		each	of	the	Directors	has	taken	all	the	steps	he/she	ought	to	have	
taken	individually	as	a	Director	in	order	to	make	himself/herself	
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the 
Company’s auditors are aware of that information.

Going concern
The Directors have reviewed the liquidity position of the Group for 
the period ending 30 June 2012. The cash flows of the Group have 
been assessed against the Group’s available sources of finance on a 
monthly basis to determine the minimum and maximum expected 
levels of headroom. Based on this analysis and an assessment of 
the potential cash risks, the Directors have a reasonable expectation 
that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational 
existence for the foreseeable future.

The Group therefore continues to adopt the going concern basis  
in preparing its consolidated financial statements.

Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held  
at 34 Leadenhall Street, London, EC3A 1AX at 10.00am on 
Wednesday 18 May 2011. The notice convening the meeting, 
together with details of the business to be considered and 
explanatory notes for each resolution, is distributed separately  
to	shareholders.	It	is	also	available	on	the	Group’s	website.

By order of the Board

Gary Whitaker
Company Secretary

1 March 2011
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For the 2010 financial year, Xchanging has operated under and 
reports	under	the	Combined	Code.	In	2011	Xchanging	will	operate	
under	the	UK	Corporate	Governance	Code	and	report	under	the	
same	for	its	2012	Annual	Report.	In	order	to	ensure	a	seamless	
transition between reporting frameworks, Xchanging has spent time 
during	2010	to	understand	the	impact	of	the	new	UK	Corporate	
Governance Code, with the aim of achieving compliance as soon  
as is practicable in 2011. 

The	principal	corporate	governance	rules	applying	to	UK	companies	
with a premium listing on the London Stock Exchange are set out 
in the Combined Code. The Combined Code is published by the 
Financial Reporting Council and is available from its website  
(www.frc.org.uk). 

As required by the Combined Code, this Corporate governance 
section sets out how Xchanging has complied with the principles  
of the Combined Code during the financial year ended on  
31 December 2010. 

The Board considers that this statement provides the information 
necessary to enable shareholders to evaluate how Xchanging has 
applied the principles of the Combined Code, and to support the 
declaration that Xchanging was in compliance with the provisions  
of the Combined Code throughout the year ending on  
31 December 2010. 

The Board 
The Board comprises of Directors with the appropriate balance  
of skills, experience, independence and knowledge of the Group.

Responsibilities
The Board is collectively responsible to shareholders for creating 
and sustaining shareholder value through the management of 
the Group’s businesses, and the long-term success of the Group. 
It	sets	the	Group’s	strategic	plan	and	budgets,	monitors	their	
implementation and, with the assistance of the Audit Committee, 
ensures that executive management maintain a system of internal 
operational, financial and regulatory controls that identify and 
manage appropriately the risks set out on pages 40 to 41. 

The Board has a formal schedule of matters reserved for its decision, 
including: 

•	the	approval	of	half-year	and	full-year	financial	statements	

•	significant	changes	in	accounting	policy	and	practice	

•		the	appointment	or	removal	of	Directors	or	the	Company	Secretary	

•	changes	to	the	Group’s	capital	structure	

•		any	significant	investments,	contracts,	acquisitions,	mergers	 
and disposals. 

These Reserved Matters were last reviewed by the Board on  
8 December 2010. Other specific responsibilities are delegated to 
the Board Committees, which operate within clearly defined terms 
of reference. 

Full details of the schedule of Reserved Matters for the Board and 
the responsibilities delegated to the Board Committees can be found 
on the Group’s website www.xchanging.com. 

Corporate governance

Board composition and structure
   Date of appointment Number Board 
   as a director of Meetings Attended 
Director Status Xchanging plc1  in 2010 (of 8)

Nigel Rich  Chairman 2 April 2007 8

David Andrews2 CEO, Executive Director 2 April 2007 8

Ken	Lever3 CFO, Executive Director 5 October 2010 25 

Richard Houghton4 CFO, Executive Director  2 April 2007 75

Dennis Millard  Non-Executive Director 2 April 2007 8

Stephen Brenninkmeijer Non-Executive Director 2 April 2007 6

Johannes Maret Non-Executive Director 2 April 2007 7

Pat O’Driscoll  Non-Executive Director 3 November 2008 7

Michel Paulin Non-Executive Director 1 January 2010 7

1Nigel Rich, David Andrews, Richard Houghton, Dennis Millard, Stephen Brenninkmeijer and Johannes Maret were previously directors of Xchanging BV, the Xchanging Group 
holding	company	prior	to	IPO	in	2007.

2Resigned on 9 February 2011.

3Appointed on 5 October 2010.

4Resigned on 5 October 2010.

5Both	Richard	Houghton	and	Ken	Lever	attended	the	October	Board	meeting.
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During the year ending on 31 December 2010, the roles of the 
Chairman and the CEO were clearly segregated and the division  
of responsibilities between the two roles was set out in writing  
and approved by the Board. 

The Chairman is responsible for leadership of the Board, and 
ensuring its effectiveness. The agenda is set by collaboration 
between the Chairman, the CEO and the Company Secretary.  
The	Chairman	and	the	Senior	Independent	Non-Executive	 
Director are available to shareholders, should they have concerns  
which contact through the usual channels has failed to resolve 
or is otherwise inappropriate. For further information about 
communication between the Board and shareholders, please refer  
to Communication with shareholders on page 52.

The CEO is responsible for running Xchanging’s business,  
and providing strategic leadership to the Xchanging Group,  
in consultation with the Board. On 9 February 2011, the CEO,  
David Andrews resigned from the Board. Whilst a successor is 
sought,	Ken	Lever	is	undertaking	these	duties	as	the	CFO	and	 
acting CEO, and Nigel Rich is providing support to him as  
Executive Chairman. 

The Board reviewed the independence of all Non-Executive Directors 
at its meeting in December 2010, and determined that they all 
remain independent for the financial year commencing on 1 January 
2011, other than Johannes Maret and Stephen Brenninkmeijer. 

Johannes Maret has acted as a consultant to Xchanging GmbH,  
an Xchanging Group company, since June 2003, and therefore is 
not independent under the Combined Code. Nonetheless, the Board 
believe that Johannes Maret continues to contribute effectively to 
it, providing essential insight and advice on the German financial 
services	industry.	In	consideration	of	his	tenure,	the	Board	has	
resolved that Johannes Maret’s role on the Board be renewed  
on an annual basis, to allow ongoing review of his position.

Stephen Brenninkmeijer has been a director of Xchanging’s  
parent company (first, Xchanging BV and then, from 27 April 2007, 
Xchanging plc) for more than ten years. Given the provisions of 
the	Combined	Code	and	the	UK	Corporate	Governance	Code,	the	
Board has determined that Stephen Brenninkmeijer is no longer 
considered to be independent. 

The Board has greatly valued Stephen Brenninkmeijer’s knowledge 
and experience as well as his independence of mind. However, it has 
now determined that it is appropriate to look for a replacement in 
the future, and a search has commenced. 

Due to personal health reasons, Pat O’Driscoll was unable to attend 
a number of Board and Committee meetings in person between 
May and December 2010. During this time Stephen Brenninkmeijer 
undertook the role of Chairman of the Remuneration Committee. 
Pat O’Driscoll resumed her full responsibilities both as an 
Independent	Non-Executive	Director	and	as	Chairman	of	the	
Remuneration Committee from 1 January 2011. 

Directors’ induction, training and development
The Board has a full induction programme for all new Directors, 
covering their duties and responsibilities as directors. Michel 
Paulin joined Xchanging in January 2010, and underwent a full 
Board induction programme, which included meetings with the 
principal	business	heads	and	management	teams	in	the	UK,	US	
and Continental Europe. As a Director, he has had access to the 
Company Secretary’s assistance both in orientation and guidance 
around the Xchanging Group, in addition to the exposure gained  
at regular Board meetings. 

Upon	joining	Xchanging	in	October	2010,	Ken	Lever	underwent	an	
extensive range of briefings from key players in each of Xchanging’s 
businesses and regions. Further, during the final quarter of 2010 he 
attended meetings in the US and Continental European Xchanging 
offices, meeting the respective teams. He has also attended 
meetings with the management teams in Australia, Singapore, 
Malaysia	and	India	during	the	first	quarter	of	2011.

All Directors receive ongoing legal and regulatory updates to 
improve their knowledge and enable them to discharge their duties. 
During	2010,	with	the	anticipated	impact	of	the	UK	Bribery	Act	
2010	and	the	UK	Corporate	Governance	Code,	specific	briefings	
were held during Board meetings. Further, as part of the continuous 
programme for the Board to visit all principal parts of the Xchanging 
Group,	the	Directors	attended	Board	meetings	in	the	US	and	the	UK	
during	2010.	In	September	2010	the	Board	met	in	the	Xchanging	
US offices in Chicago, engaging with the US regional management 
team and attending a Board workshop focusing on Xchanging’s 
strategy, and in December 2010 the Board met in the Xchanging 
offices in Leadenhall Street, London, where the Directors spent time 
with	the	UK	region	management	team.	

Formal papers are circulated to the Directors before each Board 
meeting, which enable them to make an informed decision on the 
issues	under	consideration.	In	addition	to	formal	Board	meetings,	
during 2010 the Chairman maintained regular contact with the CEO 
and CFO to discuss specific issues. The Company Secretary acts as an 
adviser to the Board on matters concerning governance and ensures 
Board procedures are complied with. All Directors have access to his 
advice and during 2010 this was sought from time-to-time. Directors 
may also take independent professional advice at the Company’s 
expense.	In	the	event	that	any	Director	has	concerns	which	cannot	
be resolved within the Board forum about the running of the 
Company, or a proposed action, such concerns may be reflected  
in the Board minutes. Minutes of each Board meeting are circulated 
by the Company Secretary following the meeting to allow such 
comments to be raised. 

Directors’ interests
Under Xchanging’s Articles of Association, the Board may  
authorise any actual or potential conflicts of interest for Directors. 
Each Director provides the Company Secretary with information 
regarding any actual or potential interests that may conflict with 
those of Xchanging, such as other directorships, and any other 
potential interests that each thinks may cause a conflict requiring 
prior	Board	authorisation	on	an	annual	basis.	If	the	circumstances	 
of any of these disclosed interests change, the relevant Director  
is required to update the Company Secretary promptly. 
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The register setting out each Director’s current disclosures (where 
relevant) was reviewed and approved by the Board at its meeting 
in	December	2010.	In	each	such	situation,	the	Director	under	
consideration did not vote on the matter. The Board will continue to 
review the register of interests annually to ensure the authorisations, 
and any conditions attached to them, are appropriate for the 
relevant matter to remain authorised. The Company Secretary 
maintains a list of all authorisations granted to Directors, setting  
out the date of authorisation and its expiry, scope and any 
limitations imposed. 

Board performance evaluation
Each year the Board undertakes an evaluation process in respect  
of itself and its Committees, under the leadership of the Chairman. 
In	2010,	the	evaluation	process	comprised	the	following	steps:	

•		A	questionnaire	based	on	the	provisions	of	the	Combined	Code	
and	new	aspects	of	the	UK	Corporate	Governance	Code	was	
circulated to the Board.

•		Each	Director	discussed	their	responses	to	the	questionnaire	with	
the Company Secretary, together with any other general issues 
that each Director wished to raise regarding the operation of the 
Board and the Committees.

•		The	Company	Secretary	met	with	the	Chairman	to	discuss	the	
results of the questionnaire and other feedback from the Directors.

•		The	Company	Secretary	prepared	a	briefing	note	for	the	Board	
setting out the principal issues raised and suggesting appropriate 
action points. 

The principal issues raised in the 2010 performance evaluation 
included highlighting the requirement for the Board to appoint  
a	new	Independent	Non-Executive	Director,	and	to	further	develop	
succession planning for the Board and senior management. Action 
will be taken to address these issues in 2011. 

The	Non-Executive	Directors,	led	by	the	Senior	Independent	 
Non-Executive Director, met separately on 1 February 2011 to 
evaluate the performance of Nigel Rich during 2010, who then 
joined them to evaluate the performance of David Andrews during 
2010.	Neither	David	Andrews	nor	Ken	Lever	was	present	at	this	
meeting. The performance of the Non-Executive Directors during 
2010 was reviewed by Nigel Rich, taking into account the views  
of the other Directors. 

Election and re-appointment of Directors
All Directors are subject to re-election at the Annual General Meeting 
(AGM) at intervals of no more than three years. The following 
Directors will retire by rotation and seek re-election at the 2011 AGM: 

•	Stephen	Brenninkmeijer

•	Johannes	Maret	

•	Pat	O’Driscoll	

In	addition,	Ken	Lever	will	be	put	forward	for	his	initial	election	 
to the Board by the shareholders. The Board believes that each  
of the Directors named continues to make a valuable contribution 
to Xchanging, and supports their re-election in each case. Despite 
personal health reasons limiting Pat O’Driscoll’s contribution to the 
Board during 2010, the Chairman and the Board are confident that 
following her recovery she remains a key member of the Xchanging 
Board with a valuable contribution to make during 2011. 

The Board has asked the Nominations Committee to identify and 
recommend to the Board an appropriate candidate to be appointed 
as	an	Independent	Non-Executive	Director	of	the	Company	during	
2011. The Board intends to recruit Non-Executive Directors of a 
high calibre with broad commercial, international or other relevant 
experience. Non-Executive Directors are expected to bring an 
objectivity and independence of view to the Board’s discussions,  
and to help provide the Board with effective leadership in relation to 
the Company’s strategy, performance, risk and people management 
as well as ensuring high standards of financial probity and corporate 
governance. All Non-Executive Directors’ appointments may be 
terminated by either party upon three months’ written notice.  
The appointment of each of the Non-Executive Directors does  
not give rise to any entitlement to compensation in respect  
of their termination. 

Following their re-election at the 2010 AGM, Nigel Rich and Dennis 
Millard’s appointments with Xchanging were extended for a further 
three years, on the same terms and conditions. Pat O’Driscoll 
was	appointed	as	an	Independent	Non-Executive	Director	of	the	
Company for a fixed term of three years from 3 November 2008, 
which was approved by shareholders at the 2009 AGM, and is being 
put forward for re-election at the 2011 AGM under the retirement 
by rotation provisions contained in the Articles of Association. 
Following shareholder approval at the 2010 AGM, Michel Paulin’s 
current term of appointment will expire in January 2013. Both 
Stephen Brenninkmeijer and Dennis Millard are appointed for  
12-month terms, subject to annual shareholder approval. 

Board committees

The Board has established Audit, Nominations, Remuneration 
and Corporate Social Responsibility Committees, each of which 
works from terms of reference which are reviewed annually and 
are available on the website: www.xchanging.com. The terms of 
reference for each Committee were last approved by the Board at 
its December 2010 meeting. The minutes of the Audit, Nominations 
and Remuneration Committee meetings are sent to all Directors and 
oral updates are given at Board meetings.

Board of Directors

Audit
Committee
(see page 49)

Nominations
Committee
(see page 49)

Remuneration
Committee
(see page 50)

Corporate Social 
Responsibility
Committee
(see page 50)
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The Audit Committee
Director  Number of meetings attended (of 4)

Dennis Millard (Chairman)   4

Stephen Brenninkmeijer   4

Pat O’Driscoll   1

Michel Paulin   4

In	addition	to	the	Audit	Committee	members,	the	Chairman,	CFO,	
Group	Financial	Controller,	CEO	and	Head	of	Internal	Audit	were	
also invited to attend meetings regularly. 

Key areas of responsibility
•		Monitoring	the	integrity	of	the	Company’s	financial	statements,	

together with any announcement relating to financial 
performance, and reviewing significant financial reporting 
judgements within them.

•		Monitoring	the	risks	and	associated	controls	over	financial	
reporting processes, including the consolidation process.

•		Reviewing	the	Company’s	internal	financial	controls,	and	reviewing	
the Company’s internal control and risk management systems as 
discussed in internal control and risk management on page 51.

•		Monitoring	and	reviewing	the	effectiveness	of	the	internal	 
audit team.

•		Making	recommendations	to	the	Board	or	the	shareholders	 
(as appropriate) in respect of the appointment of the external 
auditors, and approving the external auditors’ remuneration  
and terms of engagement.

•		Reviewing	and	monitoring	the	external	auditors’	independence	
and objectivity, and the effectiveness of the audit process in light  
of relevant regulatory requirements.

•		Developing	and	implementing	policy	on	the	engagement	of	the	
external auditors to provide any non-audit services, and reporting 
to the Board on such engagement, recommending relevant actions 
where improvement is required.

During 2010, the composition of the Audit Committee complied 
with	the	Combined	Code,	comprising	four	Independent	Non-
Executive Directors. The Audit Committee maintains a formal 
agenda for each year to ensure compliance with the requirements 
of	the	Combined	Code.	Key	items	considered	during	2010	include	
the review of key accounting policies; material judgements; quality 
of earnings and estimates; scope of work and findings of the 
2010 internal and external audits; half-year and full-year financial 
statements; risk register process; non-audit services; and the 
effectiveness of internal control and risk management systems.

The Audit Committee reviews the Group’s annual report and 
accounts, as well as reports from the external auditors identifying 
any	accounting	or	judgemental	issues	requiring	its	attention.	In	
its July 2010 and February 2011 meetings, the Audit Committee 
approved the half-year and full-year financial statements respectively, 
and confirmed agreement with key accounting policies and material 
judgements.

In	February	2011,	the	Audit	Committee	conducted	its	annual	
assessment of the suitability and performance of the external 
auditors in making its recommendation to the Board for their 
re-appointment.	In	addition,	to	ensure	that	the	objectivity	and	
independence of the audit is not compromised, a review is 
undertaken of the level of non-audit services provided by the 
external auditors and relevant safeguards which are in place.

In	addition	to	the	Audit	Committee,	each	UK	Enterprise	Partnership	
(EP) has its own audit committee whose members and chairman 
are independent of the EP. Such committees are attended by 
Xchanging’s partners, nominated Xchanging Executive Directors, 
senior	EP	management	and	the	Head	of	Group	Internal	Audit	on	a	
regular basis. EP audit committees have similar terms of reference to 
the	Audit	Committee.	In	Continental	Europe,	XTB,	FDB	and	Kedrios	
have shareholder committees attended by representatives from 
Xchanging’s partners and nominated Xchanging Executive Directors 
or of senior management members. 

Nominations Committee
Director  Number of meetings attended (of 3)

Nigel Rich (Chairman)   3

Stephen Brenninkmeijer   3

Dennis Millard   3

David Andrews1   3

Pat O’Driscoll   3

Michel Paulin   3

1Resigned 9 February 2011.

Key areas of responsibility
•		Evaluating	the	balance	of	skills,	knowledge	and	experience	on	 

the Board and, in light of such evaluation, preparing descriptions 
of the role and the capabilities required for any appointment.

•		Ensuring	that	plans	are	in	place	for	orderly	succession	for	
appointments to the Board and senior management, to retain  
an appropriate balance of skills and experience within Xchanging 
and on the Board.

During 2010, the Nominations Committee membership has 
comprised	a	majority	of	Independent	Non-Executive	Directors.	
The Nominations Committee leads the process for all Board 
appointments, preparing role descriptions, reviewing candidates  
and making a final recommendation to the Board, in compliance 
with the Combined Code. 
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The Nominations Committee led the search for a new CFO  
for Xchanging, following Richard Houghton’s announcement  
on 15 July 2010 of his intention to leave Xchanging during 2011. 
The Nominations Committee considered the requirements of the 
role, and authorised the Global Head of HR to engage an external 
search consultancy to assist in identifying candidates with the 
appropriate	skills	and	experience,	particularly	in	the	context	of	UK	
public companies, to take on the role of CFO. The Chairman and 
other members of the Nominations Committee met with a number 
of candidates from varied backgrounds, and in consultation with 
the	Global	Head	of	HR	identified	Ken	Lever	as	the	most	appropriate	
candidate for the role. The Nominations Committee recommended his 
appointment to the Board in September 2010, with approval being 
granted and his appointment announced on 17 September 2010. 

The Nominations Committee meets as and when required. During 
2010 it met three times, in February, September and December.

Remuneration Committee
Director  Number of meetings attended (of 7)

Pat O’Driscoll (Chairman)   4

Stephen Brenninkmeijer   7

Dennis Millard   7

Key areas of responsibility
•		Deciding	the	policy	for	the	remuneration	of	the	Chairman,	the	

Executive Directors and members of senior management. The 
objective of such policy shall be to ensure that members of 
the executive management of the Company are provided with 
appropriate incentives to encourage enhanced performance and 
are, in a fair and responsible manner, rewarded for their individual 
contributions to the success of the Company.

•		Reviewing	the	ongoing	appropriateness	and	relevance	of	the	
remuneration policy for Executive Directors, including short- and 
long-term incentive arrangements that are stretching and designed 
to promote the long-term success of the Company.

•		Making	recommendations	to	the	Board	on	the	Group	framework	
of remuneration for all Group employees, retaining sensitivity  
to pay and employment conditions across the Group.

•		Judging	where	to	position	the	Group’s	remuneration	policy	relative	
to other companies in a similar sector. 

•		Reviewing	the	design	of	all	share	incentive	plans	for	approval	by	
the Board and shareholders. For any such plans, determining each 
year whether awards will be made and, if so, the overall amount 
of such awards, the individual awards to Executive Directors and 
designated senior management and the performance targets  
to be used.

•		Monitoring	the	compensation	commitments	incorporated	in	 
the Directors’ terms of appointment which would become effective 
in the event of early termination to ensure that poor performance 
is not rewarded.

During 2010, the Remuneration Committee membership comprised 
three	Independent	Non-Executive	Directors,	in	compliance	with	
the Combined Code. Stephen Brenninkmeijer undertook the role 
of Chairman from May 2010 until January 2011 in place of Pat 
O’Driscoll, who was unable to fulfil the role due to health reasons. 
During that period Pat O’Driscoll attended over half of the meetings 
of the Remuneration Committee. Pat O’Driscoll resumed her role  
as Chairman of the Remuneration Committee from January 2011 
and chaired the Remuneration Committee meeting held on  
1 February 2011. 

Only Remuneration Committee members and the Company 
Secretary (except when his own remuneration is being considered) 
are entitled to attend meetings of the Remuneration Committee. 
However, in 2010 the Chairman of the Board, the CEO, CFO and 
Global HR Director and others attended by invitation. 

Further details of the activities of the Remuneration Committee  
in 2010 are given in the Remuneration report on pages 53 to 60.

Corporate Social Responsibility Committee 

Director  Number of meetings attended (of 4)

Stephen Brenninkmeijer (Chairman)   4

Global HR Director    3

Chief Customer Officer   3

Group Quality Director   4

Group Head of CSR   4

Key areas of responsibility
•		Determining	the	strategy	for	the	Xchanging	Corporate	Social	

Responsibility (CSR) programme across the Group.

•		Ensuring	that	each	member	of	the	Group	complies	with	the	 
CSR programme.

•		Ensuring	that	the	Group	complies	with	policies	implemented	 
in	respect	of	the	UK	Bribery	Act	2010.

The CSR Committee met four times during 2010. The CSR 
Committee seeks advice from external industry specialists on specific 
issues as required. 

Xchanging monitors and measures its performance on a range 
of CSR activities through internal Quality Performance Reports, 
reviewed on a regular basis by the Xchanging Performance 
Committee (XPC). 

Xchanging has adopted standards, set out below, as guidelines  
to govern ethics and conduct in the Xchanging Group at all times. 
These standards require all employees to: 

•	ensure	honest	and	ethical	conduct	

•	ensure	full,	fair	and	accurate	disclosure	

•	ensure	compliance	with	applicable	laws,	rules	and	regulations	

•		ensure	the	protection	of	Xchanging	from	perceived	or	actual	
ethical risks

•	deter	wrongdoing.
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Internal control and risk management 
The Board is responsible for regularly reviewing the operation and 
effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls. The internal control 
system is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure 
to achieve business objectives and can only provide reasonable,  
and not absolute, assurance against material errors, losses or fraud. 
The Board is also responsible for ensuring that appropriate systems  
are in place to enable it to identify, assess and manage key risks. 

The financial reporting controls are monitored and maintained 
through the use of internal control frameworks which address key 
financial reporting risks, including risks arising from changes in the 
business or accounting standards. Effectiveness is assessed through 
self-certification and independent testing of the controls.

The Group’s key internal control and risk management procedures 
include the following:

•		reviews	of	the	Group’s	strategy	and	the	performance	of	principal	
subsidiaries and EPs, through a comprehensive system of reporting 
based on variances to annual budgets, key performance indicators 
and regular forecasting

•		well-defined	Group	policies	and	processes,	communicated	
through the Group Financial Reporting Procedures Manual and 
intranet portal, and a strict process governing the approval of sales 
opportunities and capital expenditure

•		a	defined	organisational	structure	with	appropriate	delegation	 
of authority

•		formal	authorisation	procedures	for	all	investments	with	clear	
guidelines on appraisal techniques and success criteria (Xchanging’s 
‘Authority	to	Invest’	process)

•		formal	authorisation	procedures	for	all	significant	sales	
opportunities, with clear guidelines on success criteria (Xchanging’s 
sales opportunities approval process, including ‘Authority to 
Proceed and Contract’)

•		a	monthly	review	by	the	XPC	of	performance	reports	for	each	
region. This covers financial performance and a detailed range of 
qualitative information such as customer satisfaction, service levels 
and the quality of processes. This identifies the key operational 
issues and actions required to address any deficiencies

•		the	work	performed	by	the	Group’s	Internal	Audit	department	 
is focused on areas of greatest risk to the Group, as well as issues 
identified	by	monthly	performance	reporting.	Internal	Audit’s	 
objective is to provide independent assurance to the Board and 
Audit Committee over financial, operational and compliance 
controls and to assist the Board in its assessment of the 
effectiveness	of	internal	controls.	The	Head	of	Group	Internal	 
Audit reports directly to the CFO, but has the right to report to 
the Audit Committee Chairman independently of the Executive 
Directors. All significant internal audit reports are reviewed by  
the Audit Committee and made available to the external auditors

•		each	region	has	a	Head	of	Quality,	responsible	for	the	quality	 
of controls and processes within that sector as well as for ensuring 
compliance with policies and procedures, legislation and the 
operation of risk management procedures. Each regional Head  
of Quality reports to the regional managing director and attends, 
by invitation, the EP audit committees within their region.

The Group’s key risk management procedures have been in place 
throughout 2010 and up to the date of approval of this Annual 
Report, including the maintenance of a hierarchy of risk registers for 
each business and region, which are monitored on an ongoing basis 
within the relevant management teams. The Group risk register 
incorporates risks pervasive or material to the whole Group and is 
reviewed at least annually by the Board and the Audit Committee, 
with the last review occurring on 8 December 2010.

The Audit Committee has, on behalf of the Board, reviewed  
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control systems for 2010 
and the period prior to approval of this Annual Report. The Audit 
Committee reported its findings to the Board at the December 
2010	and	February	2011	Board	meetings.	It	considered	all	material	
controls in accordance with the Turnbull guidance. 

One area of weakness regarding financial forecasting was identified 
during this review. Forecasting of profits and cash flows of the 
business units and the Group will be improved by moving to a 
quarterly 18-month rolling forecast process.

The internal control environment will continue to be monitored  
and reviewed by the Board and the Audit Committee which will, 
where necessary, ensure improvements are implemented.

Ethics
Xchanging is committed to the highest standards of business 
integrity in each country where it operates, maintaining an Ethical 
Business Code of Conduct which applies to all employees and 
provides guidance regarding their conduct, and how Xchanging 
conducts business. 

Xchanging will not tolerate any form of bribery or corruption  
by	its	employees.	In	the	event	of	any	bribery	or	corruption	incident	
brought to the Group’s attention, Xchanging would take immediate 
steps to effect corrective action and report it to the relevant 
authorities as required. Xchanging considers that each employee has 
the duty to the Group to act with integrity and good faith in their 
role, and avoid any circumstance which either conflicts, or could 
potentially conflict, with Xchanging’s interests. 

Xchanging has implemented an Employee Disclosure (Whistle-
Blowing) Policy to allow employees to voice any concerns in a 
responsible and effective manner, without fear of reprisal. Employees 
can communicate concerns in confidence to a dedicated email 
address, to which only the Group Compliance Officer and the 
Company Secretary have access. 

Reported concerns are investigated at the earliest opportunity  
by the Group Compliance Officer, the Company Secretary and,  
if appropriate, by management of the respective businesses.  
The concerns raised and actions taken are reported to the  
Chairman of the Audit Committee. 
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Corporate governance continued

Communication with shareholders
The Board places importance on communication with shareholders 
and gives them the opportunity to meet the Chairman and 
Directors as appropriate. Shareholders will continue to be given 
the opportunity to meet the Chairman and Directors in the coming 
12 months. Arrangements can be made for major shareholders to 
meet	with	any	newly-appointed	Directors.	The	Company’s	Investor	
Relations team organises an ongoing programme of dialogue and 
meetings between the CEO and CFO and institutional investors, 
fund managers and analysts. 

Brokers’ reports and investor feedback are circulated regularly to  
the Board, who discuss these and any other key matters relating  
to	investors.	In	each	case	the	Board,	in	conjunction	with	advisers	
where appropriate, determines the strategy to address significant 
issues raised.

The Company’s Annual General Meeting on 18 May 2011 will 
provide a valuable opportunity for the Board to communicate  
with private investors. We encourage shareholders to attend the 
meeting and to ask questions of any of the Directors following the 
conclusion of the formal part of the meeting. Details of proxy voting 
by shareholders, including votes withheld, will be made available  
on request and will be placed on the Company’s website following 
the meeting.

Going concern
The Directors have reviewed the liquidity position of the Group  
for the period ending 30 June 2012. The cash expenditure of the 
Group has been assessed against the Group’s available sources 
of finance on a monthly basis to determine the minimum and 
maximum expected levels of headroom. Based on this analysis  
and an assessment of the potential cash risks, the Directors have  
a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources  
to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.

The Group therefore continues to adopt the going concern basis  
in preparing its consolidated financial statements.

Additional information
Information	on	the	impact	on	the	Company	as	required	by	the	
Takeover Directive, and information required under the Disclosure 
and Transparency Rules, is given in the Directors’ report (see pages 
43 to 45) and forms part of this corporate governance statement. 

The attention of shareholders is drawn to the independent  
auditors’ report on page 61, which incorporates their report  
on corporate governance. 

By order of the Board

Gary Whitaker
Company Secretary

1 March 2011
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The remuneration report covers the 12-month period to  
31	December	2010.	It	shows	remuneration	paid	to	Directors	over	
that period by Xchanging plc.

This part of the remuneration report  
is unaudited

Foreword 
Introduction from the Chairman of the Remuneration 
Committee
2010 has been a year of significant change for Xchanging,  
as reported elsewhere in the Annual Report and Accounts.

The Remuneration Committee has responded to specific changes  
as well as ensuring ongoing alignment with developing governance 
requirements. Richard Houghton, Chief Financial Officer (CFO), 
stepped down from the Board in October 2010 and David Andrews 
announced he was standing down from the Board of Xchanging plc 
and from the role of Chief Executive Officer (CEO) in February 2011. 
We	welcomed	Ken	Lever	to	the	Board	as	CFO	in	October	2010.	 
He has agreed to become acting CEO from February 2011.

Given the disappointing results for 2010, no annual bonuses  
will be payable to the Executive Directors based on the Company’s 
performance	for	2010.	In	addition,	there	will	be	no	increase	in	base	
salary	for	Ken	Lever	with	effect	from	1	January	2011.

During 2011 the Remuneration Committee will continue to develop 
the remuneration policy of Xchanging to meet the needs of the 
current phase of the business.

I	would	like	to	thank	Stephen	Brenninkmeijer,	who	acted	as	
Remuneration Committee Chairman during 2010 during my 
extended period of ill health. 

Pat O’Driscoll
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee

 

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Pat O’Driscoll.  
Pat O’Driscoll was appointed on 22 July 2009 by the Board  
to succeed Stephen Brenninkmeijer, who remained a member 
of the Remuneration Committee. From May 2010 Stephen 
Brenninkmeijer fulfilled the role of acting Chairman of the 
Remuneration Committee whilst Pat O’Driscoll recovered from 
illness. The Remuneration Committee’s terms of reference can be 
found under the corporate governance section of the Xchanging 
website. The terms of reference were reviewed and revised by the 
Remuneration Committee to bring them in line with the provisions 
and	recommendations	of	the	UK	Corporate	Governance	Code	
and associated guidance. The current terms of reference became 
effective from 8 December 2010. 

The Remuneration Committee’s primary purpose is to review the 
ongoing appropriateness of the remuneration policy as it applies 
to the Executive Directors and key senior management, make 
recommendations on the framework for their remuneration and 
to	determine	their	specific	remuneration	packages.	In	addition,	
the Remuneration Committee is responsible for monitoring the 
remuneration	strategy	and	policy	of	the	Group.	In	making	its	
decisions, the Remuneration Committee considers the Employee, 
Social and Governance (ESG) implications in making its decisions. 
It	is	also	mindful	to	ensure	that	inappropriate	risk-taking	is	not	
incentivised.

The Remuneration Committee consists of the following Non-
Executive Directors: Pat O’Driscoll, Stephen Brenninkmeijer and 
Dennis Millard. They were all deemed independent throughout 
2010. Stephen Brenninkmeijer has been deemed not to be 
independent for the year commencing 1 January 2011. The 
Company Secretary is Secretary to the Remuneration Committee. 
Only Remuneration Committee members and the Company 
Secretary (except when his own remuneration is being directly 
considered) are entitled to attend meetings of the Remuneration 
Committee. However, the Chairman of the Board, the CEO, the 
Global HR Director and others may attend by invitation of the 
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee met seven times in 2010. Stephen 
Brenninkmeijer and Dennis Millard were present for all meetings;  
Pat O’Driscoll was unable to attend three of those meetings due  
to her ill health.

The Remuneration Committee received advice from Towers 
Watson and Clifford Chance during 2010. Towers Watson 
provided advice on market data, market practice, governance and 
advice on long-term incentive schemes. Towers Watson has also 
provided remuneration advice more widely to the Company with 
the permission of the Remuneration Committee. Towers Watson 
has signed the Remuneration Consultants Code of Conduct and 
has made the code available to Xchanging. The Remuneration 
Committee annually reviews its consultants and after consideration 
approved the retention of Towers Watson as remuneration 
consultants for 2011. Clifford Chance provided legal advice on 
employment matters as well as providing legal advice more widely  
to the Company. 

Remuneration report 
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Remuneration policy
Xchanging’s remuneration policy is to ensure that we attract  
and retain key talent in order to create value for shareholders. 
The Remuneration Committee has agreed that the remuneration 
philosophy will remain as follows for 2011:

•		position	base	salaries	around	the	relevant	mid-market.	The	mid-
market base salary benchmark will be determined by reference  
to the local geographic market for the role and its scope

•		reward	individuals	for	business	success	with	a	significant	
proportion of the reward opportunity for our senior employees 
linked to delivered performance in the form of variable 
compensation

 –  annual bonuses will reward individuals for their contribution  
to business performance. Performance measures will be based  
on a balanced set of key performance drivers

 –  long-term incentives will form part of a market competitive 
remuneration package. Making awards in the form of shares 
aligns the interests of our executives with those of shareholders.

A shareholding policy came into effect on 1 January 2010. The 
policy applies to the Executive Directors of Xchanging plc and 
requires them to build up over a period of five years, and hold, 
throughout their period of employment as an Executive Director  
of Xchanging plc, a minimum shareholding of one times base  
salary. The policy excludes Nigel Rich in his current role as  
Executive Chairman.

The Remuneration Committee believes that the remuneration policy 
is aligned to Xchanging’s business objectives and is in the interests 
of shareholders. The Remuneration Committee will continue to 
monitor performance against the total remuneration policy to ensure 
that it achieves its aim of attracting, motivating and retaining the 
senior management talent that is required to develop the Company 
and deliver shareholder value.

Remuneration policy for Executive Directors
Total remuneration is benchmarked against relevant FTSE 250 
companies (excluding financial services companies) taking 
into account the geographic reach of each role in determining 
competitive remuneration. Whilst Xchanging has experienced recent 
share price volatility the Remuneration Committee has determined 
that the FTSE 250 still remains the most appropriate market for its 
executive talent.

Remuneration packages for the Executive Directors consist of base 
salary, annual bonus, awards under long-term incentive schemes 
and other benefits. David Andrews and Richard Houghton did not 
participate in any of the Group’s pension schemes and formally 
waived	their	right	to	do	so.	Ken	Lever	is	eligible	for	a	cash	allowance	
of 10% of base salary per annum as an allowance in lieu of pension 
contributions. His cash allowance is non-bonusable. As a result a 
significant proportion of Executive Director remuneration is linked  
to corporate and individual performance.

Base salary
Salaries are reviewed annually at the start of each year by the 
Remuneration Committee. Salaries are set by reference to our 
market competitive remuneration philosophy described above, 
affordability, individual performance, and changes in responsibilities. 
No	increase	in	base	salary	will	be	provided	to	Ken	Lever	as	the	acting	
CEO in 2011. His base salary will remain at £375,000 per annum. 
However, he will receive an allowance of £60,000 per annum  
(pro-rata) effective from 9 February 2011 in recognition of the 
additional responsibilities he will be undertaking as acting CEO.  
The allowance will cease one month following the start of the  
newly appointed CEO.

Annual bonus
The 2010 bonus structure had a bonus maximum of 150% for 
the Executive Directors. The bonus design was structured on a 
graduated scale linked to stretching profit before tax targets, with 
70% payable on achievement of stretch targets and 130% payable 
as	a	maximum.	If	revenue	targets	were	not	achieved	the	bonus	
was adjusted downwards. Twenty percent of the bonus maximum 
was determined based on the achievement of measurable personal 
objectives. No bonus in respect of performance in 2010 was payable 
to the Executive Directors.

Long-term incentive plans
The Company established a number of equity-based share incentive 
plans	around	the	time	of	the	initial	public	offering	(IPO),	namely	an	
Approved and Unapproved Executive Share Option Plan (ESOP) and 
a Performance Share Plan (PSP). Other share plans, namely the Share 
Purchase Plan and earlier Approved, Unapproved and Unapproved G 
Share	Options	Plans	were	also	in	existence	at	the	IPO,	but	no	further	
awards	will	be	made	under	the	pre-IPO	Plans.	

Executive Share Option Plan (ESOP)
No awards under the ESOP were granted to the Executive Directors 
in 2010.

Performance Share Plan (PSP) 
The Remuneration Committee chose the PSP as the primary vehicle 
through which share-based long-term incentives were offered to 
Executive Directors and other senior executives in 2010. Under the 
PSP, conditional awards of shares (or phantom shares where tax and 
regulatory conditions made it more appropriate) were made for a 
value up to 150% of the recipient’s salary. Awards will vest three 
years after grant, depending upon the Company’s total shareholder 
return (TSR) performance when compared to the TSR performance 
of the constituents of the FTSE 250 index (excluding investment 
trusts) (the ‘Comparators’) and continuous employment over  
the vesting period.

The ‘basic award’ which will vest ranging from 25% if the 
Company’s TSR is equal to the median TSR of the Comparators, 
through to 100% if the Company’s TSR performance is at or above 
the upper quartile of the Comparators. The ‘stretch award’ will only 
begin to vest if the Company’s TSR performance is at least upper 
quartile of the Comparators, with full vesting of the stretch award 
only	for	upper	decile	performance.	In	any	event,	the	basic	and	
stretch awards will vest only if the Company’s annual average  
EPS growth over the relevant three-year period is no less than  
the	UK	Retail	Price	Index	(RPI)	+3%.	

Remuneration report continued
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In	April	2010,	David	Andrews	and	Richard	Houghton	received	a	
‘basic award’ of PSP shares worth 100% of their 2010 base salaries 
and a ‘stretch award’ of PSP shares equal to 50% of their 2010  
base salaries.

The Remuneration Committee believes that the TSR-based 
performance conditions that apply to basic and stretch awards, 
together with the related EPS growth condition, ensure that the 
PSP participants are further incentivised to deliver outstanding 
returns to shareholders whilst also enhancing underlying financial 
performance. The extent to which the performance conditions 
are achieved will be determined by the Remuneration Committee, 
having received appropriate third-party advice.

Historical TSR graph 
The graph below is prepared in accordance with the Schedule 8  
of	the	Large	and	Medium-Sized	Companies	and	Groups	(Accounts	
and	Reports)	Regulations	2008.	It	shows	the	Company’s	TSR	for	
time beginning with listing on 24 April 2007 to 31 December 2010 
against	that	of	the	Total	Return	Indices	for	the	FTSE	250.	Xchanging	
was a constituent of the FTSE 250 for the majority of this period.

Growth in the value of a hypothetical £100 holding invested in 
Xchanging plc at the IPO price. FTSE 250 (excluding investment 
trusts) comparison based on spot values.

 

Share Purchase Plan (SPP) 
At the start of 2007, prior to the listing of Xchanging plc, certain 
Directors, and members of senior management (excluding David 
Andrews) (the F Share Loan Participants), purchased class F common 
shares (in Xchanging BV), under the terms of the SPP, at the prevailing 
market	price.	Upon	IPO,	the	class	F	common	shares	in	Xchanging	BV	
were split into shares in Xchanging plc on a one-for-four basis, with 
an equivalent value of £1.325 per share (the SPP shares). 

Under the terms of the SPP, the Xchanging BV 2007 Employee 
Benefit Trust provided non-interest-bearing loans to 12 F Share 
Loan	Participants,	who	were	deemed	key	to	retain	following	IPO,	
to enable them to fund the purchase of the class F common shares. 
As at 31 December 2010, there are six F Share Loan Participants to 
whom loans remain outstanding. The SPP shares were subject to an 
18-month lock-in period, which expired in August 2008. The SPP 
shares may now be sold on the condition that a pro-rata proportion 
of any loan from the Xchanging BV 2007 Employee Benefit Trust  
is repaid.

The non-interest-bearing loans provided to the F Share Loan 
Participants become repayable on the earliest of the F Share Loan 
Participants ceasing employment, the transferring or otherwise 
disposing of their shares (or attempting to do so), accepting another 
loan from a member of the Group to refinance the loan and the 
‘long	stop’	date	of	31	December	2011.	In	the	case	of	Richard	
Houghton, he is required to repay the loan of £662,500 made under 
the Share Purchase Plan in 2007 on or before 31 March 2012. A 
mortgage has been taken over his SPP shares by the Xchanging BV 
2007 Employee Benefit Trust to secure this loan.

Other benefits 
David Andrews and Richard Houghton did not participate in any of 
the Group’s pension schemes and formally waived their right to do 
so.	Ken	Lever	is	eligible	for	a	cash	allowance	of	10%	of	base	salary	
per annum as an allowance in lieu of pension contributions. His cash 
allowance is non-bonusable. The Executive Directors are eligible 
to receive other benefits including Life Assurance and Permanent 
Health	Insurance	(PHI),	and	are	also	eligible	to	join	Xchanging’s	
private medical insurance scheme in accordance with the scheme 
terms and conditions under which cover is provided. They are 
covered	by	the	Group’s	Life	Assurance	and	PHI	scheme,	which	
provides a benefit equal to four times their basic salary at the time 
of their death and 75% of their basic salary should they be off work 
due to a critical illness for 26 continuous weeks. These benefits are 
valid until they reach their 65th birthday and as long as they remain 
employees of Xchanging.

Dilution and the pre-IPO share pool for entrepreneurial 
achievement 
As	disclosed	in	Xchanging’s	IPO	prospectus,	4,006,388	shares	
authorised	by	shareholders	prior	to	the	IPO,	but	not	allocated	to	
employees at that time, may be placed under option or issued under 
the Company’s share incentive plans without counting towards the 
ongoing	Association	of	British	Insurers	(ABI)	guideline	dilution	limits.	
The Remuneration Committee has subsequently approved that such 
pool of options will be awarded to employees in recognition of 
entrepreneurial	achievement	or	to	new	senior	employees.	In	2010	
no awards were made. The cumulative total of ESOP awards made 
to date is 465,000 options. 

Service contracts 
Executive Directors have service contracts with notice periods of  
12 months from either the Director or the Company. This is in line  
with best practice for listed companies. The Company has the right  
to terminate the employment of the Executive Director without  
notice or with less than 12 months’ notice by making a payment  
in lieu of notice equal to the base salary the Executive Director  
would be entitled to receive during any unexpired period of the 
notice	period.	Ken	Lever’s	service	contract	entitles	him	to	receive	 
a discretionary bonus payment if the Company serves notice on him 
(unless	summary	dismissal	applies).	In	the	event	of	termination	of	his	
employment as a result of a change of control of Xchanging prior 
to 31 December 2011, the Company has agreed to pay a bonus of 
no less than 60% and no more than 150% of base salary reduced 
pro-rata for the period of notice in line with current practice and 
policy. This is subject to Remuneration Committee discretion and 
dependent on personal and Company performance.
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Remuneration report continued

Joining arrangements 
Ken	Lever	was	appointed	as	CFO	and	joined	the	Board	on	6	October	
2010. As part of his recruitment arrangements it was agreed he 
would receive a minimum cash payment of £56,250 for the period  
6 October to 31 December 2010. 

Ken	Lever	was	granted	a	share	award	on	6	October	2010,	the	date	
of the commencement of his employment with Xchanging, of 
ordinary shares of Xchanging. Under such award, provided that he 
has been and remains in continuous employment with Xchanging 
on the dates set out below he will receive:

150,000 shares on 6 October 2011 and 

150,000 shares on 6 October 2012.

These awards will not vest if he has given, or received, notice of 
termination of his employment with Xchanging on each anniversary 
of the grant date, and to the extent not vested, will lapse in the 
event he ceases employment with Xchanging during this period.

Leaving arrangements 
Richard Houghton
Richard Houghton stepped down as CFO in October 2010.  
He will end his employment with the Company on 31 March 2011. 
The amount payable on departure is £582,5701, of which £220,781 
will have been paid as at 31 March 2011. 

Richard Houghton will participate in Xchanging’s Group Life 
Assurance,	Permanent	Health	Insurance	and	private	medical	
insurance	schemes	until	his	departure.	In	addition	he	is	entitled	 
to benefit from outplacement consultancy services to a maximum  
of £40,000 within six months of 31 March 2011.

David Andrews
David Andrews’s employment with the Company will end on  
31 March 2011. The amount payable on departure is £505,685 
payable in 11 equal monthly instalments starting in April 2011.

Following his departure David Andrews has entered into a 
consultancy agreement with Xchanging plc until 28 February 2012,  
as a special adviser to the Chairman to support the Company’s 
business development initiatives. The agreement expires 
automatically on 28 February 2012 or by giving not less than  
30 days’ notice in writing by either party. Under the terms of the 
consultancy agreement, Xchanging shall pay David Andrews a 
monthly retainer of £8,500. 

Fees retained for non-executive directorships 
The policy in 2010 on non-executive directorships was that the 
CEO could hold up to two non-executive directorships and other 
Executive Directors could hold one position each. From 2011 
this policy will be amended so that Executive Directors (with the 
exception of the Executive Chairman) may only hold one non-
executive directorship. Directors may retain any fees payable to them 
with the consent of the Remuneration Committee, except in the 
case where the directorship is as a representative of the Company. 
Neither David Andrews nor Richard Houghton held external non-
executive	director	appointments	in	2010.	Ken	Lever	continues	to	be	
a member of the Accounting Standards Board for which he receives 
no fees.

Non-Executive Directors 
The Board aims to recruit Non-Executive Directors of a high calibre 
with broad commercial, international or other relevant experience. 
Non-Executive Directors are expected to bring objectivity and 
independence of view to the Board’s discussions, and to help the 
Board with effective leadership in relation to the Company’s strategy, 
performance, risk and people management as well as ensuring high 
standards of financial probity and corporate governance.

The fees paid to Non-Executive Directors are reviewed regularly. 
In	setting	the	fees,	a	review	of	current	market	practice	is	used	
which takes into account time commitment and responsibility. 
The fees payable to Non-Executive Directors are ratified by the 
Board, based on the recommendations of the Executive Directors 
and the Chairman. The Non-Executive Directors do not participate 
in the Company’s incentive or pension schemes, nor do they 
receive any employee benefits. The Company will reimburse all 
expenses reasonably incurred by the Non-Executive Directors in the 
performance of their duties. The Company has obtained appropriate 
directors’ and officers’ liability insurance.

 

1Payment compromises payment in lieu of notice, compensation for loss of office and 
waiver of contractual bonus rights for 2010 and 2011.
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This part of the remuneration report is audited.

Individual Directors’ remuneration 
The remuneration of the Directors for the year ended 31 December 2010 is made up as follows: 

Directors’ remuneration 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2010

    Base salary     2009 
    and fees Bonus Benefits Other Total total 
Director    (£)  (£) (£)  (£)  (£) (£)

Executive Directors      

David Andrews   585,000 – 26,483 – 611,483 963,230

Ken	Lever	 	 	 88,462 – 10,327 56,250 155,039 –

Richard Houghton   291,641 – 33,205 582,570 907,416  715,246

Non-Executive Directors      

Nigel Rich (Chairman)   150,000 – – – 150,000 150,000

Stephen Brenninkmeijer   45,000 – – – 45,000 48,333

Johannes Maret   68,500 – – – 68,500 65,000

Dennis	Millard	(Senior	Independent	Director)		 	 65,000 – – – 65,000 64,481

Pat O’Driscoll   50,000 – – – 50,000 44,513

Michel Paulin   40,000 – – – 40,000 –

Tom Tinsley   – – – – – 31,231

Note

•		Ken	Lever’s	benefits	include	a	pro-rated	cash	allowance	of	10%	of	base	salary	per	annum	as	an	allowance	in	lieu	of	pension	contributions.	

•		As	part	of	the	recruitment	terms	it	was	agreed	that	Ken	Lever	would	receive	a	minimum	cash	payment	of	£56,250	for	the	period	from	 
6 October to 31 December 2010, in March 2011.

•		Richard	Houghton	stood	down	from	the	Board	of	Xchanging	plc	and	from	the	role	of	CFO	on	5	October	2010.	Richard	Houghton’s	
benefits	include	the	value	of	Life	Assurance,	PHI	and	medical	insurance	and	the	non-interest-bearing	F	Share	Loan	of	£21,318.

•		The	amount	payable	to	Richard	Houghton	on	departure	is	£582,570	of	which	£220,781	will	have	been	paid	as	at	31	March	2011.	
Payment comprises payment in lieu of notice, compensation for loss of office and waiver of contractual bonus rights for 2010 and 2011.

•		The	fee	paid	to	Nigel	Rich	was	in	his	capacity	as	Chairman	of	the	Board	and	Chairman	of	the	Nominations	Committee.

•		Stephen	Brenninkmeijer	received	a	fee	of	£5,000	per	annum	as	Chairman	of	the	CSR	Committee.	He	did	not	receive	an	additional	 
fee for being acting Chairman of the Remuneration Committee. 

•		The	fee	paid	to	Dennis	Millard	included	a	fee	of	£10,000	in	relation	to	his	role	as	Chairman	of	the	Audit	Committee	and	a	fee	 
of	£15,000	in	relation	to	his	appointment	as	Senior	Independent	Director.	

•		The	fee	paid	to	Pat	O’Driscoll	included	a	fee	of	£10,000	per	annum	in	relation	to	her	appointment	as	Chairman	of	the	Remuneration	
Committee.

•		The	amount	paid	to	Johannes	Maret	comprises	three	separate	elements.	Fees	of	£40,000	(2009:	£40,000)	for	his	services	as	 
Non-Executive Director of Xchanging plc, and fees of €4,000 (2009: €0) for his services as a member of the supervisory board of XTB, 
which he has been a member of since 1 April 2010. Additionally, a fee of £25,000 (2009: £25,000) has been paid under the terms  
of the special adviser agreement dated 26 March 2009. This agreement was terminated on 24 February 2011, and a new advisory 
agreement between Johannes Maret and Xchanging GmbH was agreed on 25 February 2011 under which Johannes Maret will continue 
to assist the development of the Group’s customer base across Continental Europe. The new advisory agreement is for a one-year term 
which may be extended by agreement, and can be terminated by either party on 30 days’ notice. The fee of £25,000 per annum is 
payable in quarterly instalments.
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Remuneration report continued

Share options and long-term incentive schemes 
Details of share options held, granted and exercised in 2010 in respect of qualifying services are outlined below.

Xchanging plc share options – approved scheme 
   Number of   Number of 
   options held at Granted Exercised options held at Exercise Date from 
   1 January during the during the 5 October price which 
Director   2010  year   year   2010   £  exercisable Expiry date

Richard	Houghton	 	 85,180		 –	 –	 	85,180		 0.33		 24/11/2006	 24/11/20131

1Following Richard Houghton’s termination of employment on 31 March 2011, his options may be exercised in accordance with the scheme rules during the six months following 
his termination date.

Xchanging plc share options – unapproved scheme 
   Number of   Number of 
   options held at Granted Exercised options held at Exercise Date from 
   1 January during the during the 5 October price which 
Director   2010  year   year  2010   £  exercisable Expiry date

Richard Houghton 

– granted at £0.33  414,820  –  414,820   –  0.33 – –

– granted at £0.94  500,000  –  500,000   –  0.94 – –

   Number of   Number of 
   options held at Granted Exercised options held at Exercise Date from 
   1 January during the during the 31 December price which 
    2010  year   year  2010   £  exercisable Expiry date

Johannes	Maret	 		 	200,000		 	–	 –	 200,000		 1.63		 15/03/2010	 15/03/2017

The market price of the Company’s shares on 31 December 2010 was £1.26. The highest and lowest market price during the year for each 
share under option that was unexpired at the end of the year was £2.19 and £1.01. The market price on Richard Houghton’s exercise date 
was £2.08.

The	options	shown	above	have	no	performance	conditions	attached.	They	were	all	issued	prior	to	IPO.	All	options	issued	after	IPO	will	 
be subject to performance conditions.



59 Xchanging  
Annual report and accounts 2010

Xchanging plc 2007 Performance Share Plan (2007 PSP)
      Grants on 12 April 2010
      

         Total 
     Number of    conditional 
     PSP shares    PSP shares 
     held on    held at 
     1 January Basic Stretch Date of 31 December 
Director    2010 award award vesting 2010

David Andrews

–	grant	31/03/2008	 	 	 	 312,555	 –	 –	 31/03/2011	 312,555

–	grant	12/04/2010	 	 	 	 –	 287,610	 143,805	 12/04/2013	 	431,415

         Total 
     Number of    conditional 
     PSP shares    PSP shares 
     held on    held at 
     1 January Basic Stretch Date of 5 October 
     2010 award award vesting 2010

Richard Houghton

–	grant	31/03/2008	 	 	 	 219,589	 –	 –	 31/03/2011	 219,589

–	grant	9/04/2009	 	 	 	 334,146	 –	 –	 09/04/2012	 334,146

–	grant	12/04/2010	 	 	 	 –	 202,064	 101,032	 12/04/2013	 303,096

Note

•		The	Remuneration	Committee	has	applied	its	discretion	under	the	2007	PSP	to	allow	David	Andrews	to	maintain	his	outstanding	awards	
on a pro-rata basis. As a result 312,555 conditional shares may vest on 31 March 2011 and 431,415 conditional shares may vest on  
12 April 2013 to the extent that the applicable performance conditions are satisfied at those dates and provided that a pro-rata reduction  
in shares awarded based on the term of employment during the vesting period shall be applied to the awards.

•		The	Remuneration	Committee	has	applied	its	discretion	under	the	2007	PSP	to	allow	Richard	Houghton	to	maintain	his	outstanding	
awards. As a result 219,589 conditional shares may vest on 31 March 2011; 334,146 conditional shares may vest on 9 April 2012; and 
97,710 may vest on 12 April 2013 to the extent that the applicable performance conditions are satisfied as at each of those dates and 
provided that a pro-rata reduction in shares awarded based on the term of employment during the vesting period shall be applied to  
the award vesting in 2013. 

The market price at the time of the award on 9 April 2010 was £2.034.
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Remuneration report continued

Directors’ shareholdings 
      Number of Disposals Acquisition Shares issued Number of 
     shares at of shares of shares following shares at 
     1 January during the during the exercise of 31 December 
Director     2010  year year  share options   2010 

David Andrews    19,763,448 700,000 735,000 – 21,120,3121

Ken	Lever	 	 	 	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –

Nigel Rich    200,000 – 50,000 – 250,000

Stephen Brenninkmeijer    375,000 170,000 45,000  250,000

Johannes Maret    1,224,004 – – – 1,224,004

Dennis Millard    100,000 – – – 100,000

Pat O’Driscoll    5,230 – 7,000 – 12,230

Michel Paulin    – – – – –

1Includes	400,000	shares	held	by	the	Trustees	of	the	David	William	Andrews	Discretionary	Fund	and	1,146,864	by	his	son	William	Andrews,	as	a	connected	person	under	the	Listing	
Rules and 175,000 shares by his spouse Sylvia Andrews.

As at 25 February 2011 there have been no changes to the Directors’ shareholdings above.

Employee Benefit Trust 
Xchanging	has	three	Employee	Benefit	Trusts:	The	Infrex	Employee	Share	Trust,	the	Xchanging	Employee	Benefit	Trust	and	the	Xchanging	
BV 2007 Employee Benefit Trust.

The	trustees	of	the	Infrex	Employee	Share	Trust	are	David	Andrews	and	Ken	Lever.	The	Infrex	Employee	Share	Trust	is	a	discretionary	trust	
for	the	benefit	of	employees	of	Xchanging	UK	Limited	and	its	subsidiaries	as	the	trustees	decide.	The	Infrex	Employee	Share	Trust	holds	
191,108 shares.

The trustee of the Xchanging Employee Benefit Trust is Ogier Employee Benefit Trustee Limited, an independent professional trustee 
situated in Jersey. The Xchanging Employee Benefit Trust is a discretionary trust for the benefit of such employees of Xchanging BV  
and its subsidiaries as the trustees decide. The Xchanging Employee Benefit Trust does not hold any shares.

The trustee of the Xchanging BV 2007 Employee Benefit Trust is Ogier Employee Benefit Trustee Limited, an independent professional 
trustee situated in Jersey. The Xchanging BV 2007 Employee Benefit Trust is a discretionary trust for the benefit of such employees  
of	Xchanging	UK	Limited	as	the	trustees	decide.	The	Xchanging	BV	2007	Employee	Benefit	Trust	does	not	hold	any	shares.

Approved on behalf of the Board of Directors

Pat O’Driscoll
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee

1 March 2011
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We have audited the Group financial statements of Xchanging plc for the year ended 31 December 2010 which comprise the consolidated 
income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated cash flow statement, the reconciliation of net 
cash flow to movement in net cash, the movement in net cash, the consolidated balance sheet, the consolidated statement of changes 
in equity, and the related notes. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union.

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors
As explained more fully in the Directors’ responsibilities statement set out on page 45, the Directors are responsible for the preparation 
of the Group financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an 
opinion on the Group financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). 
Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the Company’s members as a body in accordance with chapter 3 of 
part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any 
other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our 
prior consent in writing.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance 
that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: 
whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; 
the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the Directors; and the overall presentation of the financial statements.

Opinion on the financial statements
In our opinion the Group financial statements:

•	give	a	true	and	fair	view	of	the	state	of	the	Group’s	affairs	as	at	31	December	2010	and	its	loss	and	cash	flows	for	the	year	then	ended;

•	have	been	properly	prepared	in	accordance	with	IFRS	as	adopted	by	the	European	Union;	and

•	have	been	prepared	in	accordance	with	the	requirements	of	the	Companies	Act	2006	and	Article	4	of	the	IAS	Regulation.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion:

•		the	information	given	in	the	Directors’	report	for	the	financial	year	for	which	the	Group	financial	statements	are	prepared	is	consistent	
with the Group financial statements; and

•		the	information	given	in	the	corporate	governance	statement	set	out	on	pages	46	to	52	with	respect	to	internal	control	and	risk	
management systems and about share capital structures is consistent with the financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following:

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

•	certain	disclosures	of	Directors’	remuneration	specified	by	law	are	not	made;	or	

•	we	have	not	received	all	the	information	and	explanations	we	require	for	our	audit.

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review:

•	the	Directors’	statement,	set	out	on	page	45,	in	relation	to	going	concern;	and

•		the	part	of	the	corporate	governance	statement	relating	to	the	Company’s	compliance	with	the	nine	provisions	of	the	June	2008	
Combined Code specified for our review.

Other matters
We have reported separately on the parent company financial statements of Xchanging plc for the year ended 31 December 2010  
and on the information in the remuneration report that is described as having been audited.

Paul Aitken 
Senior Statutory Auditor

For and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 
London

1 March 2011

Independent auditors’ report 
To the members of Xchanging plc on the Group financial statements
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Consolidated income statement 
for the year ended 31 December 2010

         Restated2

      2010   2009
     

     Adjustments    Adjustments 
    Underlying to underlying1 Total Underlying to underlying1 Total 
    Note £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Continuing operations       
Revenue  4 780,612 – 780,612 750,416 – 750,416
Cost of sales  5 (692,659) (16,859) (709,518)	 (667,470)	 (39,116)	 (706,586)

Gross profit   87,953 (16,859) 71,094	 82,946	 (39,116)	 43,830

Administrative expenses  5 (20,679) (105,977) (126,656) (19,071) (1,023) (20,094)

Operating profit/(loss)   67,274 (122,836) (55,562)	 63,875	 (40,139)	 23,736
       
Finance costs  9 (13,373) (837) (14,210)	 (13,061)	 (1,222)	 (14,283)
Finance income  9 9,471 – 9,471	 8,982	 –	 8,982

Profit/(loss) before taxation   63,372 (123,673) (60,301)	 59,796	 (41,361)	 18,435
       
Taxation  10 (17,372) 4,373 (12,999)	 (15,391)	 8,874	 (6,517)

Profit/(loss) for the year   46,000 (119,300) (73,300)	 44,405	 (32,487)	 11,918

       
Attributable to:       
– equity holders of the Company   37,265 (116,082) (78,817)	 36,259	 (29,892)	 6,367
– non-controlling interests  28 8,735 (3,218) 5,517	 8,146	 (2,595)	 5,551

      46,000 (119,300) (73,300)	 44,405	 (32,487)	 11,918

       

Earnings per share attributable to equity holders of the Company (expressed in pence per share)
– basic  11 15.60  (32.98) 15.40  2.70
– diluted  11 15.53  (32.98) 15.23  2.67

The	notes	on	pages	68	to	131	form	an	integral	part	of	these	consolidated	financial	statements.
1Adjustments to underlying in 2009 and 2010 include amortisation of intangible assets previously unrecognised by an acquired entity (note 5), exceptional items (note 6), 
acquisition-related expenses (note 7) and imputed interest on put options.

2The comparative amounts have been restated by £1,023,000 to take account of IFRS 3 (revised), “Business combinations”, requiring acquisition-related expenses to be expensed 
to	the	income	statement	as	incurred	rather	than	capitalised	as	part	of	the	cost	of	acquisition.	Further	explanation	of	the	restatement	is	included	in	note	2	(i)	on	page	68.
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         Restated 
       2010  2009 
      Note  £’000  £’000

Actuarial loss arising from defined benefit pension schemes    (999)  (6,064)
Revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets     213  169
Transfer of foreign exchange movement on hedged item to cost of acquisition 27  –	 	 (3,208)
Currency translation differences       5,847  2,912

Other comprehensive income/(loss), net of tax      5,061  (6,191)
(Loss)/profit for the year       (73,300)	 	 11,918

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year      (68,239)  5,727

   
Attributable to:   
– equity holders of the Company      (75,794)  (303)
– non-controlling interests       7,555  6,030

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year      (68,239)  5,727

Items in the statement above are disclosed net of tax. The income tax relating to each component of other comprehensive income  
is disclosed in note 10.

The	notes	on	pages	68	to	131	form	an	integral	part	of	these	consolidated	financial	statements.

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December 2010
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Consolidated cash flow statement
for the year ended 31 December 2010

       2010  2009 
      Note  £’000  £’000

Cash flows from operating activities   
Cash generated from operations    30  61,832  62,937
Income tax paid      (14,207)	 	 (13,824)

Net cash from operating activities      47,625  49,113
   
Cash flows from investing activities   
Acquisition expenses      –  (4,903)
Acquisition cost of subsidiaries      (15,278)	 	 (48,803)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired with subsidiaries   31  9,819  3,947
Acquisition cost/expenses in relation to future acquisitions     –	 	 (8,674)
Interim payment of put option      (870)	 	 (890)
Purchase of available-for-sale financial assets      (780)	 	 (518)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment      (7,204)  (13,640)
Purchase of intangible assets      (14,945)	 	 (18,081)
Pre-contract expenditure      (419)  (1,129)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment     297  221
Interest received      703  1,514
Dividends received      191  395

Net cash used in investing activities      (28,486)  (90,561)
   
Cash flows from financing activities   
Proceeds from issue of shares      2,090  1,923
Transaction costs of shares issued      –  (19)
Proceeds from borrowings      30,204  31,930
Repayment of borrowings      (14,312)	 	 (28,961)
Proceeds from sale of shares in subsidiary      439  –
Transaction costs of arranged borrowings      –  (924)
Interest paid      (3,021)	 	 (3,408)
Dividends paid to equity shareholders    12  (6,573)	 	 (5,487)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests      (8,536)  (4,296)

Net cash used in financing activities      291  (9,242)
Effects of exchange adjustments      1,159  (6,993)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    20,589	 	 (57,683)
Cash	and	cash	equivalents	at	1	January	 	 	 	 	 	 60,115	 	 117,798

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December   18  80,704  60,115

The	notes	on	pages	68	to	131	form	an	integral	part	of	these	consolidated	financial	statements.
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       2010  2009 
        £’000  £’000

Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents in the year     20,589	 	 (57,683)
Cash inflow from movement in bank loans and overdrafts     (15,524)	 	 (2,785)
Movement on finance leases      (397)  740
Movement on receivable purchase facility      29  392

Change in net cash resulting from cash flows     4,697  (59,336)
Bank loans and overdrafts acquired with subsidiaries     –  (37,633)
Finance leases acquired with subsidiaries      –  (2,033)
Receivable purchase facility with subsidiaries      –	 	 (589)
Amortisation of loan arrangement fees      (479)  (529)
Exchange movements       (1,909)  3,150

Movement in net cash in the year       2,309  (96,970)
Net cash at the beginning of the year       20,828	 	 117,798

Net cash at the end of the year       23,137	 	 20,828

Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net cash
for the year ended 31 December 2010

Movement in net cash
for the year ended 31 December 2010

       Amortisation 
       of loan 
      Cash and debt arrangement Exchange  
    2009 Cash flow acquired fees movements 2010 
    £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	per	the	cash	flow	statement		 	 60,115	 9,611	 9,819	 –	 1,159	 80,704
Bank	loans	and	overdrafts,	including	loan	arrangement	fees	 (37,968)	 (15,524)	 –	 (479)	 (1,885)	 (55,856)
Finance lease creditors   (1,121) (397) – – (34) (1,552)
Receivable	purchase	facility	 	 	 (198)	 29	 –	 –	 10	 (159)

Net cash   20,828 (6,281) 9,819 (479) (750) 23,137

      

       Amortisation 
       of loan 
      Cash and debt arrangement Exchange  
	 	 	 	 2008	 Cash	flow	 acquired	 fees	 movements	 2009 
    £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	per	the	cash	flow	statement		 	 117,798	 (54,637)	 3,947	 –	 (6,993)	 60,115
Bank	loans	and	overdrafts,	including	loan	arrangement	fees	 –	 (2,785)	 (37,633)	 (529)	 2,979	 (37,968)
Finance lease creditors   – 740 (2,033) – 172 (1,121)
Receivable	purchase	facility	 	 	 –	 392	 (589)	 –	 (1)	 (198)

Net cash   117,798 (56,290) (36,308) (529) (3,843) 20,828
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         Restated 
       2010  2009 
      Note  £’000  £’000

Assets   
Non-current assets   
Goodwill    13  190,291  259,613
Other intangible assets    14  67,640  75,336
Property, plant and equipment    15  29,738  30,707
Available-for-sale financial assets    16  24,564  26,264
Trade and other receivables    17  4,415  4,107
Retirement benefit assets    32  462  396
Deferred income tax assets    23  21,683  25,015

Total non-current assets      338,793	 	 421,438
   
Current assets   
Inventories      128  –
Trade and other receivables    17  160,331  152,676
Cash and cash equivalents    18  80,704  60,115

Total current assets      241,163  212,791
Total assets      579,956  634,229
   
Liabilities   
Current liabilities   
Trade and other payables    19  (176,860)  (160,429)
Current income tax liabilities      (7,918)  (6,444)
Financial liabilities – borrowings    21  (17,017)  (16,361)
Financial liabilities – other     21  (27,554)  (900)
Provisions    22  (23,160)  (32,057)

Total current liabilities      (252,509)  (216,191)
   
Non-current liabilities   
Trade and other payables    19  (18,268)  (25,505)
Financial liabilities – borrowings    21  (40,550)  (22,926)
Financial liabilities – other    21  (5,149)  (22,404)
Deferred income tax liabilities    23  (8,818)  (11,714)
Retirement benefit obligations    32  (34,148)  (30,304)
Provisions    22  (7,894)  (16,394)

Total non-current liabilities      (114,827)  (129,247)
Total liabilities      (367,336)	 	 (345,438)

Net assets       212,620	 	 288,791

   
Shareholders’ equity   
Ordinary shares    24  11,975	 	 11,856
Share premium    26  107,776	 	 105,805
Merger reserve    26  409,672  409,672
Reverse acquisition reserve    26  (312,238)	 	 (312,238)
Other reserves    27  20,895  15,610
Retained earnings    26  (44,401)	 	 42,568

Total shareholders’ equity      193,679  273,273
Non-controlling interest in equity    28  18,941	 	 15,518

Total equity      212,620	 	 288,791

The	notes	on	pages	68	to	131	form	an	integral	part	of	these	consolidated	financial	statements.	

The consolidated financial statements on pages 62 to 131 were approved by the Board of Directors on 1 March 2011 and signed on its behalf by:

Ken Lever Nigel Rich CBE
Acting Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer Executive Chairman

Consolidated balance sheet
as at 31 December 2010
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   Attributable to equity holders of the Company  
  

      Reverse    Non- 
   Share  Share Merger acquisition Other Retained  controlling Total 
   capital premium reserve reserve reserves earnings Total interests equity 
   Note £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At	1	January	2009	 	 10,973 76,647 409,672 (312,238) 16,492 41,042 242,588 15,792 258,380
Comprehensive income          
Profit	or	loss	for	the	year	 	 	–	 –	 	–	 	–	 –	 6,367	 6,367	 5,551	 11,918
Other comprehensive income          
Actuarial loss arising from defined 
benefit pension schemes 27/28 – –  –  – (5,423) – (5,423) (641) (6,064)
Revaluation of available-for-sale  
financial assets 27/28 – – – – 76 – 76 93 169
Transfer of foreign exchange  
movement on hedged item  
to cost of acquisition 27	 –	 –	 –	 –	 (3,208)	 –	 (3,208)	 –	 (3,208)
Currency translation differences 27/28	 –	 –	 –	 –	 1,885	 –	 1,885	 1,027	 2,912

Total comprehensive income  
for the year (Restated)  – –  – – (6,670) 6,367 (303) 6,030 5,727
Transactions with owners:           
Share-based payments  – –  –  – – 1,737 1,737 – 1,737
Deferred and current income tax  
on share-based payments  –  – –  – – (1,091) (1,091)  – (1,091)
Shares issued           –
–  in respect of Cambridge  
acquisition	(net	of	issue	costs)	 	 762	 27,355	 	–	 –	 7,778	 –	 35,895	 –	 35,895

–  employee share-based  
payments 24/28	 121	 1,803	 	–	 	–	 –	 –	 1,924	 13	 1,937

Other translation  
equity movements 27/28 – – – – (1,990) – (1,990) – (1,990)
Dividends paid/payable 12/28	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 (5,487)	 (5,487)	 (6,317)	 (11,804)

At 31 December 2009 (Restated)   11,856 105,805 409,672 (312,238) 15,610 42,568 273,273 15,518 288,791

Comprehensive income          
Profit	or	loss	for	the	year	 	 	–	 –	 	–	 –	 	–	 (78,817)	 (78,817)	 5,517	 (73,300)
Other comprehensive income          
Actuarial loss arising from defined  
benefit pension schemes 27/28	 –	 –	 –	 –	 (1,289)	 –	 (1,289)	 290	 (999)
Revaluation of available-for-sale  
financial assets 27/28 – – – – (16) – (16) 229 213
Currency translation differences 27/28	 –	 –	 –	 –	 4,328	 –	 4,328	 1,519	 5,847

Total comprehensive income  
for the year		 	 –	 –	 –	 –	 3,023	 (78,817)	 (75,794)	 7,555	 (68,239)
Transactions with owners:          
Arising on business combination 31(d)  – – – – – – – 2,297 2,297
Recognition of put option  – – – – – (3,591) (3,591) – (3,591)
Deferred tax on put option  – – – – – (143) (143) – (143)
Share-based payments  – – – – – 2,277 2,277 – 2,277
Deferred income tax on  
share-based payments 23 – – – – – (671) (671) – (671)
Current income tax on  
share-based payments 10 – – – – – 549 549 – 549
Shares issued in respect  
of employee share-based  
payments 24/28 119 1,971 – – – – 2,090 17 2,107
Disposal of shares in a subsidiary  – – – – 439 – 439 – 439
Other translation equity  
movements 27/28	 –	 –	 –	 –	 1,823	 –	 1,823	 68	 1,891
Dividends paid/payable 12/28	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 (6,573)	 (6,573)	 (6,514)	 (13,087)

At 31 December 2010   11,975 107,776 409,672 (312,238) 20,895 (44,401) 193,679 18,941 212,620

For	a	description	of	the	nature	and	purpose	of	each	reserve	within	shareholders’	equity	refer	to	note	26.	The	notes	on	pages	68	to	131	
form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 December 2010
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1 General information

Xchanging plc (‘the Company’) and its subsidiaries (together ‘the Group’) provide a range of industry-specific processing services to  
the banking and insurance industries as well as procurement, finance and accounting, human resources and technology services across 
industries. The nature of the Group’s operations and its principal activities are discussed further on pages 4 to 13.

Xchanging plc is a public limited company incorporated and domiciled in the UK. The address of its registered office is 13 Hanover Square, 
London, W1S 1HN. The Company’s ordinary shares are traded on the London Stock Exchange.

2 Principal accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These policies have been 
consistently applied to both years presented, unless otherwise stated. 

(i) Basis of preparation of the financial statements
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the European Union (EU) endorsed International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS), IFRIC interpretations and with those parts of the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS. The 
consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation of available-for-
sale financial assets, other financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss, in addition to the fair valuation of 
share-based payments. 

The results as presented for the year ended 31 December 2009 have been restated for the adoption of IFRS 3 (revised), “Business 
combinations”,	which	came	into	effect	for	the	Group	from	1	January	2010.	As	a	result,	any	external	acquisition-related	expenses,	such	
as advisers’ fees and stamp duty are to be charged to the income statement rather than capitalised as part of the costs of acquisition. 
Where acquisition-related expenses were being capitalised in 2009 in relation to business combinations that did not complete until 2010, 
these costs have been expensed through the income statement on transition to IFRS 3 (revised) through the restatement of the 2009 
comparatives. The impact of this restatement is:

•		to	reduce	the	total	operating	profit,	total	profit	for	the	period,	and	the	total	profit	for	the	period	attributable	to	equity	holders	of	the	
Company as at 31 December 2009 by £1,023,000 and the related impact on earnings per share;

•	to	reduce	the	balance	of	retained	earnings	and	trade	and	other	receivables	as	at	31	December	2009	by	£1,023,000.

The Directors consider it appropriate to exclude such acquisition-related expenses when considering the underlying performance of 
the business. As a result of this change the adjustments to derive the underlying numbers in the income statement also include such 
acquisition-related expenses in order to allow shareholders to understand better the elements of financial performance.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with EU endorsed IFRS requires the use of judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and 
expenses during the reporting period. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of the amount, event or 
actions, actual results ultimately may differ from those estimates. Note 3 of these financial statements sets out the areas where significant 
judgements, estimates and assumptions have been made.

(ii) Going concern
The	Directors	have	reviewed	the	liquidity	position	of	the	Group	for	the	period	ending	30	June	2012.	The	cash	flows	of	the	Group	has	been	
assessed against the Group’s available sources of finance on a monthly basis to determine the minimum and maximum expected levels of 
headroom. Based on this analysis, and an assessment of the potential cash risks, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group 
has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.

The Group therefore continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing its consolidated financial statements.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2010
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2 Principal accounting policies continued

(iii) Changes in accounting policy and disclosure
(a) New standards adopted by the Group
IFRS 3 (revised), “Business combinations”, and consequential amendments to IAS 27, “Consolidated and separate financial statements”, 
IAS	28,	“Investments	in	associates”,	and	IAS	31,	“Interests	in	joint	ventures”,	are	effective	prospectively	to	business	combinations	for	which	
the	acquisition	date	is	on	or	after	the	beginning	of	the	first	annual	reporting	period	beginning	on	or	after	1	July	2009.

IFRS 3 (revised) continues to apply the acquisition method to business combinations, but with some significant changes, for example, the 
change in the treatment of acquisition-related expenses discussed in the basis of preparation section. Further, any revisions to contingent 
cash consideration in the period following the acquisition will be recorded in the income statement. 

As the Group has adopted IFRS 3 (revised), it is also required to adopt IAS 27 (revised), “Consolidated and separate financial statements”. 
IAS 27 (revised) requires the effects of all transactions with non-controlling interests to be recorded in equity if there is no change in control. 
Such transactions will no longer result in either goodwill or in a gain or a loss being recognised. The standard also specifies the accounting 
when control is lost. Any remaining interest in the entity is re-measured to fair value, and a gain or loss is recognised in the income statement. 

(b) Amended standards and interpretations mandatory for the first time for the financial year beginning 1 January 2010
Amendments to existing standards

•	Amendment	to	IFRS	2,	“Share-based	Payments“	(effective	1	January	2010).

•	Amendment	to	IFRS	3	(Revised),	“Business	Combinations”	(effective	1	July	2010).

•	Amendment	to	IFRS	5,	“Non-current	Assets	Held	for	Sale	and	Discontinued	Operations”	(effective	1	January	2010).

•	Amendment	to	IFRS	8,	“Operating	Segments”	(effective	1	January	2010).

•	Amendment	to	IAS	1,	“Presentation	of	Financial	Statements”	(effective	1	January	2010).

•	Amendment	to	IAS	7,	“Statement	of	Cash	Flows“	(effective	1	January	2010).

•	Amendment	to	IAS	17,	“Leases”	(effective	1	January	2010).

•	Amendment	to	IAS	27,	“Consolidated	and	Separate	Financial	Statements”	(effective	1	February	2010).

•	Amendment	to	IAS	36,	“Impairment	of	Assets”	(effective	1	January	2010).

•	Amendment	to	IAS	32,	“Financial	Instruments:	Presentation”	(effective	1	February	2010).

•	Amendment	to	IAS	39,	“Financial	Instruments:	Recognition	and	Measurement”	(effective	1	January	2010).

International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) interpretations

•	IFRIC	19,	“Extinguishing	Financial	Liabilities	with	Equity	Instruments”	(effective	1	July	2010).

The above amendments and interpretations are either not currently relevant for the Group (although they may affect the accounting  
for future transactions and events) or have not had a significant impact on the Group and its disclosures.

(c) New standards, amended standards or interpretations issued, but not effective for the financial year beginning 1 January 2010 
and not been early adopted:
New IFRS standard

•	IFRS	9,	“Financial	Instruments”	(effective	1	January	2013).

Amendments to existing standards

•	Amendment	to	IAS	24,	“Related	Party	Disclosures”,	(effective	1	January	2011).

•	Annual	improvements	to	IFRSs	2011	effecting:

	 –	IFRS	7,	“Financial	Instruments:	Disclosures”	(effective	1	January	2011).

	 –	IAS	1,	“Presentation	of	Financial	Statements”	(effective	1	January	2011).

 – IAS 34, “Interim Financial Reporting”.

IFRIC interpretations

•	IFRIC	14,	“The	Limit	on	a	Defined	Benefit	Assets,	Minimum	Funding	Requirements	and	their	Interaction”	(effective	1	January	2011).	

It is considered that the above standards, amendments and interpretations will not have a significant effect on the results or net assets  
of the Group but will impact the level of disclosure to be made in the financial statements.
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2 Principal accounting policies continued

(iv) Basis of consolidation 
The Group financial statements consolidate those of the Company and all of its subsidiary undertakings drawn up to 31 December each 
year and are based on consistent accounting policies. Accounting policies of acquired subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to 
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. Subsidiary undertakings are regarded as those companies in which the Company 
has the power of overall operational and financial control. This includes Enterprise Partnerships. The existence and effect of potential voting 
rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group controls another entity.

Interests acquired in subsidiary undertakings are consolidated from the date power to control passes to the Group. Transactions and 
balances, including unrealised profits and losses, between Group companies are eliminated. The non-controlling interests in the balance 
sheet are stated at the non-controlling interests’ proportion of the carrying values of the assets and liabilities recognised. 

(v) Business combinations
Business combinations are accounted for under the acquisition method of accounting as set out in IFRS 3 (revised). A business combination 
is deemed to have occurred where the Group acquires a third party business, either in whole or in part, so that it obtains overall operational 
and financial control of that business. 

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at acquisition date. 
Any excess of the fair value of purchase consideration over the fair value of the net assets acquired, including intangibles and contingent 
liabilities, is recognised as goodwill. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets 
transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any 
asset or liability resulting from a deferred or contingent consideration arrangement. If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the 
net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised directly in the income statement. Acquisition related costs are expenses as 
incurred.

The fair values of identifiable assets and liabilities acquired are initially stated on a provisional basis, but are finalised over a 12 month 
period, as permitted under IFRS 3 (revised).

The group treats transactions with non-controlling interests as transactions with equity owners of the Group. For purchases from non-
controlling interests, the difference between any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of 
the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity where there has been 
no loss of control. 

(vi) Revenue recognition 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, excluding value added tax, rebates and discounts.  
It comprises the value of services provided for human resources, finance and accounting services, procurement services, claims servicing, 
securities processing, software development services, customer administration services, business process services as well as maintenance 
contracts and software sales. The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that 
future economic benefits will flow to the entity and when specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s activities described below:

Human resources / finance and accounting services
Revenue from the provision of human resources and finance and accounting services is recognised according to the period to which the 
service relates, net of guaranteed rebates to customers, when all obligations are fulfilled.

Procurement services
Revenue from the provision of procurement services is recognised on a gross basis where the Group is responsible for the whole supply 
chain process and associated business process from end-to-end. Where the Group acts as an agent, revenue is recognised on a net basis. 
Revenue is recognised, net of guaranteed rebates to customers, according to the period to which the service relates and only when all 
obligations are fulfilled.

Claims servicing
Revenue from the servicing of claims comprises claims processing and fees arising from the administration of programmes is recognised 
either in accordance with estimated claims closure ratios (primarily for life of claim contracts), or over the period of the underlying service 
contract where there is a defined service period. Revenue from incentive schemes associated with the provision of claims servicing is 
recognised on the basis of estimates of the amounts which are considered reasonably certain to be received.

Securities processing
Revenue from the provision of securities processing services is recognised according to the period to which the service relates,  
net of guaranteed rebates to customers. 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 continued
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2 Principal accounting policies continued

Software development services
Revenue from software development services is recognised as related services are performed when the contract is based on time and 
materials or under the percentage completion basis where work is performed under a fixed price contract. Revenue from maintenance 
contracts is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the maintenance contract. Revenue from the sale of software licences  
is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership are considered to have passed to the buyer and all obligations have  
been fulfilled; usually considered to occur on delivery of the licences to the buyer.

The Group provides administration services to the insurance market, from which there are three principal sources of revenue.  
These, together with the bases of revenue recognition, are set out below:

•	Customer	administration	services

  Revenue in respect of the provision of administration services comprises amounts receivable for subscription fees, a transaction charge 
for the provision of administration services and fees for other ad-hoc services. Subscription fees are recognised in the income statement 
according to the period to which they relate. Transactional revenue for these services is recognised in the period in which the transaction 
takes place. Ad-hoc revenue is recognised in the period in which the service is provided.

•	Business	process	services

  Revenue in respect of business process services contracts is divided into an implementation phase and a service provision phase. 
Revenue in respect of the implementation phase is accounted for on a long-term contract basis where it is separable from the provision 
of administration services. Revenue and attributable profit are recognised on a percentage completion basis representing the stage of 
completion of contractual obligations. Revenue in respect of the provision of post-implementation administration services to business 
process services customers is recognised in the period to which the service relates.

•	Maintenance	contracts	and	software	sales

  Revenue in respect of the rental or maintenance of computer software programs is recognised as earned. Billings are included in trade 
receivables in accordance with the terms of the relevant rental or maintenance contract. To the extent that billings are recorded in advance 
of the relevant revenue, such advance billings are included in deferred income. The income arising from the sale of an initial licence is 
recognised upfront with implementation income being recognised over the period of implementation of the software. 

(vii) Deferred income
Deferred income relating to claims handling income received at claim inception in our workers compensation business is released in line 
with an estimate of the cost to service the claims based on actuarial table profiles. The profiles determine, for each class of claim that 
Xchanging processes, the estimated life cycle and work effort of a typical claim. The majority of this revenue is released over a two year 
period.

Deferred income relating to software maintenance and licence fees received in advance is predominantly in our insurance business.  
This income is released evenly over the year to which it relates.

(viii) Finance costs 
Finance costs are charged to the income statement using the effective interest rate method. 

(ix) Borrowing costs
The Group capitalises borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset as part of 
the cost of that asset. The amount of borrowing costs to be capitalised will depend on whether directly attributable borrowings or general 
borrowings are used to finance the asset. Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production  
of a qualifying asset are recognised in profit or loss. 

(x) Finance income
Finance income is reported in the income statement as it arises through the application of the effective interest rate method.

(xi) Dividend distributions
Dividend distributions to the Company’s shareholders are recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial statements in the period in which 
the dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders. Interim dividends are recognised when paid.



72 Xchanging  
Annual report and accounts 2010

2 Principal accounting policies continued

(xii) Foreign currency transactions 
(a) Functional and presentation currency 
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Sterling,  
which is the Group’s presentation currency. 

(b) Transactions and balances 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. 
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year end exchange rates  
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement. 

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are presented in the income statement within 
‘finance income or cost’. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the income statement within ‘foreign exchange  
(loss)/gain’ in cost of sales or administrative expenses.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets such as equities classified as available-for-sale are included in the revaluation 
reserve in equity. 

Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair value through profit or loss are recognised 
in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss. 

(c) Group companies 
The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have  
a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows: 

•	all	assets	and	liabilities	for	each	balance	sheet	presented	are	translated	at	the	closing	rate	at	the	date	of	that	balance	sheet	

•	income	and	expenses	for	each	income	statement	are	translated	at	monthly	average	exchange	rates	(unless	this	average	is	not	a	reasonable	
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated  
at the rate on the dates of the transactions)

•	all	resulting	exchange	differences	are	recognised	as	a	separate	component	of	equity.	

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of long-term monetary items designated as part of the net investment 
in foreign operation are taken to shareholders’ equity. 

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity  
and translated at the closing rate.

(d) Hedging
The Group applies cash flow hedge accounting when it hedges exposure to variability in cash flows associated with a recognised asset  
or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction and where the hedge is expected to be highly effective.

The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised directly in other comprehensive income, whilst any 
ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the income statement.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain  
or loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in the 
income statement. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in equity  
is immediately transferred to the income statement.

(xiii) Goodwill 
Goodwill	recognised	under	UK	GAAP	prior	to	the	date	of	transition	to	IFRS,	1	January	2003,	is	stated	at	net	book	value	at	the	date	 
of transition. This goodwill had been amortised on a straight-line basis over its useful economic life (being 10 years). 

Goodwill	recognised	subsequent	to	1	January	2003,	arising	from	the	purchase	of	subsidiary	undertakings,	represents	the	excess	of	the	fair	
value of the consideration paid over the fair value of the identifiable net assets (including intangible assets) acquired. Goodwill is capitalised 
as a non-current asset. 

After initial recognition, goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Impairment reviews are performed at each 
balance sheet date where there is an identified indicator of impairment, or at least annually, to ensure that the present value of estimated 
future net income streams from the associated cash-generating units to which the goodwill has been allocated, discounted using discount 
rates specific to the Group, exceeds the goodwill capitalised. Any impairment losses identified are not reversed. Gains and losses on the 
disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 continued
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2 Principal accounting policies continued

(xiv) Intangible assets
(a) Development costs
Where development costs meet the criteria for capitalisation, these are stated at cost less a provision for amortisation and any provision  
for impairment. Research costs are expensed as incurred.

Costs incurred during the development period of new contracts, including the costs of process and system designs that substantially 
improve those processes and systems already installed in either the Enterprise Partnerships or recently acquired subsidiaries, are treated  
as development costs. Expenditure relating to these clearly defined and identifiable development projects is recognised as an intangible 
asset only where costs can be reliably measured and after the following criteria have been met:

•	the	technical	feasibility	and	commercial	viability	of	the	development	project	have	been	demonstrated;

•	the	availability	of	adequate	technical	and	financial	resources	and	an	intention	to	complete	the	project	have	been	confirmed;

•	there	is	an	ability	to	use	or	sell	the	project;	and

•	future	economic	benefits	are	expected.

Costs that are capitalised comprise directly attributable incremental costs incurred during the development period, including wages and 
salaries of staff employed solely for the purpose of improving the processes and systems, and third party costs. Development costs do not 
include restructuring costs, (including redundancy, early termination penalties and such like), which are expensed to the income statement 
as they are incurred.

Amortisation of development costs occurs on a straight-line basis over the life of the contract to which they relate (between 6 and 12 years). 
This period represents the useful life of the intangible asset. 

(b) Software costs
Software	costs	are	capitalised	where	they	meet	the	criteria	for	recognition	under	IAS	38.	Where	the	criteria	for	capitalisation	are	not	met,	
software development expenditure is expensed as incurred. 

Software development costs are amortised on a straight-line basis at an annual rate of 20% or over the life of the related contract, where 
appropriate, so as to write off the asset cost on a straight-line basis over the expected useful economic life. Purchased software is stated  
at cost and amortised on a straight-line basis over three years.

(c) Assets in the course of development
Assets in the course of development are not amortised until the asset is brought into use.

Subsequent expenditure undertaken to ensure that an asset maintains its previously assessed standard of performance, for example, routine 
repairs and maintenance expenditure, is recognised in the income statement as it is incurred. Where subsequent expenditure significantly 
enhances an asset, this is capitalised.

(d) Contractual customer relationships
Contractual	customer	relationships	are	capitalised	on	acquisition	where	they	meet	the	criteria	for	recognition	under	IFRS	3	and	IAS	38.	
Amortisation of customer contractual relationships is in line with the expected length of the customer relationship, which is between one 
and seven years. 

(xv) Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. The cost of property, 
plant and equipment is their purchase cost, together with any incidental costs of acquisition.

All repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated so as to write off the cost of the assets, less their estimated residual values, on a straight-line basis over  
the expected useful economic lives of the assets concerned. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are:

Leasehold improvements  over the period of the lease

Computer equipment  20-33% per annum

Fixtures and fittings  10-33% per annum

Motor vehicles   25% per annum

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within  
the income statement.
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(xvi) Impairment of tangible and intangible assets (including goodwill)
At each balance sheet date, management reviews its tangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have 
suffered an impairment loss. Intangible assets are reviewed if a trigger event is deemed to have happened, unless the intangible asset 
has an indefinite useful life, then these assets are reviewed at least annually. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the 
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are 
independent from other assets, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows 
are discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects the current market assessments of the time value of money. Future 
cash flows are adjusted to take account of any risks specific to an asset. Fair value less costs to sell is determined by reference to either the 
expected proceeds of sale or the expected discounted cash flows in respect of the asset, less any costs that is expected to be incurred to 
secure the sale. 

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount  
of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised 
estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that 
would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of  
an impairment loss is recognised in the income statement immediately.

(xvii) Financial instruments
Financial assets
Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets into one of the following categories: loans and receivables, available-for-sale and financial assets 
at fair value through profit or loss. The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. The Group 
determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition: 

•		loans	and	receivables	are	non-derivative	financial	assets	with	fixed	or	determinable	payments	that	are	not	quoted	in	an	active	market.	
They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the balance sheet date. These are classified  
as non-current assets 

•		available-for-sale	financial	assets	are	non-derivatives	that	are	either	designated	in	this	category	or	not	classified	in	any	of	the	other	
categories. They are included in non-current assets unless management intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months of the 
balance sheet date 

•		financial	assets	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss	includes	residual	equities	purchased	as	part	of	a	requisitioned	trade	on	behalf	of	a	client	
of the Continental Europe sector and are held at their fair value until the opportunity arises to sell the equity as part of a new requisitioned 
trade by a client. They are included within current assets and classified as held-for-trading assets within trade and other receivables in the 
balance sheet

•		financial	assets	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss	also	include	warrants	purchased	alongside	an	equity	investment	and	offer	the	Group	the	
opportunity to purchase additional shares in an unquoted entity at a future date. They are carried at fair value in the balance sheet and 
classified as held-for-trading financial assets.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 continued



75 Xchanging  
Annual report and accounts 2010

2 Principal accounting policies continued

Recognition and measurement
Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date – the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell 
the asset. Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets not carried at fair value through profit 
or loss. Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value, and transaction costs are expensed  
in the income statement. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or  
have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Available-for-sale financial assets  
are subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.  
Held-for-trading assets are carried at fair value through profit and loss.

When securities classified as available-for-sale are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value adjustments recognised in other 
comprehensive income are included in the income statement as gains and losses from investment securities.

Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised in the income statement as part of finance income when the Group’s  
right to receive payments is established. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of other financial assets at fair value through 
profit and loss are presented within finance costs or income in the period in which they arise. Changes in the fair value of monetary and 
non-monetary securities classified as available-for-sale are recognised in other comprehensive income.

The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices at the close of business on the balance sheet date.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable right to offset 
the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets  
is impaired. In the case of equity securities classified as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security 
below its cost is considered to be an indicator that the securities are impaired. If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial 
assets, the cumulative loss – measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss 
on that financial asset previously recognised in profit or loss – is removed from other comprehensive income and recognised in the income 
statement. Impairment losses recognised in the income statement on equity instruments are not reversed through the income statement. 
If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available for sale increases and the increase can be objectively 
related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed through the separate 
consolidated income statement.

(xviii) Put options granted to non-controlling shareholders
In accordance with IAS 32, when non-controlling interests hold put options that enable them to sell their investments to the Group,  
the net present value of the future payment is reflected as a financial liability in the consolidated balance sheet. At the end of each period, 
the valuation of the liability is reassessed with any changes recognised in the income statement for the period through finance costs. 

(xix) Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined by the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. Net realisable 
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling expenses. 

(xx) Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost less provision for impairment.  
A provision for the impairment of trade receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect 
all amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor 
will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments are considered indicators that the trade receivable 
is impaired. The amount of the provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future 
cash flows. The carrying amount of the receivable is reduced through the use of an allowance account. Impaired debts are derecognised 
when they are assessed as uncollectible.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring 
after the impairment was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the reversal of the previously recognised 
impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Pre-contract costs comprise legal and other professional expenses and other directly attributable staff costs incurred in order to obtain 
specific customer contracts. Costs that are directly attributable to a contract are deferred when they are separately identifiable, can be 
reliably measured and it is probable that the contract will be awarded and the contract will result in future net cash inflows with a present 
value at least equal to all amounts recognised as an asset. 

Pre-contract costs are included within trade and other receivables and are amortised on a straight-line basis over the life of the contract, 
starting from the date when the contract commences.
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(xxi) Cash and cash equivalents
In the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, demand deposits and short-term highly liquid 
investments which are readily convertible to cash and are subject to minimal risk of changes in value. 

(xxii) Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method.

(xxiii) Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently carried at amortised cost. 
Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the income statement over  
the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

(xxiv) Operating and finance leases
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases. 
Rental costs under operating leases are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives 
provided by lessors to the Group are amortised over the lease term together with any related costs of acquiring the lease.

Assets held under finance leases are initially reported at the lower of the fair value of the assets and the present value of minimum lease 
payments with an equivalent liability categorised as appropriate under current or non-current liabilities. The asset is depreciated over the 
shorter of the lease term and its useful economic life. Finance charges are allocated to accounting periods over the period of the lease  
to produce a constant rate of return on the outstanding balance. 

(xxv) Taxation including deferred taxation 
Current and deferred tax is recognised at the amount expected to be paid to (or recovered from) the taxation authorities on the basis  
of tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date in the countries where the company  
and its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income.

Deferred tax is recognised under the liability method on an undiscounted basis in respect of all temporary differences that have originated 
but not reversed at the balance sheet date where transactions or events that result in an obligation to pay more, or a right to pay less,  
tax in the future have occurred at the balance sheet date, with the following exceptions:

•		where	the	temporary	difference	arises	from	the	initial	recognition	of	goodwill	or	of	an	asset	or	liability	in	a	transaction	that	is	not	a	
business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss

•		deferred	tax	assets	are	regarded	as	recoverable	and	therefore	recognised,	only	when,	on	the	basis	of	all	available	evidence,	the	Directors	
consider that it is more likely than not that there will be suitable taxable profits from which the future reversal of the underlying temporary 
differences can be deducted. 

Income tax is recognised in the income statement, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income  
or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

(xxvi) Employee benefit costs
(a) Pension obligations
The Group operates, or participates in, both defined contribution and defined benefit pension schemes. All the pension schemes are 
accounted for in accordance with IAS 19.

Professional independent actuaries value the defined benefit schemes triennially and the valuations are updated at each year end using 
the projected unit credit method. Scheme assets are measured using closing market values at the balance sheet date. Pension scheme 
liabilities are measured using the projected unit method and discounted at the current rate of return on a high quality corporate bond of 
equivalent term and currency to the liability. Variations between the scheme assets and liabilities identified as a result of these actuarial 
valuations (actuarial gains and losses) are recognised in full through the statement of comprehensive income (SOCI) in the period in which 
they arise. Current service costs, expected returns on plan assets and interest costs are charged to the income statement. Past-service costs 
are recognised immediately in income, unless the changes to the pension plan are conditional on the employees remaining in service for a 
specified period of time (the vesting period). In this case, the past-service costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over the vesting period.

The Group participates in a number of defined benefit schemes which are multi-employer schemes and where insufficient information exists 
to be able to account for the schemes as defined benefit plans as there is no consistent and reliable basis for allocating the obligations, plan 
assets and costs to individual entities participating in these schemes. In accordance with IAS 19, such schemes are accounted for as defined 
contribution schemes and contributions are charged to the income statement as incurred.

Contributions to the Group’s defined contribution schemes are charged to the income statement as incurred.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 continued
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(b) Share-based compensation
The Group operates a number of equity-settled, share-based compensation plans. The fair value of the employee services received in 
exchange for the grant of an equity-settled transaction, for example options, is recognised as an expense over the periods in which the 
performance conditions are fulfilled, ending on the vesting date of the award. The total amount to be expensed over the vesting period  
is determined by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments granted. Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions 
about the number of options that are expected to vest. At each balance sheet date, the entity revises its estimates of the number of options 
that are expected to vest. It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in the income statement, with a corresponding 
adjustment to equity. Awards, where vesting is conditional upon a market condition, are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not 
the market condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance conditions are satisfied.

When the options are exercised, the company issues new shares. The proceeds received, net of any directly attributable transaction costs, 
are credited to share capital (nominal value) and share premium when the options are exercised.

The grant by the company of options over its equity instruments to the employees of subsidiary undertakings in the group is treated as  
a capital contribution. The fair value of employee services received, measured by reference to the grant date fair value, is recognised in the 
Company accounts over the vesting period as an increase to investment in subsidiary undertakings, with a corresponding credit to equity.

(xxvii) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when a present obligation exists as the result of a past event and it is probable that this will result in an outflow 
of economic benefit, the amount of which can be reliably estimated. Where the provision is long-term, such as onerous contract provisions 
where the unavoidable costs of meeting obligations exceed any economic benefits expected to be received, the net cash flows are 
discounted using an appropriate risk-free rate. 

Restructuring provisions are only recognised if an obligation exists at the balance sheet date, i.e. a formal plan exists and those affected 
by that plan have a valid expectation that the restructuring will be carried out. Employee termination payments are included within 
restructuring provisions. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

(xxviii) Share capital
Share capital comprises the nominal value of all issued shares. On subscribing for shares any excess consideration over the nominal value  
of the shares issued less any issue costs is credited to the share premium account.

(xxix) Fair value estimation
The fair values of short-term loans and overdrafts with a maturity of less than one year are assumed to approximate to their book values. 
For loans due in more than one year the fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future 
contractual cash flows at the market interest rate available to the Group for similar financial instruments. The fair value for quoted available-
for-sale investments and held-for-trading equity securities is based on their quoted market price. The fair value of unquoted available-for-
sale investments and held-for-trading equity securities is estimated by reference to a discounted cash flow calculation.

(xxx) Exceptional items
Exceptional items are events or transactions that fall outside the ordinary activities of the Group, and which by virtue of their size  
or incidence, have been separately disclosed in order to improve a reader’s understanding of the financial statements. These include 
items relating to the restructuring of a significant part of the Group, impairment losses, expenditure relating to the integration and 
implementation of significant acquisitions and other one-off events or transactions.
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The Group’s principal accounting policies are set out in note 2 of these financial statements. Management is required to exercise significant 
judgement and make use of estimates and assumptions in the application of these policies.

Areas which management believes require the most critical accounting judgements are:

(i) Retirement benefit obligations
The Group operates a number of defined benefit plans. The retirement benefit obligations recorded are based on actuarial assumptions, 
including discount rates, expected long-term rate of return on plan assets, inflation and mortality rates. These assumptions are based on 
current market conditions, historical information and consultation with, and input from, actuaries. Management reviews these assumptions 
annually. If they change, or if actual experience is different from the assumptions, the funding status of the plan will change and the 
retirement benefit obligation will be adjusted accordingly. The assumptions used are detailed in note 32.

The assumed discount rate and life expectancy have a significant effect on the measurement of pension liabilities. The following tables 
show the sensitivity of the valuation of the pension obligations, and of the 2010 income statement charge, to changes in these assumptions 
for the material UK and Continental Europe schemes at both the start and the end of the year:

         UK
      

       Decrease/  Decrease/ 
       (increase) in   (increase) in  
       liability  2010 service cost 
       £’000  £’000

0.25%	increase	to	discount	rate	 	 	 	 	 	 5,854	 	 118
1	year	increase	to	life	expectancy	 	 	 	 	 	 (2,841)	 	 (39)

        Continental Europe
      

       Decrease/   Decrease/ 
       (increase) in   (increase) in 
       liability   2010 service cost 
       £’000  £’000

0.25%	increase	to	discount	rate	 	 	 	 	 	 1,856	 	 47
1	year	increase	to	life	expectancy	 	 	 	 	 	 (851)	 	 (1)

Xchanging participates in various BAE Systems pension schemes. The terms on which Xchanging participates in these schemes give 
Xchanging protection against any requirement to fund future deficits that arise in the schemes, and against future exit debts that may arise 
on withdrawal from these schemes. However, in the event of BAE Systems becoming insolvent, there is a risk that Xchanging could become 
liable to fund the wider pension schemes of these companies, which would result in a significant exposure should these events occur. The 
Directors consider the risk of this event to be extremely remote and consequently the schemes are accounted for as defined contribution 
schemes as per note 32. 

(ii) Estimated impairment of goodwill
The Group tests at least annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated  
in note 2(xiii). The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have been determined based on value in use or fair value less costs  
to sell calculations. These calculations require the use of estimates (see note 13).

(iii) Exceptional items
The Directors consider exceptional items to be items of income or expense that fall outside the ordinary activities of the Group, and which 
by virtue of their size or incident, should be disclosed separately if the financial statements are to reflect a full understanding of the financial 
position and underlying financial performance of the Group on a comparable basis (see note 6). Consideration of what should be labelled 
as “exceptional” requires management judgement to be applied.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 continued
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(iv) Calculation of pre-contract costs and appropriate amortisation period
The original cost of pre-contract costs includes project development costs (including appropriate direct internal costs) which are deferred 
from the point that it is virtually certain that the project will proceed to completion. The Directors consider that this point of virtual certainty 
is normally reached when the memorandum of understanding related to the contract is signed by all parties involved (see note 17). 

The amortisation of these pre-contract costs is charged so as to write down the value of the asset to its residual value over the life  
of the contract.

(v) Assumptions on put options
Three put options are accounted for as financial liabilities under paragraph 23 of IAS 32. These liabilities are carried at fair value through 
profit and loss and measured at the fair value of the future cash flows associated with them. The levels of these cash flows and the 
relevant discount rates used in the fair value calculations are based on future projections and incorporate a certain element of management 
judgement (see note 21). 

(vi) Income taxes
The	Group	is	subject	to	income	taxes	in	numerous	jurisdictions.	Judgement	is	required	in	determining	the	group-wide	provision	for	income	
taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Group recognises liabilities 
for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters 
is different from the amounts that were initially recognised, such differences will impact the current and deferred income tax assets and 
liabilities in the period in which such determination is made.

The Group is required to estimate the corporate tax in each of the jurisdictions in which it operates. This requires an estimation of the 
current tax liability together with an assessment of the temporary differences which arise as a consequence of different accounting and 
tax treatments. These temporary differences result in deferred tax assets or liabilities which are included within the balance sheet. Deferred 
tax assets are not recognised where it is more likely than not that the asset will not be realised in the future. This evaluation requires 
judgements to be made, including the forecast of future taxable income.

(vii) Acquisitions
When acquiring a business, the Group has to make judgements and best estimates about the fair value allocation of the purchase price. 
The Group tests the valuation of goodwill on an annual basis and whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount  
may not be recoverable. These tests require the use of estimates (see note 3 (ii)). 

(viii) Deferred revenue recognition
The Group applies judgement in determining the most appropriate method to use in estimating the amount of deferred revenue to  
be	recognised	in	a	financial	period.	Following	the	acquisition	of	Cambridge	Solutions	Limited	on	1	January	2009,	a	significant	amount	of	
deferred revenue was recognised on acquisition arising on a number of claims service contracts. The amount of deferred revenue released 
in relation to these contracts is then estimated based on management’s estimation of the services performed to date against the total 
estimated cost to fulfil all obligations. 

(ix) Valuation of provisions
Due to the nature of provisions, an element of their determination is based on estimates and judgements, including assumptions regarding 
the future anticipated cash outflows required to settle obligations, and the period over which these outflows will arise. The actual outcome 
of these uncertain factors may differ from these estimations, giving rise to differences with the estimated provisions. Any such differences 
between actual outcomes and the provisions recorded may impact the Group’s results over the periods involved. The timing of the outflow 
of resources required to settle these obligations is subject to similar uncertain factors. See note 22 for discussion of critical estimates and 
judgements on specific provisions. 
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Following	the	adoption	of	IFRS	8	with	effect	from	1	January	2009,	the	Group	identified	six	reportable	operating	segments,	based	on	 
the management organisational structure and which formed the basis of the segmental reporting notes in the financial statements for the 
period ended 31 December 2009. These were the UK, the Americas, Continental Europe, Asia Pacific, Global Procurement and Corporate. 
As	required	by	IFRS	8,	the	operating	segments	are	reviewed	regularly	by	the	Xchanging	Management	Board	(XMB),	the	chief	operating	
decision-maker, to ensure that they are still appropriate as components of the Group, based on the allocation of resources and being the 
basis on which performance is assessed. 

Since	1	January	2010,	there	have	been	a	number	of	changes	to	the	management	organisational	structure	and	monitoring	of	performance	
by the XMB. Global Procurement previously contained a number of entities which served different geographic locations. These procurement 
entities have subsequently been included within their respective geographic regions of the UK, the Americas, Asia Pacific and Continental 
Europe. Global Procurement as a separate operating segment therefore no longer exists. Further, the IT and Insurance Software divisions, 
previously included in their entirety within the Americas region, have been divided between those entities located in the USA (and which 
remain part of the Americas region) and those which are based in India, Singapore, Malaysia or Australia (and now included within the  
Asia Pacific region). All comparatives have been restated to reflect these changes to the segmental reporting structure.

A brief description of each segment follows:

•		UK	is	a	cross-industry	sector	providing	insurance	BPO	services,	procurement	services	to	a	range	of	customers	within	the	UK,	human	
resources, finance and accounting, and technology primarily within the insurance industry;

•		Services	provided	in	the	Americas	segment	comprise	the	provision	of	cross-industry	IT	products	and	services,	procurement	services,	 
and both workers’ compensation and other specialist insurance claims processing services for customers across the USA;

•		Continental	Europe	provides	BPO	services	to	Financial	services	customers	and	procurement	services	to	a	range	of	customers	across	
industries;

•		Asia	Pacific	contains	the	Group’s	offshore	business	processing	services	function,	which	provides	accounting,	pension	administration	and	
broking services to a range of cross-industry customers. It also includes the Australian workers’ compensation claims processing services 
business, procurement services to a range of customers, and services relating to the provision of cross-industry IT products and services;

•		Corporate	provides	the	infrastructure,	resources	and	investment	to	sustain	and	grow	the	Group,	including	sales	and	commercial,	
performance management, implementation and business management functions.

Going forward, Xchanging will be introducing to its structure a focus on global business sectors to make better use of our expertise  
and resources. The four sectors will comprise:

•	Insurance	Services	–	technology	infrastructure	and	managed	services

•	Procurement	and	Human	Resources	–	procurement	and	HR	resourcing	and	administration

•	Financial	Services	–	banking,	securities	processing	and	investment	account	management	and	fund	administration

•	Technology	–	technology	infrastructure	and	managed	services

To aid the reader’s understanding of Xchanging’s business, disclosure of the performance by business sector has been included in the 
segmental reporting note.

Management used underlying operating profit as a measure of segment result for the financial year ending 31 December 2010. Underlying 
operating profit excludes the effects of non-recurring expenditure that falls outside of the ordinary activities of the Group from the 
operating	segments	such	as	restructuring	costs	and	acquisition-related	expenses	following	the	adoption	of	IFRS	3	(revised)	from	1	January	
2010. The measure also excludes the amortisation of intangible assets previously unrecognised by an acquired entity, and imputed interest 
on put options issued to non-controlling interests. Interest income and expenditure are not allocated to segments, as this type of activity  
is driven by the Group treasury function, which manages the cash position of the whole Group.

Management made regular use of the underlying operating profit measure to evaluate performance in the operating segments, both in 
absolute terms and comparatively from period to period, and to allocate resources among its operating segments. Management believed 
that this measure provided a better understanding, for both management and investors, of the operating results of its business segments 
for the period under review. 

Going forward, Xchanging will focus on adjusted operating profit as the primary profit measure to evaluate performance in the operating 
segments. Adjusted operating profit excludes all material non-recurring operating items and adds back acquisition-related expenses and 
amortisation of intangible assets previously unrecognised by an acquired entity. Adjusted operating profit is disclosed in the segmental 
reporting note for each segment and business sector. Underlying operating profit will not form part of the segmental disclosure note  
in future periods.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 continued
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Xchanging’s reportable segments account for inter segment sales and transfers as if the sales or transfers were to third parties, i.e. at 
current market prices. Corporate costs reallocated to operating segments includes investments in Enterprise Partnerships, depreciation  
and amortisation on centrally recognised other intangible assets, lease payments and other costs incurred centrally on behalf of other 
operating segments.

The segment information for the year ended 31 December 2010 is as follows:

      Continental 
     UK   Americas   Europe   Asia Pacific   Corporate   Total  
Year ended 31 December 2010    £’000   £’000   £’000   £’000   £’000   £’000 

Revenue   422,607 125,908  194,622 80,206 – 823,342
–	from	external	customers	 	 	 414,720	 125,509	 194,576	 45,807	 –	 780,612
–	inter	segment	 	 	 7,887	 399	 45	 34,399	 –	 42,730

Underlying operating profit/(loss)   53,934 7,029 16,162 6,742 (16,593) 67,274
Underlying operating profit margin   12.8% 5.6% 8.3% 8.4%  8.6%

Adjusted operating profit/(loss)   53,934 2,144 9,226 6,742 (16,593) 55,453
Adjusted operating profit margin   12.8% 1.7% 4.7% 8.4%  7.1%

Segment assets   231,918 96,498 168,023 137,192 95,738 729,369
–	Inter	segment	assets	 	 	 (7,436)	 (12,915)	 (1,083)	 (48,420)	 (101,242)	 (171,096)
–	Unallocated	assets	–	deferred	tax	assets	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 21,683

Total assets   224,482 83,583 166,940 88,772 (5,504) 579,956

Segment liabilities   (116,689) (169,847) (87,587) (32,932) (24,370) (431,425)
–	Inter	segment	liabilities	 	 	 28,887	 110,842	 13,059	 10,732	 7,575	 171,095
– Unallocated liabilities – borrowings and other financial liabilities      (90,270) 
– Unallocated liabilities – deferred and corporate tax liabilities      (16,737)

Total liabilities   (87,802) (59,005) (74,528) (22,200) (16,795) (367,336)

Reconciliation of Non-GAAP operating profit measures to IFRS statutory operating profit:

      Continental 
     UK   Americas   Europe   Asia Pacific   Corporate   Total  
Year ended 31 December 2010    £’000   £’000   £’000   £’000   £’000   £’000 

Adjusted operating profit/(loss)   53,934 2,144 9,226 6,742 (16,593) 55,453
Adjustment of certain non-recurring items  
arising in the ordinary course of business      
– Contract settlements   – – 6,936 – – 6,936
–	CATISA	revenue	 	 	 –	 4,885	 –	 –	 –	 4,885

Underlying operating profit/(loss)   53,934 7,029 16,162 6,742 (16,593) 67,274
Adjustment of certain non-underlying items:      
–  amortisation of intangible assets previously  
unrecognised	by	an	acquired	entity	 	 	 (637)	 (5,536)	 (1,590)	 (1,418)	 –	 (9,181)

–	acquisition-related	expenses	 	 	 (132)	 -	 (264)	 –	 (762)	 (1,158)
– Exceptional items (note 6)   (3,294) (55,477) (9,605) (43,621) (500) (112,497)

Operating profit/(loss) before  
allocation of corporate costs    49,871 (53,984) 4,703 (38,297) (17,855) (55,562)
Allocation	of	corporate	costs	 	 	 (1,844)	 (2,756)	 (526)	 –	 5,126	 –

Operating profit/(loss)   48,027 (56,740) 4,177 (38,297) (12,729) (55,562)
Net finance costs        (4,739)
Taxation         (12,999)

Loss for the year        (73,300)



82 Xchanging  
Annual report and accounts 2010

4 Segmental reporting continued

Other segment information by segment was as follows:

      Continental 
     UK   Americas   Europe   Asia Pacific   Corporate   Total  
Year ended 31 December 2010    £’000   £’000   £’000   £’000   £’000   £’000 

Depreciation	and	amortisation	 	 	 13,409	 8,555	 12,041	 5,020	 840	 39,865
Capital expenditure      
–	related	to	business	combinations,	including	goodwill	 	 8,937	 –	 24,826	 –	 –	 33,763
–	normal	business	activities	 	 	 8,295	 6,523	 5,448	 2,631	 1,542	 24,440

Segmental information by business sector for the year ended 31 December 2010 is presented below: 

      Continental 
     UK   Americas   Europe   Asia Pacific   Corporate   Total  
Year ended 31 December 2010    £’000   £’000   £’000   £’000   £’000   £’000 

Revenue from external customers    
Insurance	services	 	 	 151,785	 78,228	 –	 27,973	 –	 257,986
Financial	Services	 	 	 –	 –	 191,315	 3,503	 –	 194,818
Technology	 	 	 58,815	 46,886	 –	 10,546	 –	 116,247
Procurement	and	Human	Resources	 	 	 204,120	 395	 3,261	 3,785	 –	 211,561
Corporate   – – – – – –

Total Revenue from external customers   414,720 125,509 194,576 45,807 – 780,612

      
Adjusted operating profit/(loss)      
Insurance services   32,051 (1,330) – 2,291 – 33,012
Financial Services   – – 9,717 1,536 – 11,253
Technology	 	 	 11,683	 4,186	 –	 1,539	 –	 17,408
Procurement	and	Human	Resources	 	 	 10,200	 –	 (492)	 1,377	 –	 11,085
Corporate   – (712) – – (16,593) (17,305)

Total adjusted operating profit/(loss)    53,934 2,144 9,225 6,743 (16,593) 55,453

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 continued
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4 Segmental reporting continued

The restated segment information for the year ended 31 December 2009 is as follows:

      Continental 
     UK   Americas   Europe   Asia Pacific   Corporate   Total  
Year ended 31 December 2009    £’000   £’000   £’000   £’000   £’000   £’000 

Revenue   414,452  130,342 168,377 77,078 187  790,436 
–	from	external	customers	 	 	 406,692		 130,342		 167,942		 45,253		 187		 750,416	
–	inter	segment	 	 	 7,760		 –	 435		 31,825		 –	 40,020	

Underlying operating profit/(loss)    50,495 5,560   13,190   13,225   (18,595)  63,875 
Underlying operating profit margin   12.2% 4.3% 7.8% 17.2%  8.5%

Adjusted operating profit/(loss)   47,331 771 13,190 13,225 (18,595) 55,922
Adjusted operating profit margin   11.4% 0.6% 7.8% 17.2%  7.4%

Segment assets   228,484  156,818  122,207  129,959  30,881   668,349 
–	Inter	segment	assets	 	 	 (8,399)	 (15,987)	 (580)	 (12,530)	 (21,639)	 (59,135)
– Unallocated assets – deferred tax assets        25,015

Total assets   220,085 140,831 121,627 117,429 9,242 634,229

Segment liabilities   (115,775) (99,842) (59,226) (24,845) (24,136) (323,824)
–	Inter	segment	liabilities	 	 	 26,749	 18,132	 3,698	 7,141	 3,415	 59,135
–	Unallocated	liabilities	–	borrowings	and	other	financial	liabilities	 	 	 	 	 	 (80,749)
– Unallocated liabilities – deferred and corporate tax liabilities      

Total liabilities   (89,026) (81,710) (55,528) (17,704) (20,721) (345,438)

Reconciliation of Non-GAAP operating profit measures to IFRS statutory operating profit:

      Continental 
     UK   Americas   Europe   Asia Pacific   Corporate   Total  
Year ended 31 December 2009    £’000   £’000   £’000   £’000   £’000   £’000 

Adjusted operating profit/(loss)   47,331 771 13,190 13,225 (18,595) 55,922
Adjustment of certain non-recurring items  
arising in the ordinary course of business    
– Contract settlements   3,164 – – – – 3,164
–	CATISA	revenue	 	 	 –	 4,789	 –	 –	 –	 4,789

Underlying operating profit/(loss)    50,495   5,560   13,190   13,225   (18,595)  63,875 
Adjustment of certain non-underlying items:      
–  amortisation of intangible assets previously  

unrecognised by an acquired entity   (366) (7,575) (444) (1,571)  – (9,956)
– acquisition-related expenses   – – (1,023) – – (1,023)
–	Exceptional	items	(note	6)	 	 	 (6,450)	 (11,702)	 (3,378)	 (2,298)	 (5,332)	 (29,160)

Operating profit/(loss) before  
allocation of corporate costs    43,679 (13,717) 8,345 9,356 (23,927) 23,736
Allocation	of	corporate	costs	 	 	 (1,268)	 –	 (689)	 –	 1,957	 –

Operating profit/(loss)   42,411  (13,717)  7,656   9,356  (21,970)  23,736 
Net finance costs        (5,301)
Taxation         (6,517)

Profit for the year        11,918
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4 Segmental reporting continued

Other segment information by segment was as follows:

      Continental 
     UK   Americas   Europe   Asia Pacific   Corporate   Total  
Year ended 31 December 2009    £’000   £’000   £’000   £’000   £’000   £’000 

Depreciation	and	amortisation	 	 	 	13,825		 	10,227		 	9,593		 	4,302		 24		 37,971	
Capital expenditure      
–	related	to	business	combinations,	including	goodwill	 	 –	 98,197	 –	 101,917	 –	 200,114
–	normal	business	activities	 	 	 11,610	 6,248	 9,182	 1,608	 3,666	 32,314

Segmental information by business sector for the year ended 31 December 2009 is presented below: 

      Continental 
     UK   Americas   Europe   Asia Pacific   Corporate   Total  
Year ended 31 December 2009    £’000   £’000   £’000   £’000   £’000   £’000 

Revenue from external customers     
Insurance	services	 	 	 153,974	 81,025	 –	 28,827	 –	 263,826
Financial	Services	 	 	 –	 –	 165,097	 2,938	 –	 168,035
Technology	 	 	 33,630	 48,999	 –	 10,554	 –	 93,183
Procurement	and	Human	Resources	 	 	 219,088	 318	 2,845	 2,934	 –	 225,185
Corporate	 	 	 –	 –	 –	 –	 187	 187

Total Revenue from external customers   406,692 130,342 167,942 45,253 187 750,416

      
Adjusted operating profit/(loss)      
Insurance	services	 	 	 26,097	 (4,698)	 –	 7,866	 –	 29,265
Financial	Services	 	 	 –	 –	 13,200	 1,898	 –	 15,098
Technology	 	 	 6,022	 5,602	 –	 2,294	 –	 13,918
Procurement	and	Human	Resources	 	 	 15,212	 (133)	 (10)	 1,862	 –	 16,931
Corporate	 	 	 –	 –	 –	 (695)	 (18,595)	 (19,290)

Total adjusted operating profit/(loss)    47,331 771 13,190 13,225 (18,595) 55,922

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 continued
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4 Segmental reporting continued

The tables below present revenue by the geographical location of customers and by category:

       2010  2009 
Revenue by geographical destination       £’000  £’000

United Kingdom      436,250	 	 432,388
Continental Europe      198,076	 	 165,683
United States of America      104,570  110,433
Australia      28,428	 	 28,681
India       2,355  2,263
Rest of world       10,933	 	 10,968

Total revenue       780,612  750,416

       2010  2009 
Analysis of revenue by category       £’000  £’000

Revenue from services      732,765   732,674
Sale of goods      47,847  17,742 

Total revenue       780,612  750,416

The tables below presents non-current assets other than financial instruments, deferred tax assets, and retirement benefit assets  
(i.e. goodwill, other intangible assets and property, plant and equipment) by the geographical location:

       2010  2009 
Non-current assets by geographical destination      £’000  £’000

United Kingdom      131,423  130,001
Continental Europe      55,757  50,396
United States of America      27,660	 	 81,082
Australia      8,847  42,774
India       63,556  61,297
Rest of world       426  106

Total non-current assets by geographical destination     287,669  365,656

Material customers
Revenues from two external customers each account for greater than ten per cent of the Group’s external revenues. Revenues of 
£173,667,000,	attributable	to	the	UK	segment,	and	£86,687,000,	attributable	to	the	Continental	Europe	segment,	have	been	derived	 
from	these	two	customers	for	the	year	ended	31	December	2010	(2009:	£185,322,000	and	£91,680,000	respectively).	
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5 Expenses by nature

         Restated 
       2010  2009 
      Note  £’000  £’000

Cost of goods and services directly related to sales     233,087	 	 182,711
Direct staff costs    8  278,863  291,690
Other staff related costs      41,287	 	 51,822
Technology and communications      69,104	 	 70,368
Property costs      35,146  36,696
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment   
– owned assets    15  9,447  12,791
– assets held under finance leases    15  597  795
Net amortisation of intangible assets   
– amortisation of intangible assets previously unrecognised by an acquired entity 14  9,181  9,957
– amortisation of other intangible assets    14  19,163  13,005
Amortisation of pre-contract costs    17  1,478  1,423
Other costs      25,166  25,239
Exceptional items    6  112,497  29,160
Acquisition-related expenses    7  1,158  1,023

Total cost of sales and administrative expenses     836,174	 	 726,680

Included within:   
– cost of sales      709,518	 	 706,586
– administrative expenses      126,656  20,094

        836,174	 	 726,680

Other items charged to operating profit are:   

       2010  2009 
        £’000  £’000

Research and development      1,747  7,052
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets    778  102
Impairment of trade receivables      353  1,259
Operating leases   
– land and buildings      18,407	 	 19,089
– plant and machinery      564  126
– other      608  –
Foreign exchange loss       791  565

Fees payable to the Group’s auditors in the year were as follows:

       2010  2009 
         £’000  £’000

Audit services   
Fees payable to the Group’s auditors for the audit of
– the Company      162  224
– the Company’s subsidiaries      973  1,002
– other services pursuant to legislation      60  66

       1,195  1,292
Fees payable to the Group’s auditors for other services   
Tax services      920  902
Corporate finance transactions       –  32
Other services      88  36

Total fees payable to the Group’s auditors      2,203  2,262

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 continued
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6 Exceptional items

       2010  2009 
         £’000  £’000

Exceptional items comprise the following:   
Impairment of goodwill      99,389  –
Impairment of other intangible assets      7,401  –
Impairment of available-for-sale assets      1,797  –
Write down of held-for-trading equity securities     1,429  –

Total impairment losses      110,016  –
   
Onerous contract provision      2,627  –
Gain on acquisition of Kedrios       (146)  –
Cambridge acquisition and integration costs      –  16,734
Lean processor strategy restructuring      –  17,393
Release of Phoenix provision      –  (4,967)

Total exceptional items        112,497  29,160

   
Included within:   
– Cost of sales      7,678  29,160
– Administrative expenses      104,819  –

         112,497  29,160

The	impairment	of	goodwill	during	the	year	of	£99,389,000	includes	£90,000,000	relating	to	goodwill	recognised	on	the	acquisition	 
of	Cambridge	Solutions	Limited	on	1	January	2009.	

An impairment charge of £50,400,000 has been recognised in respect of goodwill attributed to the Americas region relating to the 
Cambridge US BPO business. More detail regarding this impairment is provided in note 13. 

An impairment charge of £39,600,000 has been recognised in respect of goodwill attributed to the Asia Pacific region relating to the 
Cambridge Australia BPO business. More detail regarding this impairment is provided in note 13.

In	addition,	impairments	of	goodwill	associated	with	the	UK	and	Continental	Europe	region	totalling	£9,389,000	have	been	recognised.	
More detail regarding this impairment is provided in note 13. 

The impairment of other intangible assets of £7,401,000 relates to specific software and development assets within the Americas, Asia 
Pacific and Continental Europe regions that are deemed to be impaired based on the likelihood of insufficient future economic benefits 
deriving from those assets. More detail regarding this impairment is provided in note 14.

The impairment of available-for-sale assets and write down of held-for-trading equity securities totalling £3,226,000, relates to an 
investment held by Cambridge in Big E Real Estates Inc and rights and warrants purchased alongside this investment, which offer the  
Group the opportunity to purchase additional shares at a future date. Included in this amount is £1,213,000 relating to cumulative 
revaluation losses previously taken to other comprehensive income and recycled to the income statement on the impairment of the 
available-for-sale asset. 

The onerous contract provision totalling £2,627,000, relates to a contract deemed to be onerous in the Asia Pacific region, based on the 
likelihood of future revenues not being sufficient to cover the expected future operating costs. 

The gain of £146,000 relates to the acquisition of 51% of Kedrios S.p.A.. For further details on this amount refer to note 32 (d).

The Cambridge acquisition and integration costs incurred in 2009 of £16,734,000 related to specific costs incurred as a consequence of  
the acquisition of Cambridge Solutions Limited and its subsidiaries (Cambridge). These costs were incurred as a result of the implementation 
of significant restructuring efforts to integrate Cambridge into the Xchanging business. Key aspects of the implementation programme 
included the major restructuring of the US BPO business (included in the Americas segment), with the significant consolidation of existing 
sites into a few key locations. The charge consists of costs related to the restructuring of the US BPO business, including onerous lease 
provisions, asset impairments, severance pay and other costs associated with the management and implementation of the integration plan.
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6 Exceptional items continued

As part of the Cambridge acquisition and integration costs, the consolidation of existing US sites into a few key locations has resulted in  
a number of vacant properties from which the Group has been unable to terminate its commitments. The onerous lease provisions created 
represent the remaining costs, primarily rent, associated with these vacant properties. The impairment of assets represents the accelerated 
depreciation on those assets associated with the vacant properties discussed above (refer note 22).

Lean processor strategy restructuring costs of £17,393,000 incurred in 2009 related to redundancy costs relating primarily to the UK  
and Germany. This reflects combining operations in the UK, further increasing offshoring activities to India, and streamlining operations  
in Germany.

An exceptional gain of £4,967,000 was recognised in 2009 from the release of the Phoenix provision. This provision was held against a 
potential liability arising from Fondsdepot Bank GmbH’s membership of the Entschädigungseinrichtung der Wertpapierhandelsunternehmen 
(EdW)	banking	group	in	Germany.	Fondsdepot	Bank	GmbH	obtained	a	full	banking	licence	in	January	2010,	and	subsequently	left	the	EdW.	
Consequently its obligation to make any future payments was removed.

The tax credit arising in respect of exceptional items is £1,125,000 (2009: £4,979,000).

7 Acquisition-related expenses

       2010  2009 
       £’000  £’000

Acquisition-related expenses incurred in respect of the following  
Legal fees      648	 	 834
Stamp duty      45  –
Other professional and advisers’ fees      465	 	 189

Total acquisition-related expenses       1,158  1,023

  
Included within:  
– Cost of sales      –  –
– Administrative expenses      1,158  1,023

        1,158  1,023

Acquisition-related expenses comprise those directly attributable costs of acquiring an entity which would have qualified for capitalisation 
under	the	principles	of	IFRS	3,	“Business	Combinations”.	With	the	adoption	of	IFRS	3	(revised)	by	the	Group	with	effect	from	1	January	2010,	
such costs are now required to be expensed as incurred. The £1,023,000 of acquisition-related expenses recognised at 31 December 2009 
related to costs incurred in respect of the acquisitions of FondsServiceBank and SEB Investmentservice GmbH, which did not complete 
before IFRS 3 (revised) came into effect.

The	£1,158,000	of	acquisition-related	expenses	incurred	in	the	financial	year	ended	31	December	2010	relate	to	the	acquisition	of	Kedrios	
S.p.A., Data Integration Limited and additional costs incurred in completing the acquisitions of FondsServiceBank and SEB Investmentservice 
GmbH.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 continued
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8		Employees	and	Directors

       2010  2009 
     Note  £’000  £’000

Staff costs for the Group during the year   
Wages and salaries (including Directors)      243,702	 	 252,658
Social security costs      22,973  25,444
Share-based payments    25  2,027  1,911
Pension costs – defined contribution schemes     7,231	 	 9,048
Pension costs – defined benefit schemes      4,204  4,526

         280,137	 	 293,587

Included within:   
– Cost of sales      264,571  274,164
– Administrative expenses      14,292  17,526

     5  278,863  291,690
– Net finance costs    9  1,274	 	 1,897

         280,137	 	 293,587

During	2010,	£7,202,281	of	staff	costs	was	capitalised	(2009:	£7,058,000).	

       2010  2009 
        Number  Number

Average monthly number of persons (including Executive Directors) employed by segment   
UK      2,747  2,477
Americas      2,254  2,957
Continental Europe      1,447  1,237
Asia Pacific      1,935	 	 1,805
Corporate      120  125

        8,503	 	 	8,601

Disclosures in relation to Director and key management compensation are included within the related party disclosures in note 34.  
Further information is provided in the remuneration report on pages 53 to 60 of this annual report.

9 Finance costs and income

       2010  2009 
      Note  £’000  £’000

Finance costs   
Bank and other interest      (3,142)  (2,755)
Interest cost on defined benefit pension schemes   32  (9,503)	 	 (8,966)
Imputed interest on put option to acquire non-controlling interest    (837)  (1,222)
Interest payable on finance lease arrangements     (61)  (123)
Amortisation of loan arrangement fees      (479)  (529)
Unwinding of discounts on provisions    22  (188)	 	 (688)

Total finance costs       (14,210)	 	 (14,283)

Finance income   
Bank interest      1,007  1,272
Expected return on plan assets – defined benefit pension schemes  32  8,229  7,069
Dividends received on available-for-sale financial assets     191  395
Other interest      44  246

Total finance income       9,471	 	 8,982

Net finance costs       (4,739)  (5,301)
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10 Taxation 

       2010  2009 
        £’000  £’000

Analysis of tax charge/(credit) in the period   
Current tax:   
– current tax on profits for the year      18,844  12,536
– adjustments in respect of prior years      (1,632)  1,156

Total current tax      17,212  13,692

Deferred tax:   
Origination and reversal of temporary differences      (4,659)  (7,175)
Impact of the change in the UK tax rate to 27%     446  –

        12,999  6,517

In	addition	to	the	above	amounts	charged	to	the	income	statement,	a	current	income	tax	credit	of	£838,000	(2009:	£696,000)	has	been	
recognised	in	equity,	of	which	£289,000	(2009:	nil)	has	been	credited	in	other	comprehensive	income	and	£549,000	(2009:	£696,000)	 
has	been	credited	directly	to	equity,	and	a	deferred	tax	debit	of	£734,000	(2009:	£468,000	credit),	has	been	recognised	in	equity	(note	23).

Factors affecting the current tax charge for the year
The	tax	for	the	period	is	higher	(2009:	higher)	than	the	standard	rate	of	corporation	tax	in	the	UK	of	28%	(2009:	28%).	The	differences	 
are explained below: 

         Restated 
       2010  2009 
        £’000  £’000

(Loss)/profit before tax      (60,301)	 	 18,435

(Loss)/profit	before	tax	multiplied	by	the	standard	rate	of	corporation	tax	in	the	UK	of	28%	(2009:	28%)	 (16,884)  5,162
Changes in tax rates      446  –
Goodwill impairment      30,343  –
Unutilised tax losses      781	 	 3,682
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes      1,452  1,123
Research & development credits      (350)  –
Tax in respect of prior years      (1,513)  432
Difference on foreign tax rates      (1,276)  (223)
Recognition of UK tax losses brought forward     –  (3,659)

Tax charge for the year      12,999  6,517

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 continued
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10 Taxation continued 

Factors that may affect future tax charges
Tax losses arising in the current and previous years and other temporary differences total an estimated carried forward amount of 
£11,853,000	in	the	UK	(2009:	£16,300,000),	and	losses	of	£90,714,000	in	the	US	(2009:	£65,300,000)	and	£6,104,000	(2009:	£2,280,000)	
in other tax jurisdictions. The US losses largely arise in Cambridge entities which were acquired in 2009.

A	number	of	changes	to	the	UK	Corporation	tax	system	were	announced	in	the	June	2010	Budget	Statement.	The	Finance	(No	2)	Act	
2010,	which	was	substantively	enacted	on	20	July	2010,	includes	legislation	reducing	the	main	rate	of	corporation	tax	from	28%	to	27%	
from	1	April	2011.	The	change	from	28%	to	27%	has	been	reflected	in	the	deferred	tax	asset	included	in	these	financial	statements.		

Proposed further reductions of the main rate of corporation tax by 1% per year to 24% by 1 April 2014 are expected to be enacted 
separately each year. These changes had not been substantively enacted at the balance sheet date and, therefore, are not included in these 
financial statements. The annual impact of the 1% reduction in the tax rate is expected to reduce the deferred tax asset included in the 
financial statements at each year end by approximately £400,000.

The tax (charge)/credit relating to components of other comprehensive income is as follows:

      2010   2009
     

     Tax (charge)/    Tax (charge)/ 
    Before tax credit Net of tax Before tax  credit Net of tax 
    £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Actuarial loss arising from defined benefit pension schemes (1,480) 481 (999)	 (8,475)	 2,411	 (6,064)
Revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets  325 (112) 213 324 (155) 169
Transfer of foreign exchange movement  
on hedged item to cost of acquisition    – – –	 (3,208)	 –	 (3,208)
Currency translation differences   5,847 – 5,847 2,912 – 2,912

Other comprehensive income/(loss)   4,692 369 5,061	 (8,447)	 2,256	 (6,191)

Current tax     289    – 
Deferred tax    80   2,256 

Total tax    369   2,256 

11 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to equity holders of the Company by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares of Xchanging plc. For diluted earnings per share, the weighted average number of ordinary shares in existence  
is adjusted to include all potential dilutive ordinary shares. The Group has two types of potential dilutive ordinary shares: share options,  
and share awards under the Performance Share Plan to the extent that the performance criteria for vesting of the awards are expected  
to be met. 

        Weighted 
        average 
        number of Earnings 
       Earnings shares per share 
        £’000 thousands pence

Basic earnings per share:   
– 31 December 2010      (78,817) 238,950 (32.98)
– 31 December 2009 (restated)      6,367 235,447 2.70
Diluted earnings per share:   
– 31 December 2010      (78,817) 238,950 (32.98)
–	31	December	2009	(restated)	 	 	 	 	 	 6,367	 238,059	 2.67

The incremental shares from assumed conversions are not included in calculating the diluted earnings per share in 2010 as the numerator  
is negative (i.e. loss from continuing operations attributable to equity holders of the Company).
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11 Earnings per share continued

Underlying/adjusted basic and diluted earnings per share
In addition to the above, underlying and adjusted earnings per share values are disclosed to provide a better understanding of the 
performance of the Group. The underlying value is the KPI used to measure the Group’s performance in 2010. 

The following reflects the share data used in the underlying/adjusted basic and diluted earnings per share calculations:

       2010  2009 
         thousands  thousands

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic earnings per share   238,950  235,447
Dilutive potential ordinary shares:   
– employee share options      974  2,612
– awards under the Performance Share Plan      –  –

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for diluted earnings per share   239,924	 	 238,059

      Underlying   Adjusted
     

     Weighted   Weighted 
     average   average 
     number of Earnings  number of Earnings 
    Earnings shares per share Earnings shares per share 
     £’000 thousands pence £’000 thousands pence

Basic earnings per share:      
– 31 December 2010   37,265 238,950 15.60 28,653 238,950 11.99
–	31	December	2009	(restated)	 	 	 36,259	 235,447	 15.40	 30,337	 235,447	 12.88
Diluted earnings per share:      
– 31 December 2010   37,265 239,924 15.53 28,653 239,924 11.94
–	31	December	2009	(restated)	 	 	 36,259	 238,059	 15.23	 30,337	 238,059	 12.74

The underlying and adjusted earnings per share figures are calculated based on the Xchanging share of underlying or adjusted net profit, 
divided by the basic and diluted weighted average number of shares as stated above.

The Xchanging share of underlying and adjusted profit for the year is calculated as follows:

         Restated 
       2010  2009 
         £’000  £’000

Profit for the year attributable to Xchanging equity holders    (78,817)  6,367
Exceptional items (net of tax)      111,372  24,179
Acquisition-related expenses (net of tax)      1,074  1,023
Amortisation of intangible assets previously unrecognised by an acquired entity (net of tax)  5,835  6,192
Imputed interest and fair value adjustments on put options (net of tax)    1,019  1,094
Non-controlling interests’ share of adjustments (net of tax)     (3,218)  (2,596)

Underlying profit for the year attributable to Xchanging equity holders    37,265  36,259
Xchanging share of post tax impact of one-off items     (8,612)  (5,922)

Adjusted profit for the year attributable to Xchanging equity holders    28,653  30,337

12 Dividends per share

No dividends relating to the year ended 31 December 2010 have been declared. A dividend of 2.75 pence per share relating to the year 
ended	31	December	2009,	amounting	to	£6,573,000	(2009:	£5,487,000)	was	paid	on	1	April	2010,	to	members	registered	at	the	close	 
of business on 19 March 2010.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 continued
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13 Goodwill

        Note  £’000

Cost  
At	1	January	2009	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 95,558
Business combinations        166,401
Revision	of	deferred	contingent	consideration	on	prior	year	business	combinations	 	 	 	 	 1,812
Exchange	adjustments	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 (4,158)

At 31 December 2009         259,613
Business combinations      31	 	 19,181
Exchange	adjustments	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 10,885

At 31 December 2010        289,679

  
Aggregate impairment  
At 1 January 2009, and 31 December 2009         –
Impairment	loss		 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 (99,388)

At 31 December 2010        (99,388)

  
Net book amount  
At	1	January	2009	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 95,558
At 31 December 2009        259,613
At 31 December 2010         190,291

Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units (CGUs) identified according to operating business, this being the lowest level  
at which assets generate separately identifiable cash inflows independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets.

An analysis of goodwill by segment is as follows:

      2009 Acquisitions Exchange Impairment 2010 
      £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

UK      
Procurement	and	HR	 	 	 	 58,718	 –	 –	 –	 58,718
Technology	 	 	 	 8,460	 6,852	 –	 –	 15,312
Insurance services    3,971   – 3,971
Advisory services    3,794 – – (3,794) –
       
Americas      
US BPO    52,325 – 1,546 (50,400) 3,471
Technology	 	 	 	 24,885	 –	 484	 –	 25,369
       
Continental Europe      
Financial	services	 	 	 	 7,191	 12,329	 (797)	 –	 18,723
Procurement	 	 	 	 5,877	 –	 (283)	 (5,594)	 –
       
Asia Pacific      
Australia	BPO	 	 	 	 38,296	 –	 6,573	 (39,600)	 5,269
India	BPO	 	 	 	 56,096	 –	 3,362	 –	 59,458
       

Total    259,613 19,181 10,885 (99,388) 190,291
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Impairment testing of goodwill
   Basis of Operating  Terminal 
  cash flows margin range Growth rate¹ growth rate Discount rate

UK      
Procurement	and	HR	 Value	in	use	 3.8%-5%	 3.0%-7.8%	 0%	 10%
Technology	 Value	in	use	 8%-11.6%		 10%	 0%	 10%
Insurance	services	 Value	in	use	 18%-24%	 3%	 0%	 10%
Advisory services Value in use 0% 0% 0% 10%
       
Americas      
US BPO Value in use/FVLCTS² -9.5%-9.6% 0%-10% 0% 11%
Technology Value in use -1.6%-6.4% 10% 2.50% 10%
       
Continental Europe      
Financial services Value in use 1.65%-14% 0%-4.2% 0% 10%
Procurement Value in use 0% 0% 0% 10%
       
Asia Pacific      
Australia	BPO	 Value	in	use/FVLCTS²	 0%-18%	 2.30%	 0%	 11%
India BPO Value in use 19% 10% 2.50% 10%

1Based on compound growth rate over 5 years.   

2FVLCTS = Fair value less costs to sell.   

Where the recoverable amount of a CGU has been determined based on value-in-use, the value-in-use calculations use pre-tax cash flow  
projections based on budgets approved by the management of the CGU and the Board (which cover a one year period) as well as cash  
flows for years 2-5 using management’s expectations of sales growth, operating costs and margin based on past experience and 
expectations regarding future performance and profitability for each individual CGU. 

With the exception of Cambridge ITO (included within Americas Technology) and India BPO, a terminal value is then added using a nil 
growth rate assumption. For Cambridge ITO and India BPO CGUs, a terminal value has been calculated using a long term growth rate  
of 2.5% given the high growth profile of the markets in which these CGUs operate. The long-term growth rates used do not exceed  
the long-term average market growth rates in which the CGUs operate.

For the Australia BPO and US BPO CGUs, cash flows are monitored at a level lower than that used for goodwill impairment testing.  
In both of these CGUs, recoverable amount has been determined for part of the business based on fair value less costs to sell where past 
performance may indicate a need to consider strategic options because this results in a higher recoverable amount. The remainder of each 
CGU has been valued on a value in use basis. For goodwill impairment testing, cash flows are aggregated to determine the recoverable 
amount for the CGU as a whole.

For Australia BPO, fair value less costs to sell has been determined based on the expected cash flows in respect of the contract for 2011.

For US BPO, fair value less costs to sell has been determined based on an analysis of the potential proceeds that could be obtained from sale 
less expected costs of disposal, including operating cash flows to the point of expected sale. This was based on a comparison to businesses 
with similar characteristics operating in the same industry and market completed by a third party.

A discount rate ranging between 10.00%-11.00% (2009: 10.00%) is applied to cash flow projections. The discount rate is based on 
management’s estimate of the Group’s weighted average cost of capital, with an appropriate risk adjustment depending on the CGU. 
Management believes it is appropriate to use rates within this range on the basis that cash flows are adjusted as considered appropriate  
to reflect any risks associated with operating within specific geographic or operational segments. The increase in discount rate applied  
to certain CGUs reflects the increased risk profile within the respected markets.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 continued
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Impairment charges
All impairment charges have been recorded in the income statement within administrative expenses.

The impairment charge in the Americas segment relating to Cambridge US BPO arises due to the underperformance of certain elements 
within the workers compensation business and the requirement to assess strategic options in the future in relation to elements of 
underperformance. Notwithstanding this, the Group remains committed to developing a market presence and leveraging from the higher 
performing elements within the US BPO market which supports the remaining goodwill balance in the Cambridge US BPO CGU at  
31 December 2010 of £3,471,000.

The impairment charge in the Asia Pacific segment relating to Cambridge Australia BPO reflects significant underperformance in  
2010 within the injured workers processing business and future uncertainty in relation to likely compensation, a proportion of which  
is determined by factors outside the direct control of the business. However, the presence in the Asia Pacific (including Australian)  
market continues to provide opportunities to the Group which supports the remaining goodwill balance in the Australia BPO CGU  
at 31 December 2010 of £5,269,000.

The impairment charge in Continental Europe relates to the European procurement business, and in the UK it relates to Advisory services. 
Both impairments have arisen due to continued underperformance of these CGUs during 2010. The goodwill balances for both these  
CGUs have been impaired in full at 31 December 2010.

Sensitivity analysis
In relation to remaining goodwill balances across the Group, sensitivity analysis performed on the current base case assumptions fully 
supports the carrying value of the remaining goodwill. However, in some cases, a significant change in material key assumptions could 
cause the carrying amount of goodwill allocated to certain CGUs to exceed their recoverable amount. In particular non-renewal of material 
customer contracts in the future could impact the recoverable amount of goodwill within certain CGUs, particularly in the UK region, 
although this is not considered likely at this time.

There is residual goodwill of £3,471,000 and £5,269,000 in the US BPO and Australia BPO CGUs respectively after impairing the goodwill 
to its recoverable amount. An adverse change in assumptions under the fair value less costs to sell valuation, for example the timing of exit 
from underperforming businesses, would directly impact the residual carrying value and would lead to a further impairment. For the parts 
of the business valued using value in use, a 1% reduction in growth rate would reduce goodwill by £3,200,000 and £400,000 in US BPO 
and Australia BPO respectively.

For all other CGUs, a reasonably possible change to a key assumption is not anticipated to result in the carrying value of goodwill exceeding 
the recoverable amount. 
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       Customer Assets in the 
     Development  contractual course of 
     costs Software  relationships development Total 
     £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost     
At	1	January	2009	 	 	 	 17,259	 81,871	 6,764	 –	 105,894
Business	combination	 	 	 	 –		 439	 24,658	 104	 25,201
Additions	–	internal	 	 	 	 2,652	 4,667	 	–	 1,219	 8,538
Additions – external    446 9,045 – 645 10,136
Disposals    – (29)  –  – (29)
Exchange	adjustments	 	 	 	 –	 (8,197)	 (1,540)	 (130)	 (9,867)

At 31 December 2009    20,357 87,796 29,882 1,838 139,873
Business	combinations	(note	32)	 	 	 	 208	 279	 13,795	 192	 14,474
Additions	–	internal	 	 	 	 933	 6,819	 –	 1,142	 8,894
Additions	–	external	 	 	 	 212	 5,617	 –	 489	 6,318
Transfers	(to)/from	tangibles	 	 	 	 –	 833	 –	 (645)	 188
Transfer	from	assets	in	the	course	of	development	 	 	 –	 1,881	 –	 (1,881)	 –
Transfers (to)/from other intangibles assets    (3,412) 3,412 – – –
Disposals/write-offs    (2) (2,244) – – (2,246)
Exchange	adjustments	 	 	 	 6	 (1,758)	 794	 32	 (926)

At 31 December 2010    18,302 102,635 44,471 1,167 166,575

     
Amortisation     
At	1	January	2009	 	 	 	 7,731	 36,866	 2,819	 –	 47,416
Charge	for	the	year	 	 	 	 2,252	 10,380	 10,330	 	–	 22,962
Disposals     –   (3) –  – (3)
Exchange	adjustments	 	 	 	 –	 (5,921)	 83	 	–	 (5,838)

At 31 December 2009    9,983 41,322 13,232 – 64,537
Charge	for	the	year	 	 	 	 2,130	 16,748	 9,466	 –	 28,344
Impairment	losses	 	 	 	 1,851	 5,129	 421	 –	 7,401
Transfers from tangibles    – 141 – – 141
Transfers	(to)/from	other	intangibles	assets	 	 	 	 (849)	 849	 –	 –	 –
Disposals/write-offs	 	 	 	 (2)	 (1,466)	 –	 –	 (1,468)
Exchange adjustments    – (546) 526 – (20)

At 31 December 2010    13,113 62,177 23,645 – 98,935

     
Net book amount     
At	1	January	2009	 	 	 	 9,528	 45,005	 3,945	 	–	 58,478
At 31 December 2009    10,374 46,474 16,650 1,838 75,336
At 31 December 2010    5,189 40,458 20,826 1,167 67,640

Amortisation expense of £26,925,000 (2009: £21,769,000) has been charged through cost of sales, and £1,419,000 (2009: £1,193,000) 
through administrative expenses. 

The impairment losses for the year of £7,401,000 (2009: £nil) have been charged through exceptional items in the income statement.  
For an explanation of the impairment losses refer to note 6.

Of	the	customer	contractual	relationship	amortisation	charge	for	the	year	of	£9,466,000	(2009:	£10,380,000),	£9,181,000	 
(2009: £9,957,000) relates to amortisation previously unrecognised by an acquired entity. 

Significant individual assets which are included in the balances above are as follows:

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 continued
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Software
•		Xchanging	Insurance	Application	Platform	(XIAP)	asset	which	is	a	global	insurance	application	platform	and	provides	support	for	 

the full insurance life cycle including quotation, claim notification as well as payment and settlement. The asset has a carrying amount  
of	£9,638,000	and	is	made	up	of	several	components	being	amortised	to	2016.

•		Insurance	Market	Repository	(IMR)	asset	which	is	a	repository	for	insurance	data.	The	asset	has	a	carrying	amount	of	£5,800,000	 
and the remaining amortisation period is 1.75 years.

•		Abgeltungssteuer	German	withholding	tax	processing	system	developed	to	provide	regulatory	tax	reporting	requirements	for	financial	
services customers based in Germany. The asset has a carrying amount of £3,265,000 (after impairment of £3,223,000) and the 
remaining amortisation period is 3 years.

•		Funds	administration	processing	platform,	including	costs	of	migration	of	new	customers	on	to	the	platform.	The	asset	has	a	carrying	
amount of £2,116,000 and is made up of several components being amortised to 2014.

Customer Contractual Relationships
•		Open	architecture	customer	contracts	relating	to	investment	fund	administration.	The	asset	has	a	carrying	amount	of	£9,695,000	 

and the remaining amortisation period is 9.25 years.

•		Contractual	relationship	relating	to	the	Asia	Pacific	workers’	compensation	contract.	The	asset	has	a	carrying	amount	of	£2,905,000	 
and the remaining amortisation period is 4 years.

•		Contractual	relationship	relating	to	investment	fund	administration.	The	asset	has	a	carrying	value	amount	of	£1,224,000	and	the	
remaining amortisation period is 2.17 years.

•		Consumer	claims	customer	contracts	acquired	with	the	Cambridge	BPO	US	business.	These	assets	have	a	carrying	amount	of	£1,900,000	
and will be fully amortised by 2013.

•		Network	managed	services	customers	acquired	with	Data	Integration.	These	assets	have	a	carrying	amount	of	£1,556,000	and	is	being	
amortised to 2015.

Impairment losses
Software
During the year an impairment loss of £3,223,000 was recognised in respect in the Continental Europe reporting segment. The impairment 
arises due to lower revenues being derived from the service which the software supports. The recoverable amount of the asset has been 
determined based on value-in-use calculations using a discount rate of 10% (2009: 10%). 

Development costs
During	the	year	an	impairment	loss	of	£1,851,000	was	recognised	in	respect	of	an	intangible	asset	relating	to	the	workers’	compensation	
process re-engineering which forms part of the Corporate reporting segment. Given the under performance of the US workers’ 
compensation business in 2010 and our strategic review of the business, the future economic benefit expected to be derived from the  
asset is not deemed to be sufficient to support its carrying amount. The recoverable amount of the asset has been determined based  
on value-in-use calculations using a discount rate of 11% (2009: 10%).

The remaining impairments of software and customer contractual relationships primarily relate to Asia Pacific workers’ compensation 
business which underperformed in 2010.
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        Assets in the 
    Leasehold Computer Fixtures and Motor course of  
    improvements equipment fittings vehicles development Total 
     £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost      
At	1	January	2009	 	 	 11,215	 25,509	 9,667	 61	 3,393	 49,845
Business	combinations	 	 	 1,384	 2,634	 4,202	 276	 16	 8,512
Additions	 	 	 1,642	 8,114	 1,913	 103	 1,868	 13,640
Transfers	to/(from)	assets	in	the	course	of	development	 	 –	 4,418	 –	 	–	 (4,418)	 	–
Write-offs    – (396) (57) (59)  – (512)
Disposals   (237) (3,210) (1,391) (102) (159) (5,099)
Exchange	adjustments	 	 	 (522)	 (1,869)	 (1,147)	 (19)	 (8)	 (3,565)

At 31 December 2009   13,482 35,200 13,187 260 692 62,821
Business	combinations	(note	32)	 	 	 24	 44	 40	 –	 –	 108
Additions    626 6,769 626 121 1,067 9,209
Transfers	(to)/from	tangibles	 	 	 –	 (188)	 –	 –	 –	 (188)
Transfers to/(from) assets in the course of development   40 715 40 – (795) –
Disposals   (534) (1,690) (946) (172) – (3,342)
Exchange	adjustments	 	 	 180	 2	 454	 29	 10	 675

At 31 December 2010   13,818 40,852 13,401 238 974 69,283

      
Depreciation      
At	1	January	2009	 	 	 4,022	 15,937	 5,339	 61	 –	 25,359
Charge	for	the	year	 	 	 703	 9,693	 3,057	 133	 –	 13,586
Impairment loss   134 212 695 –  – 1,041
Write-offs	 	 	 –	 (363)	 (56)	 (59)	 	–	 (478)
Disposals		 	 	 (237)	 (3,198)	 (1,300)	 (67)	 –	 (4,802)
Exchange	adjustments	 	 	 (271)	 (1,483)	 (839)	 1	 –	 (2,592)

At 31 December 2009   4,351 20,798 6,896 69 – 32,114
Charge	for	the	year	 	 	 2,166	 5,187	 2,583	 108	 	–	 10,044
Transfers (to)/from tangibles   – (141) – – – (141)
Disposals		 	 	 (533)	 (1,535)	 (854)	 (125)	 	–	 (3,047)
Exchange adjustments   112 72 371 20 – 575

At 31 December 2010   6,096 24,381 8,996 72 – 39,545

      
Net book value      
At	1	January	2009	 	 	 7,193	 9,572	 4,328	 –	 3,393	 24,486
At 31 December 2009   9,131 14,402 6,291 191 692 30,707
At 31 December 2010   7,722 16,471 4,405 166 974 29,738

Depreciation expense of £9,105,000 (2009: £12,941,000) has been charged through cost of sales, and £939,000 (2009: £645,000) 
through administrative expenses. 

Included in property, plant and equipment are fixtures and fittings held under finance leases with a net book value of £337,000  
(2009: £901,000) and motor vehicles with a net book value of £40,000 (2009: £nil).

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 continued
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       2010  2009 
Non-current available-for-sale financial assets      £’000  £’000

At	1	January	 	 	 	 	 	 26,264	 	 26,782
Business combinations       –  394
Additions       780		 	 518
Impairment loss      (585)  –
Net (losses)/gains transferred to equity       (887)   324
Exchange adjustments      (1,008)  (1,754)

At 31 December       24,564  26,264

The	impairment	loss	for	the	year	of	£585,000	(2009:	£nil)	has	been	charged	through	exceptional	items	in	the	income	statement.	 
This amount is included in the total impairment loss of available-for-sale assets of £1,797,000 in note 6.

Available-for-sale financial assets include the following:

       2010  2009 
         £’000  £’000

Listed equity securities – Eurozone      3,839	 	 4,428
Listed debt security      20,725	 	 21,268
Unlisted equity securities       –	 	 568

Total available-for-sale financial assets       24,564  26,264

The listed equity securities are held at fair value, based on the listed price of the securities at the year end date. The underlying currency  
of these investments is the Euro. 

The listed debt security investments are held within our Xchanging Transaction Bank Enterprise Partnership and are held at fair value, based 
on the listed price of the securities at the year end date. Conversion of the listed debt security investments into cash is restricted under the 
terms	of	a	trust	agreement	until	18	March	2017.	The	listed	debt	security	may	be	transferred	between	specific	investment	classes	under	the	
terms of the trust agreement. The underlying currency of these investments is the Euro. 

The unlisted equity securities investment represented an investment held by Cambridge in Big E Real Estate Inc and has been impaired 
during the year. The underlying currency of the above investment was the US Dollar. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of the debt securities classified as available-for-sale.
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17 Trade and other receivables

         Restated 
       2010  2009 
     Note  £’000  £’000

Current trade and other receivables   
Trade receivables – non-related parties      60,490  52,733
Trade receivables – related parties    34  7,300  10,775

Trade receivables      67,790	 	 63,508
Less provision for impairment of receivables (see below)      (5,459)  (7,316)

Net trade receivables      62,331  56,192
Corporate income taxes receivable      285  1,322
Other receivables      17,143  6,536
Other receivables – related parties    34  –	 	 1,872
Loans to related parties    34  3,071  1,962
Prepayments – non-related parties      18,793  24,365
Accrued income – non-related parties      53,587	 	 57,380
Accrued income – related parties    34  2,503  –
Held-for-trading equity securities (see below)      1,189  1,711
Pre-contract costs (see below)      1,429  1,336

Total current trade and other receivables      160,331  152,676

Non-current trade and other receivables   
Other receivables      872  749
Prepayments      1,308  –
Pre-contract costs (see below)      2,235	 	 3,358

Total non-current trade and other receivables      4,415  4,107

   

       2010  2009 
         £’000  £’000

Held-for-trading equity securities   
At	1	January	 	 	 	 	 	 1,711  466
Business combination      –  1,527
Additions      882  –
Write down      (1,429)  –
Disposals      –	 	 (108)
Exchange adjustments       25  (174)

At 31 December        1,189  1,711

    

       2010  2009 
       Note  £’000  £’000

Pre-contract costs   
Written	down	value	at	1	January	 	 	 	 	 	 4,694	 	 4,887
Pre-contract costs deferred in the year      419  1,129
Exchange adjustments       55  66
Amortisation charge for the year    5  (1,478)  (1,423)
Costs written off in the year      (26)  35
Costs recovered in the year      –  –

Written down value at 31 December        3,664  4,694

The carrying values of all financial assets within trade and other receivables are considered to approximate to their fair values. It has been 
assumed that the loans to related parties will be repaid in the short term and no discounting has been applied. The maximum exposure  
to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of each class of receivable mentioned above. The Group does not hold any collateral  
as security.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 continued
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17 Trade and other receivables continued

As at 31 December 2010, trade receivables of £30,061,000 (2009: £27,421,000) were past due but not impaired. These relate to a number 
of independent customers for whom there is no recent history of default. All trade receivables, whether current or past due, are reviewed 
for impairment on a case-by-case basis to identify impairment taking into account the ageing of the debt, the likelihood of recoverability 
and other external factors. The ageing analysis of the trade receivables is as follows:

       2010  2009 
         £’000  £’000

Neither past due nor impaired      32,270	 	 28,771
Past due:   
1 – 30 days       15,492   15,095
31 – 60 days       5,855   5,091
61 – 90 days      3,464   4,456
Over 90 days      5,250   2,779

Net trade receivables       62,331   56,192

Included in over 90 days above is £2,263,000 owing by Campagnie Pour Assistance Technique et Investissements S.A. (‘CATISA’).  
This amount is still regarded as recoverable.

Movements on the Group’s provision for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

       2010  2009 
         £’000  £’000

At	1	January	 	 	 	 	 	 7,316  972
Business combinations (note 31)      388  5,924
Charged/(credited) to Cost of Sales in the income statement:   
– provided in the year       1,179		 	 1,861
– released in the year      (787)  (602)
Used in the year      (2,847)	 	 (348)
Exchange adjustments      210  (491)

At 31 December       5,459   7,316

The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s receivables, inclusive of deferred tax assets, are denominated in the following currencies:

         Restated 
       2010  2009 
         £’000  £’000

Sterling      102,577   102,095
Euros      49,942   45,236
US Dollars      14,905   14,017
Australian Dollars      6,439   15,232
Indian Rupees      9,539   2,990
Other      3,027	 	 	2,228

At 31 December      186,429	 	 	181,798



102 Xchanging  
Annual report and accounts 2010

18	Cash	and	cash	equivalents

       2010  2009 
         £’000  £’000

Cash at bank and in hand – held in Enterprise Partnerships     61,002  31,479
Cash at bank and in hand – held in non-Enterprise Partnerships    18,244	 	 28,636

Cash at bank and in hand      79,246  60,115
Short-term deposits – held in non-Enterprise Partnerships     1,458  –

Cash and cash equivalents       80,704  60,115

The cash reflected on the Group’s balance sheet not only includes cash immediately accessible for operations but also includes cash held 
within the Enterprise Partnerships. The Enterprise Partnerships make cash payments to the Group on an annual, or in some cases quarterly, 
basis as contractual dividends and licence fees. Cash held in Enterprise Partnerships represents of accrued or unpaid licence fees, retained 
profit and working capital. Licence fees are based on revenue and paid to Xchanging annually or quarterly. Enterprise Partnerships operate  
a 100% profit distribution policy and dividends are paid to shareholders on an annual basis.

Included	within	the	2009	comparative	for	cash	and	cash	equivalents	is	an	amount	of	US$4,500,000	(£2,825,200)	which	was	required	 
by the courts to be placed in an escrow account pending final settlement of an ongoing litigation claim. This claim has now been settled 
and the cash paid during the year ending 31 December 2010.

19 Trade and other payables

         Restated 
       2010  2009 
     Note  £’000  £’000

Current trade and other payables   
Trade payables – non-related parties       34,333		 	 23,080
Trade payables – related parties     34  12,934		 	 8,612

Trade payables       47,267   31,692
Social security and other taxes       13,231		 	 12,818
Other payables – non-related parties       18,125   19,793
Other payables – related parties       484   –
Accruals – non related parties       75,041   70,539
Accruals – related parties       2,375		 	 3,489
Deferred income – non related parties    20   20,211   20,077
Deferred income – related parties    20/34   126   –
Dividends payable to non-controlling interests     –  2,021

Total current trade and other payables       176,860  160,429

Non-current trade and other payables   
Other payables – non-related parties      969  1,396
Accruals – non related parties       1,057   544
Deferred income – non related parties       16,140   23,233
Social security and other taxes        102   332

Total non-current trade and other payables       18,268   25,505

In the comparative amounts for deferred income – non related parties, £544,000 has been reclassified to accruals (non-current), 
£1,396,000	has	been	reclassified	to	other	payables	(non-current)	and	£148,000	has	been	reclassified	to	other	payables	(current).

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 continued
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19 Trade and other payables continued

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other payables, inclusive of deferred tax and current tax liabilities, are denominated  
in the following currencies:

       2010  2009 
         £’000  £’000

Sterling      88,480	 	 96,448
Euros      65,438	 	 42,786
US Dollars      33,278	 	 38,662
Australian Dollars      10,827  17,575
Indian Rupees      11,719  7,076
Other      2,122  1,545

At 31 December      211,864  204,092

The carrying values of all financial liabilities within trade and other payables are considered to approximate to their fair values.

20 Deferred income

The reconciliation of movements in deferred income, disclosed in note 19 above, is as follows:

       2010  2009 
        £’000  £’000

At	1	January		 	 	 	 	 	 43,310  17,706
Business combinations (note 31)      3,082  33,429
Revenue deferred in year      15,122	 	 21,989
Revenue recognised in the income statement in year     (25,813)  (26,361)
Exchange adjustments      776  (3,453)

At 31 December      36,477  43,310

The balance at the end of the reporting period comprised the following:

       2010  2009 
        £’000  £’000

Workers compensation claims handling      20,599	 	 25,558
Software maintenance and licence fees      5,624  9,010
Other      4,342	 	 2,687

Amounts to be credited to revenue in future periods    30,565  37,255
Lease incentive      5,912  6,055

Total      36,477  43,310

The Group holds deferred income relating to an onerous run off contract operated by Cambridge. This revenue is released against the 
ongoing	operating	costs	of	serving	the	contract,	primarily	labour	and	the	associated	overheads.	Revenue	of	£2,474,000	(2009:	£1,948,000)	
has been recognised at a margin of £161,000 (6.7%) (2009: £133,000 at 6.7% margin).

Included in deferred income is £5,912,000 (2009: £6,055,000) relating to a lease incentive which is being amortised over the lease term. 
The amount which is amortised is off-set against the lease expense in the income statement.
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21 Financial liabilities

       2010  2009 
        £’000  £’000

Current borrowings   
Bank loans and overdrafts      16,398   15,634
Finance lease liabilities      619  727

Total current borrowings      17,017  16,361

   
Non-current borrowings   
Bank loans       39,458  22,334
Finance lease liabilities       933  394
Receivable purchase facility      159	 	 198

Total non-current borrowings      40,550   22,926 

   
Current other financial liabilities   
Put options to acquire the non-controlling interest in Enterprise Partnerships    22,554  900
Deferred consideration on acquisitions        5,000    –

Total current other financial liabilities      27,554  900

   
Non-current other financial liabilities   
Put options to acquire the non-controlling interest in Enterprise Partnerships    3,649  22,404
Deferred consideration on acquisitions      1,500  –

Total non-current other financial liabilities     5,149  22,404

The Group has non-controlling shareholders in four Enterprise Partnerships that hold the right to sell their shares to the Group at a future 
date. The estimated future cash flows associated with these options are discounted back to their present value.

Further detail regarding credit facilities, letter of credit and commitments is provided in note 33. 

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial liabilities are denominated in the following currencies:

       2010  2009 
         £’000  £’000

Sterling      16,902		 	 8,652
Euros      16,620   14,095
US Dollars      54,552		 	 34,681
Indian Rupees      –  5,153
Singapore Dollars      2,196   10

At 31 December       90,270   62,591

The fair value of the current financial liabilities equals their carrying amount, as the impact of discounting is not significant. The carrying 
amounts and fair value of the current and non-current financial liabilities are as follows:

         Carrying amount  Fair value
       

      2010 2009 2010 2009 
        £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Bank loans and overdrafts     55,856	 37,968	 55,856	 37,968
Finance lease liabilities     1,552 1,121 1,552 1,121
Receivable purchase facility     159	 198	 159	 198
Deferred consideration on acquisitions     6,500 – 6,500 –
Put options to acquire the non-controlling interest in Enterprise Partnerships  26,203 23,304 26,203 23,304

        90,270 62,591 90,270 62,591

Detail regarding securities provided over the bank loans and overdrafts is provided in note 33.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 continued
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21 Financial liabilities continued

The fair values of the put options are based on cash flows discounted using a rate based on the year end effective interest rate of 4.00% 
for Sterling-denominated instruments and 4.00% for Euro-denominated instruments (2009: 3.75% for Sterling-denominated instruments 
and 3.75% for Euro-denominated instruments). The fair values of the bank loans and overdrafts are assumed to equal their carrying value 
as these are recent arm’s length transactions, and are subject to floating rate interest rates determined by movements in LIBOR.

The finance leases held by the Group relate to leased assets including computer equipment and other various items of office equipment.

The gross finance lease obligation is as follows:

       2010  2009 
        £’000  £’000

Expiring within one year      642	 	 786
Expiring later than one year but not more than five years     937  420

Gross finance lease obligation       1,579  1,206
Future finance charges on finance leases      (27)	 	 	(85)

Present value of finance lease liabilities       1,552   1,121

The present value of finance lease liabilities is as follows:

       2010  2009 
        £’000  £’000

Expiring within one year      619  727
Expiring later than one year but not more than five years     933  394

         1,552   1,121

22 Provisions

    Onerous    Employee  
    leases and  Operational Litigation related  
   Phoenix contracts Restructuring risk provision provisions  Other Total 
   Note £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At	1	January	2009	 	 5,230	 3,701	 811	 1,336	 –	 5,327	 2,900	 19,305
Business	combination	 	 –	 14,739	 482	 –	 7,397	 664	 2,638	 25,920
Reallocation	of	provisions		 	 –	 –		 -	 –	 –	 (908)	 908	 –
Charged/(credited)  
to the income statement: 
–	provided	in	the	year	 	 –	 2,843	 17,039	 623	 511	 856	 1,626	 23,498
–	released	in	the	year	 	 (4,967)	 (2,202)	 –	 (112)	 –	 (7)	 (602)	 (7,890)
– unwinding of discount 9	 183	 498	 –	 –	 –	 –	 7	 688
Used	in	the	year	 	 	–	 (4,838)	 (1,167)	 (82)	 (304)	 (1,504)	 (1,806)	 (9,701)
Exchange	adjustments	 	 (446)	 (1,480)	 45	 (97)	 (670)	 (313)	 (408)	 (3,369)

At 31 December 2009  – 13,261 17,210 1,668 6,934 4,115 5,263 48,451
Business combinations 31	 –	 1,730	 2,578	 –	 –	 43	 204	 4,555
Charged/(credited)  
to the income statement:
–	provided	in	the	year	 	 –	 3,543	 –	 246	 845	 438	 942	 6,014
– released in the year  – (1,265) – (335) (79) (36) (1,475) (3,190)
– unwinding of discount 9	 –	 144	 43	 –	 –	 –	 1	 188
Used in the year  – (5,719) (12,524) (612) (4,227) (975) (1,134) (25,191)
Exchange	adjustments	 	 –	 342	 (274)	 (78)	 210	 (95)	 122	 227

At 31 December 2010  – 12,036 7,033 889 3,683 3,490 3,923 31,054
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22 Provisions continued

Provisions have been analysed between current and non-current as follows:

       2010  2009 
         £’000  £’000

Current      23,160  32,057
Non-current      7,894  16,394

         31,054	 	 48,451

The Phoenix provision related to future payments which one of the Group companies, Fondsdepot Bank GmbH, may have had to make 
to the Entschädigungseinrichtung der Wertpapierhandelsunternehmen (EdW), a federal special fund aimed at protecting investors, as a 
result of a securities fraud committed by one of the EdW member companies. As Fondsdepot Bank GmbH has subsequently left the EdW 
following	it	obtaining	a	full	banking	licence	in	January	2010,	the	Phoenix	provision	is	no	longer	required,	and	has	been	released	in	full.

Included in the onerous leases and contracts provision are onerous leases relating to dilapidations and shortfalls between expected sub-
letting rents and future costs on a number of operating leases. These provisions were largely acquired by the Xchanging Group as part of 
the acquisition of Cambridge Solutions Limited and mostly arises within the Americas region. The onerous leases provided for have between 
one and six years left to run. Estimates have been made of the costs expected to be incurred in relation to onerous leases and the likelihood 
of income to be received from subtenants. Also included in the onerous leases and contracts provision is an onerous contract provision in 
the workers’ compensation business of £2,374,000. Estimates have been made of the future losses expected to be incurred with respect  
to this contract.

The restructuring provision recognised at the end of 31 December 2009 related to an estimate of the cost of the lean processor strategy 
restructuring of the Xchanging Group announced in 2009.The restructuring plans have now been completed and the remaining provision 
at 31 December 2010 reflects the expected cash outflows in 2011 remaining against those plans. An additional restructuring provision  
was acquired by the Xchanging Group as part of the Kedrios S.p.A. acquisition intended to be used as noted in note 31(d).

The operational risk provision comprises an estimated liability in respect of identified operating errors which had occurred in the ordinary 
course of business in the Continental Europe region up to 31 December 2010. This is an ongoing provision representative of the nature  
of the securities processing market.

The litigation provision relates to a number of ongoing claims arising primarily within the US BPO business. The utilisation of the litigation 
provision is dependent on the timing of the settlement of the underlying cases. The settlement is, to an extent, outside the Group’s control 
and there is therefore an element of uncertainty regarding the timing of the provision’s utilisation. Estimates have been made of the 
expected cash outflows in relation to future and current litigation.

The employee related provision primarily includes early and part-time retirement provisions as well as long service provisions. For long 
service awards, the awards take the form of either a payment or paid leave and has been based on actuarial valuations which are updated 
at each reporting date. The gratuity provisions as well as the early and part-time retirement provision both have an element of uncertainty 
surrounding the amount and timing of utilisation of these provisions and are all based on best estimates. 

The other provisions include provisions for profit sharing, retention bonuses, provisions for archiving required under banking regulations  
as well as technology and communications. 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 continued
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23 Deferred tax 

Deferred	tax	is	calculated	in	full	on	temporary	differences	under	the	liability	method	using	a	tax	rate	of	27%	(2009:	28%)	for	differences	
arising in the UK, and at the relevant local statutory rates for differences arising in other countries.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are only offset where there is a legal right of offset and there is an intention to settle the balance net. 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following items:

       2010  2009 
         £’000  £’000

Deferred tax assets   
Retirement benefit obligation      10,574	 	 10,988
Tax losses      3,403  4,432
Decelerated tax depreciation      2,504	 	 1,893
Share-based payments      135  995
Put option      107  90
Other      4,960  6,617

Total deferred tax assets       21,683  25,015

   
Recoverable within 1 year      3,320  5,539
Recoverable after more than 1 year      18,363  19,476

       21,683  25,015

   
Deferred tax liabilities   
Retirement benefit asset      –  (64)
Accelerated tax depreciation      (2,651)  (2,710)
Put option      (219)  (166)
Other      (5,948)	 	 (8,774)

Total deferred tax liabilities       (8,818)  (11,714)

The	Group	has	recognised	all	deferred	tax	assets	in	2010,	with	the	exception	of	deferred	tax	assets	of	£32,837,000	(2009:	£22,600,000)	 
in	relation	to	losses	which	largely	arise	in	Cambridge	entities	and	also	£666,000	(2009:	£918,000)	in	respect	of	decelerated	tax	depreciation	
and other temporary differences arising in the UK. The Directors consider that it is unlikely that there will be sufficient taxable profits in the 
future to realise these deferred tax assets, and therefore the assets have not been recognised in these financial statements. 

The movement in the net deferred tax position is as follows:

   Retirement   Accelerated 
   benefit   tax Share-based 
   obligation Tax losses depreciation payments Put option Other Total 
    £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At	1	January	2009	 	 8,895	 9	 (1,741)	 3,116	 (195)	 4,293	 14,377
Recognised	on	business	combinations	 	 –	 –	 –	 –	 –	 (8,762)	 (8,762)
(Charged)/credited	to	the	income	statement		 (693)	 4,433	 1,080	 (231)	 127	 2,459	 7,175
Credited/(Charged) directly  
to other comprehensive income  2,411 – – – – (155) 2,256
Charged	directly	to	equity	 	 –	 –	 –	 (1,788)	 	–	 –	 (1,788)
Exchange	adjustments	 	 311	 	(10)	 (156)	 	(102)	 (8)	 8	 43

At 31 December 2009  10,924 4,432 (817) 995 (76) (2,157) 13,301
Recognised on business combinations  – – – – – (3,774) (3,774)
(Charged)/Credited to the income statement  (495) (1,029) 670 (190) 107 5,150 4,213
Credited/(Charged) directly  
to	other	comprehensive	income	 	 192	 –	 –	 –	 –	 (112)	 80
Charged	directly	to	equity	 	 –	 –	 –	 (671)	 (143)	 –	 (814)
Exchange adjustments  (47) – – 1 – (95) (141)

At 31 December 2010  10,574 3,403 (147) 135 (112) (988) 12,865
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24 Called up share capital

         2010 
Allotted, called up and fully paid         Number

Xchanging	plc	ordinary	shares	of	5p	each	at	1	January	2010	 	 	 	 	 	237,116,600
Exercise of share options        2,393,139

Total number of ordinary Xchanging plc shares at 31 December 2010      239,509,739

Total nominal value (£’000) at 31 December 2010        11,975

Increase in allotted share capital – 2010
2,393,139 share options were exercised during 2010 for cash consideration of £2,090,000.

         2009 
Allotted, called up and fully paid         Number

Xchanging	plc	ordinary	shares	of	5p	each	at	1	January	2009	 	 	 	 	 	219,468,787
Shares	issued	in	respect	of	Cambridge	acquisition	 	 	 	 	 	 	 15,249,998
Exercise	of	share	options	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 2,397,815

Total number of ordinary Xchanging plc shares at 31 December 2009      237,116,600

Total nominal value (£’000) at 31 December 2009        11,856

Increase in allotted share capital – 2009
15,249,998	shares	were	issued	as	part	of	the	consideration	for	Cambridge	Solutions	Limited	at	the	market	rate	applicable	on	the	date	 
of acquisition. 

2,397,815	share	options	were	exercised	during	2009	for	cash	consideration	of	£1,924,000.

Share rights
All Xchanging plc ordinary shares carry equal share rights. 

Share options
At	31	December	2010	options	over	3,128,055	shares	were	outstanding	(2009:	5,751,194	shares).	

The number of shares subject to options, the periods in which they were granted and the periods in which they may be exercised  
are given below. 

     Approved options Unapproved options G share options
      

       WAEP*   WAEP*   WAEP* 
    Number pence Number pence Number pence

At	1	January	2009	 	 	 1,195,036	 	100.56		 7,378,712	 	108.20		 134,992	 9.65
Movements during 2009      
–	options	granted	 	 	 15,789	 	190.00	 9,211	 	190.00	 –	 	–
–	options	exercised	 	 	 (338,286)	 	91.14	 (1,924,537)	 83.31	 (134,992)	 	9.65
–	options	forfeited	 	 	 (87,900)	 	104.80	 (496,831)	 	128.72	 –	 	–

At 31 December 2009   784,639  105.94 4,966,555  115.95 – –
      
Movements during 2010      
– options granted   – – – – – –
–	options	exercised	 	 	 (270,548)	 95.50	 (2,122,591)	 86.31	 –	 –
– options forfeited   (33,470) 179.26 (196,530) 271.99 – –

At 31 December 2010   480,621 106.71 2,647,434 128.13 – –

*Weighted average exercise price

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 continued
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24 Called up share capital continued

     Approved options Unapproved options G share options

Range of exercise prices:     
2010   33.20p-246.75p 93.41p-280.80p –
2009	 	 	 33.20p-277.00p	 33.20p-280.80p	 –

      
Weighted average remaining contractual life:   
2010   1,798 days 1,908 days –
2009   2,167 days 2,114 days –

     WAEP*  WAEP*  WAEP* 
    Number pence Number pence Number pence

Number of options exercisable at:
31 December 2010   452,674 100.05 2,515,319 120.83 – –
31	December	2009	 	 	 302,310	 68.7	 2,550,820	 79.25	 –	 –

*Weighted average exercise price

25 Share-based payment plans

The Group operates a number of equity-settled share-based payment plans as follows:

(i) Share options
Options are granted with a fixed exercise price at the date of grant. The contractual life of an option is 10 years. Awards are granted to 
Directors and employees on a merit basis, and are subject to continuous employment. Options granted become exercisable on the third 
anniversary of the date of grant, and are valued using the Black-Scholes pricing model. The Group has no legal or constructive obligation  
to repurchase or settle the options in cash. The fair value per option granted and the assumptions used in the calculations are as follows:

General assumptions 

Vesting period (years)        3
Option life (years)        10
Expected life (years)        3.25
Expected dividends expressed as a dividend yield (%)       1
Possibility of ceasing employment before vesting (%)       20
Risk-free interest rate (%)        3.62

        Year of grant   Year of grant 
       2010  2009

Weighted average share price at grant date (pence)     –	 	 198.00
Weighted average exercise price (pence) 
– approved options      –  190.00
– unapproved options      –  190.00
Weighted average fair value of options granted in the period (pence)
– approved options      –  52.00
– unapproved options      –  52.00
Expected volatility (%)      –  34

There were no grants of options over Approved, Unapproved or G shares during 2010.

The expected volatility is based on Xchanging’s historical volatility. The expected life is the average expected period to exercise.  
The risk-free rate of return is the yield on zero-coupon UK government bonds of a term consistent with the assumed option life. 

The weighted average share price during the year for options exercised during the year was £2.03 per share (2009: £2.07). The total 
income statement impact for the year relating to employee share-based payments under the share option plans was a credit of £175,000 
(2009: charge £476,000), all of which related to equity-settled share-based payment transactions. 
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25 Share-based payment plans continued

(ii) Performance Share Plan (PSP)
Awards have been granted under the Performance Share Plan to Executive Directors and certain members of Xchanging’s management 
group. Under the terms of the scheme, conditional awards of shares are granted, which will vest at the end of the three year performance 
period. Both basic and stretch awards have been granted, the proportion of each award that will vest is dependent on the performance of 
the Company’s total shareholder return (TSR) as compared with the performance of its comparator group (defined as the constituents of the 
FTSE 250 index excluding investment trusts) and on the attainment of an EPS growth underpin. 25% of the basic awards will vest if TSR is at 
a median position and 100% if TSR is in the upper quartile. In between these positions, the basic award will vest on a straight-line basis. The 
stretch award will also vest on a straight-line basis, with 0% vesting if TSR is at an upper quartile position, up to 100% if TSR is in the top 
decile. The EPS underpin is the UK RPI plus 3%. The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the awards in cash.

Awards are granted to Directors and employees on a merit basis, and are subject to continuous employment over the length of the vesting 
period, or at the discretion of the Group if determined to be a ‘good leaver’ upon leaving. Awards granted vest three years from the date  
of the award and are valued using a Monte Carlo simulation model. The Monte Carlo simulation model used for valuing PSP awards with  
a TSR performance condition requires additional assumptions. A single co-efficient assumption of 21% (2009: April award 22%, September 
award 26%) (based on historical analysis) has been used in the current year, representing the level of correlation of growth in TSR between 
the comparator companies simulated in the model. The three year historical volatility for each company in the comparator group at grant 
date has been analysed and this historical volatility has been used in the model to project TSR for each company. As limited historical 
volatility exists for Xchanging, the expected volatility for the Group is based on historical volatility of a peer group of companies over the 
previous three years. The fair value per award granted and the assumptions used as inputs into the model are as follows:

       April September April 
	 	 	 	 	 	 2008	 2009	 2009	 2010 
General assumptions     grant grant grant  grant

Vesting period (years)     3.00-3.14 2.73 2.47 2.75
Expected life (years)     3.00-3.14 2.73 2.47 2.75
Expected dividends expressed as a dividend yield (%)    1 1 1 1
Possibility of ceasing employment before vesting (%)    20 20 20 20
Expected	volatility	(%)	 	 	 	 	 28	 35	 35	 37
Risk-free	interest	rate	(%)	 	 	 	 	 4.02-4.05	 2.05	 2.60	 1.87
Weighted	average	share	price	at	grant	date	(£)	 	 	 	 2.59	 1.86	 2.25	 1.95
Weighted average fair value at grant date (£)    1.36 0.69 0.56 0.96

    
At 1 January 2009     4,992,034 – – –

– awards granted     – 1,723,030 1,157,792 –
–	awards	forfeited	 	 	 	 	 (1,158,586)	 –	 (47,725)	 –

At 31 December 2009     3,833,448 1,723,030 1,110,067 –

    
Movements during 2010    
– awards granted     – – – 3,909,403
–	awards	forfeited	 	 	 	 	 (243,913)	 (167,968)	 (40,567)	 (202,264)

At 31 December 2010     3,589,535 1,555,062 1,069,500 3,707,139

The total charge for the year relating to the PSP including social security charges on the awards is £2,202,000 (2009: £1,435,000).

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 continued
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25 Share-based payment plans continued

(iii) Share Purchase Plan 2007 (SPP)
The Group adopted the SPP during 2007, in which Executive Directors and certain members of senior management were invited to 
participate. Under this scheme, set up in February 2007, an employee benefit trust loaned money to the participants in order to allow them 
to purchase class F shares in Xchanging BV at the market value at the time of £5.30 (Xchanging plc equivalent value £1.33). These loans are 
non-interest bearing and the terms and conditions are described further in note 34. Participants may not normally sell, transfer or otherwise 
dispose	of	the	shares	awarded	under	the	scheme	for	a	period	of	18	months	from	issue.	Shares	may	now	be	sold	on	the	condition	that	a	
pro-rata proportion of any loan from the employee benefit trust is repaid. As the shares were granted at the fair market value at the time 
there is no share-based payment charge as a result of this scheme. 

(iv) Share Awards
During the year Xchanging share awards were granted to the new Chief Financial Officer who was appointed in October 2010.  
150,000 ordinary shares will vest in October 2011 and 150,000 ordinary shares will vest in October 2012. These awards are subject  
to the continuous employment within the Group up to October 2012.

26 Shareholders’ equity

Share capital
The balance classed as share capital is the nominal proceeds on issue of the Company’s equity share capital, comprising 5p ordinary shares.

Share premium
The amount paid to the Company by shareholders over and above the nominal value of the shares issued to them, less the direct costs  
of issuing the shares, is classified as share premium.

Merger reserve and reverse acquisition reserve
The merger and reverse acquisition reserves arise as a result of the share for share exchange undertaken in advance of the initial public 
offering. The merger reserve comprises the excess of the market value of the Xchanging plc shares issued to the Xchanging BV shareholders 
over	the	nominal	value	of	those	shares	and	arises	as	a	result	of	the	application	of	merger	relief	under	Section	131	of	the	Companies	Act	1985.	
The reverse acquisition reserve consists of the difference between the market value of the Xchanging plc shares issued to the Xchanging BV 
shareholders and the total share capital and share premium of the Xchanging BV shares.

Other reserves
Composition of the other reserves is described in note 27. 

Retained earnings
These represent the accumulation of the Group’s net profits retained within the business, after the payment of any dividends.

Non-controlling interests
These represent the non-controlling interests’ share in the assets and liabilities of both the Enterprise Partnerships and of Cambridge 
Solutions Limited. 
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27 Other reserves

     Available- 
     for-sale  Translation Hedging Other 
     reserve reserve reserve reserves Total 
      £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At	1	January	2009	 	 	 	 (2,083)	 11,337	 3,208	 4,030	 16,492
Revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets      
(net of non-controlling interest share)    155 – –  – 155
Actuarial loss on pensions (net of non-controlling interest share)  – – – (7,593) (7,593)
Deferred tax on pensions (net of non-controlling interest share)  –  – – 2,170 2,170
Deferred tax on revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets      
(net of non-controlling interest share)    (79) – – – (79)
Transfer	of	foreign	exchange	movement	on	hedged	item	to	cost	of	acquisition	 –	 –	 (3,208)	 –	 (3,208)
Share	price	differential	on	issuing	Cambridge	shares	 	 	 –	 –	 –	 7,778	 7,778
Currency	translation	differences	(net	of	non-controlling	interest	share)	 	 (6)	 1,891	 –	 (1,990)	 (105)

At 31 December 2009    (2,013) 13,228 – 4,395 15,610
Revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets (net of minority interest share) (1,123) – –  – (1,123)
Revaluation losses recycled to income statement on impairment  
of available-for-sale financial assets (net of minority interest share)  1,143 – – – 1,143
Deferred tax on revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets  
(net of minority interest share)    (36) – – – (36)
Actuarial	loss	on	pensions	(net	of	minority	interest	share)	 		 	 –	 –	 	–	 (1,826)	 (1,826)
Deferred tax on pensions (net of minority interest share)    –  –  – 273 273
Current tax on pensions (net of minority interest share)    –  – – 264 264
Disposal of shares in a subsidiary     – – – 439 439
Currency	translation	differences	(net	of	minority	interest	share)	 	 69	 4,259	 –	 1,823	 6,451

At 31 December 2010    (1,960) 17,487 – 5,368 20,895

Available-for-sale reserve
The available-for-sale reserve comprises the fair value adjustments and related tax on the available-for-sale financial assets held by the Group.

Translation reserve
The translation reserve comprises the exchange adjustments arising from translating the results of foreign operations into the Group’s 
presentation currency of Sterling. 

Hedging reserve
The hedging reserve comprises the amounts taken to equity in respect of a cash flow hedge relating to an amount placed in escrow  
in respect of the Open Offer as part of the Cambridge Solutions Limited acquisition in 2009.

Other reserves
The other reserves comprise the amounts taken to equity in respect of retirement benefit obligations, and differences in share price 
between the date of issue, and the date of control passing in respect of acquisitions.

 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 continued



113 Xchanging  
Annual report and accounts 2010

28	Equity	non-controlling	interests	

       2010  2009 
       £000  £000

At	1	January	 	 	 	 	 	 15,518  15,792
Non-controlling interest’s share of underlying profit for the year    8,735	 	 8,146
Non-controlling interest’s share of adjustments to underlying    (3,218)  (2,595)

Non-controlling interest’s share of profit for the year    5,517  5,551

Non-controlling interest’s share of actuarial gains and losses    346	 	 (882)
Non-controlling interest’s share of deferred tax on pension movements    (81)  241
Non-controlling interest’s share of current tax on pension movements    25  –
Non-controlling interest’s share of revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets   236  169
Non-controlling interest’s share of revaluation losses recycled to income statement  
on impairment of available-for-sale financial assets     68  –
Non-controlling interest’s share of deferred tax on revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets  (75)  (76)
Non-controlling interest’s share of currency translation differences    1,519  1,027

Non-controlling interest’s share of other comprehensive income    2,038  479

Non-controlling interest’s share of fair value net assets on acquisition    2,297  –
Non-controlling interest’s share of currency translation differences    68  –
Non-controlling interest’s shares issued in respect of employee share-based payments   17  13
Dividends payable to Non-controlling interests     –  (2,021)
Dividends paid to Non-controlling interests      (6,514)  (4,296)

Non-controlling interest’s share of items taken directly to equity   (4,132)  (6,304)

At 31 December      18,941	 	 15,518

Non-controlling interest calculations for the Group’s Enterprise Partnerships are dependent upon the individual contractual terms. Some 
define adjustments in relation to certain items prior to calculating profit share based on the percentage share ownerships. These may 
include, for example, adjustments for differences between local and international accounting standards, adjustments for any discounts  
or fees payable between parties or adjustments for share-based payment charges for employees.
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29 Financial commitments and contingent liabilities

At 31 December future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases were as follows: 

       2010  2009 
       £000  £000

Within one year      17,824	 	 18,733
Later than one year but not more than five years     35,991	 	 44,108
Later than five years       15,249  17,253

The Group’s most significant leases are those of the premises at Leadenhall Street, London, Basildon, Sydney, Melbourne, Chicago and 
Frankfurt. The London lease expires in February 2021, the Basildon lease expires in September 2014, the Sydney lease expires in February 
2016, the Melbourne lease expires in March 2015, the Chicago lease expires in April 2012 and the German lease expires in December 2013. 

The Group is contractually obligated to invest amounts, on behalf of the Enterprise Partnerships it has established, in technology 
development and maintenance and in the development of new processes and systems. The total commitment outstanding at 31 December 
is presented below as analysed by the period in which the commitment falls due:

       2010  2009 
       £000  £000

Within one year      1,665  4,457
Later than one year but not more than two years     2,056  3,333
Later than two years but not more than five years     –  –

         3,721  7,790

On	28	July	2010,	Cambridge	Builders	Private	Limited,	a	subsidiary	of	Cambridge	Solutions	Limited,	a	Group	company,	signed	an	agreement	
with the State of Karnataka to purchase the leasehold for, and jointly develop, land in a new Special Economic Zone in Shimoga, a Tier 3 
(rural) town north-west of Bangalore, India. Construction of a state-of-the-art processing centre on this land is expected to be completed  
in	the	next	financial	year.	The	expected	development	costs	of	this	project	are	£3,835,000,	of	which	£	471,000	has	already	been	incurred	 
in 2010.

During	2008	the	Group	put	in	place	a	guarantee	covering	contributions	to	one	of	its	pension	schemes	as	part	of	an	agreement	reached	
with the scheme’s trustees for funding the scheme at the 2007 actuarial valuation. The guarantee will remain in place until 30 April 2017 
and will reduce in value in line with contributions paid to the scheme under the agreed contributions schedule. The value of the guarantee 
was £11,174,000 at 31 December 2010 (2009: £13,369,000). The Group would be required to make contributions to the scheme under 
the guarantee following any of the below occurring:

•	an	insolvency	event	of	the	sponsoring	employers	of	the	scheme

•	a	failure	by	the	sponsoring	employers	to	make	contributions	to	the	scheme	under	Section	75	or	Section	75a	of	the	Pensions	Act	1995	

•		a	failure	by	the	sponsoring	employers	to	make	contributions	to	the	scheme	under	the	agreed	contributions	schedule	within	15	business	
days of that payment becoming due. 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 continued
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30 Cash generated from operations 

         Restated 
       2010  2009 
      Note  £’000  £’000

(Loss)/profit before tax      (60,301)	 	 18,435
Net finance cost    9  4,739  5,301

Operating (loss)/profit      (55,562)  23,736
Adjustment for non-cash items:   
– impairment losses    6  110,016  –
– employee share-based payment charges      2,027  1,911
– depreciation of property, plant & equipment   15  10,044  14,659
– amortisation of other intangibles    14  28,344  22,959
– amortisation of pre-contract costs    17  1,478	 	 1,388
– loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment and other intangibles 14/15  778  102
– gain from a bargain purchase    6  (146)  –

       96,979  64,755
Changes in working capital (excluding the effects of business combinations):   
– increase in trade and other receivables      (4,607)	 	 (8,900)
– decrease in payables      (7,487)  (272)
– (increase)/decrease in pensions      (633)  1,427
– (decrease)/increase in provisions      (22,420)  5,927

Cash generated from operations       61,832  62,937

31 Business combinations

(a) FondsServiceBank
On 13 May 2009, the Group entered into an agreement with DAB bank AG to acquire the trade and assets of their FondsServiceBank (FSB) 
business unit, an investment funds administration business. As a result of this agreement, on 3 April 2010, Xchanging migrated all contracts 
with distribution partners and customers relating to the safekeeping and administration of investment fund shares. This transaction 
meets the definition of a business combination under the principles of IFRS 3 (revised), “Business Combinations” and has therefore been 
accounted for under the acquisition method of accounting, in accordance with IFRS 3 (revised).

The total cash paid in consideration for the acquisition was €21.6 million (£19.1 million based on the exchange rate prevailing on the date 
of acquisition), of which €9.95 million was paid in 2009.

The contracts migrated from DAB bank AG were subsumed onto the existing Fondsdepot Bank (FDB) investment account processing 
platform from 3 April 2010. This is consistent with the Group’s strategy to grow existing platforms and derive benefits from economies 
of scale, with overall performance being measured at the combined FDB business unit level. Consequently, revenues and profits or losses 
earned from investment account processing services in relation to the FSB contracts are not separately identifiable from the pre-existing FDB 
contracts. Therefore, it is impracticable to disclose the revenue and profit or loss in relation to FSB since the acquisition date included in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the period ended 31 December 2010 or for the current reporting period as though 
the	acquisition	date	had	been	on	1	January	2010.
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31 Business combinations continued

The fair values of significant assets and liabilities are provisional and will be finalised during the period to 2 April 2011, as permissible under 
IFRS 3 (revised). The book and estimated fair values of those assets and liabilities as at 3 April 2010 are set out below:

       Acquiree’s  
       carrying   Provisional 
       amount Adjustments  fair value 
        £’000  £’000  £’000

Intangible assets (excluding goodwill)      – 10,074 10,074
Deferred tax liabilities      – (3,224) (3,224)

Net assets acquired      –  6,850  6,850

The fair value adjustments in respect of intangible assets are due to the recognition of customer relationships.

Goodwill represents the value of both sales and cost synergies expected to arise from combining and integrating the operations of FSB onto 
the Xchanging Group’s existing FDB banking platforms.

Details of net assets acquired and goodwill are as follows:

            £’000

Purchase consideration    
–	Cash	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 19,078

Total	purchase	consideration	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 19,078
Fair	value	of	net	assets	acquired		 		 	 	 	 	 	 	 (6,850)

Goodwill          12,228

(b) SEB Investmentservice (SEB ISG)
On 31 December 2009, the Group entered into an agreement with SEB Bank and SEB Asset Management to acquire 100% of the  
share capital of SEB Investmentservice (SEB ISG), a B2B investment accounts business. This transaction completed with effect from  
12 March 2010. The results of SEB ISG have been consolidated by the Group from 1 March 2010 and has been renamed Xchanging 
Investmentservice GmbH.

The total consideration paid for the acquisition was €0.2 million (£0.2 million at the exchange rate prevailing at the date of control  
being assumed). €25,000 was paid on completion, with the remaining consideration payable over the period to 31 December 2010.

SEB ISG contributed revenue of £7,652,000 (underlying profit for the year of £3,529,000) and statutory profit for the year of £3,055,000 
to	the	Group	for	the	period	from	acquisition	to	31	December	2010.	If	the	acquisition	date	had	been	1	January	2010	SEB	ISG	would	have	
contributed	revenue	of	approximately	£8,890,000	and	statutory	profit	of	£3,056,000	to	the	Group.	

The	fair	values	of	significant	assets	and	liabilities	are	provisional	and	will	be	finalised	during	the	period	to	28	February	2011,	as	permissible	
under IFRS 3 (revised). The book and estimated fair values of those assets and liabilities as at 1 March 2010 are set out below:

       Acquiree’s  
       carrying   Provisional 
       amount Adjustments  fair value 
        £’000  £’000  £’000

Intangible asset (excluding goodwill)      – 1,770  1,770 
Deferred income tax assets      – 402  402 
Trade	and	other	receivables	 	 	 	 	 	 3,283		 –	 3,283	
Cash and cash equivalents      749  – 749 
Trade and other payables       (3,354) – (3,354)
Pension liability      (749) – (749)
Deferred income tax liabilities      – (566) (566)
Provisions      (250) (1,257) (1,507)

Net assets/(liabilities) acquired      (321)  349   28 

The fair value adjustments in respect of intangible assets relate to the recognition of £1,770,000 in respect of customer relationships.  
The adjustment to provisions relates to the recognition of a £1,257,000 onerous service contract provision. The adjustment to deferred  
tax assets and liabilities relate to the valuation adjustments for intangible assets and provisions and are provisional, based on management’s 
best estimates.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 continued
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31 Business combinations continued

Goodwill represents the value of both sales and cost synergies expected to arise from combining and integrating the operations of SEB  
onto the Xchanging Group’s existing banking platforms.

Details of net assets acquired and goodwill are as follows:

            £’000

Purchase consideration    
– Cash        129

Total purchase consideration        129
Fair	value	of	net	assets	acquired		 		 	 	 	 	 	 	 (28)	

Goodwill          101

(c) Data Integration Limited
On	15	June	2010,	the	Group	acquired	100%	of	the	share	capital	of	Data	Integration	Limited	(DI),	a	UK	based	reseller	business	specialising	
in network security, application optimisation, mobility solutions, high performance networks, IP telephony and open access networks.  
The	results	of	DI	have	been	consolidated	by	the	Group	from	1	June	2010.

DI	contributed	revenue	of	£12,132,000	(underlying	profit	of	£1,281,000)	and	statutory	profit	for	the	year	of	£992,000	to	the	Group	 
for	the	period	from	acquisition	to	31	December	2010.	If	the	acquisition	date	had	been	1	January	2010,	DI	would	have	contributed	revenue	
of	approximately	£18,279,000	and	profit	before	tax	of	approximately	£1,156,000	to	the	Group.	

The fair values of significant assets and liabilities are provisional and will be finalised during the period to 31 May 2011, as permissible under 
IFRS	3	(revised).	The	book	and	estimated	fair	values	of	those	assets	and	liabilities	as	at	1	June	2010	are	set	out	below:

       Acquiree’s  
       carrying   Provisional 
       amount Adjustments  fair value 
        £’000  £’000  £’000

Intangible assets (excluding goodwill)      25 1,952 1,977
Property,	plant	and	equipment	 	 	 	 	 	 108	 –	 108
Deferred income tax assets      141 – 141 
Inventories      103 – 103
Trade and other receivables      2,634 515 3,149 
Cash and cash equivalents      1,614 – 1,614 
Trade	and	other	payables		 	 	 	 	 	 (3,437)	 (980)	 (4,417)
Deferred income tax liabilities      – (527) (527)

Net assets/(liabilities) acquired      1,188  960 2,148 

The fair value adjustments in respect of intangible assets are due to the recognition of £1,952,000 in respect of customer relationships.  
The adjustment to trade and other payables and trade and other receivables relates to the recognition of £465,000 deferred income as a 
result of bringing Data Integration’s accounting policies in line with the Xchanging Group policies. The adjustment to deferred tax liabilities 
relate to the valuation adjustments for intangible assets and is provisional, based on management’s best estimates.

Goodwill on acquisition represents the value of both sales and cost synergies expected to arise from combining and integrating DI’s 
experienced and expert workforce into the Xchanging Group to enhance our existing Technology offerings.

Details of net assets acquired and goodwill are as follows:

          £’000

Purchase consideration    
– Cash        2,500
– Deferred guaranteed consideration         6,500

Total purchase consideration        9,000
Fair	value	of	net	assets	acquired		 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 (2,148)

Goodwill        6,852

The purchase consideration comprises of a guaranteed component of £6.5 million, of which £2.5 million was paid on completion,  
with	the	remaining	consideration	to	be	paid	in	instalments	of	£1.0	million	in	March	2011,	£2.5	million	in	June	2011,	£1.5	million	 
in December 2011 and £1.5 million in March 2012. 
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31 Business combinations continued

(d) Kedrios S.p.A.
On	30	July	2010,	the	Group	acquired	51%	of	the	share	capital	of	Kedrios	S.p.A	(Kedrios),	the	Italian	subsidiary	of	SIA-SSB	that	specialises	 
in securities processing and fund management. The remaining 49% shareholding is held by SIA-SSB S.p.A. who is also represented on the 
Kedrios management board. The results of Kedrios S.p.A have been consolidated by the Group from 1 August 2010.

Kedrios	contributed	revenue	of	£5,289,000	(underlying	loss	for	the	year	of	£866,000)	and	statutory	loss	for	the	year	of	£1,788,000	 
to	the	Group	for	the	period	from	acquisition	to	31	December	2010.	If	the	acquisition	date	had	been	1	January	2010	Kedrios	would	have	
contributed revenue of approximately £12,709,000 and statutory loss of £4,250,000 to the Group. 

The	fair	values	of	significant	assets	and	liabilities	are	provisional	and	will	be	finalised	during	the	period	to	31	July	2011,	as	permissible	under	
IFRS 3 (revised). The book and estimated fair values of those assets and liabilities as at 1 August 2010 are set out below:

       Acquiree’s  
       carrying   Provisional 
       amount Adjustments  fair value 
        £’000  £’000  £’000

Intangible assets       1,331  (677) 654 
Deferred income tax assets      1,053  (1,053) – 
Trade and other receivables      7,030  (51) 6,979 
Cash and cash equivalents      7,456  – 7,456 
Trade and other payables       (6,070) – (6,070)
Pension	liability		 	 	 	 	 	 (1,471)	 187		 (1,284)
Provisions      – (3,047) (3,047)

Net assets/(liabilities) acquired      9,329   (4,641)  4,688 

The fair value adjustments in respect of intangible assets are due to the impairment of £677,000 of software assets deemed to have 
no future economic benefits at date of acquisition. The adjustment to deferred tax assets relate to the write off of a deferred tax asset 
recognised under Italian GAAP which would not meet the criteria for recognition under IFRS due to uncertainty over future taxable profits. 
The adjustment to the pension liability is as a result of bringing Kedrios’ accounting policies in line with the Xchanging Group policies and 
IAS 19. The adjustment to provisions relates to the recognition of a restructuring plan provision under IFRS. This plan was announced in 
January	2010	and	was	being	implemented	prior	to	the	acquisition.	Management	will	continue	to	implement	the	plan	as	originally	intended	
over the period to December 2012.

Details of net assets acquired and goodwill are as follows:

          £’000

Purchase consideration    
– Cash        2,245

Total purchase consideration        2,245
Xchanging’s share of the fair value of net assets acquired        (2,391)

Gain on acquisition recognised in exceptional items       (146)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 continued
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32 Retirement benefit obligations

The Group operates a number of pension plans for its qualifying employees. The principal plans are three defined benefit schemes in the 
UK, four defined benefit schemes in Germany and one long-service obligation in Italy, which are presented together under the heading 
‘Continental Europe’. In the UK, the defined benefit schemes are funded and assets are held in separate trustee administered funds. In 
Continental Europe, only the largest scheme (the XTB Scheme) has assets held in a separate Contractual Trust Agreement (CTA). The 
remaining schemes do not have assets in a CTA and as a result, pension liabilities are fully recognised on the balance sheet as a retirement 
benefit obligation with pension assets being integrated with the business assets. The Group also participates in a number of multi-employer 
defined benefit schemes and operates a number of defined contribution schemes. 

(i) Defined benefit schemes
The disclosures below relate to post-retirement benefit plans in the UK and Continental Europe which are accounted for as defined 
benefit plans in accordance with IAS 19. The valuations used for the IAS 19 disclosures are based on the most recent actuarial valuations 
undertaken by independent qualified actuaries and updated to take account of the requirements of IAS 19 in order to assess the funding 
position of the plans at 31 December each year. Plan assets are shown at the market value at 31 December each year.

Financial assumptions
The assumptions used by the actuaries are chosen from a range of possible actuarial assumptions which, due to the long-term nature of the 
schemes, may not necessarily be borne out in practice. These assumptions are as follows:

       2010  2009
       

       Continental  Continental 
      UK Europe UK Europe 
      % % % %

Rate of increase in pensionable salaries     4.15 2.50 4.25 2.50
Rate of increase in pensions in payment (RPI up to 5%)    3.10 n/a 3.20 n/a
Rate of increase in pensions in payment (RPI up to 2.5%)    2.00 n/a 2.10 n/a
Rate of increase in pensions in payment (CPI up to 5%)    2.80 n/a n/a n/a
Rate of increase in pensions in payment (fixed 5%)    5.00 n/a 5.00 n/a
Rate of increase in pensions in payment     n/a 2.00 n/a 2.00
Rate of increase in deferred pensions     2.90 2.00 3.50 2.00
Discount rate     5.50 5.20	 5.80	 5.40
Inflation assumption (RPI)     3.40 2.00 3.50 2.00
Inflation assumption (CPI)     2.90 n/a n/a n/a
Long-term rate of return expected at 31 December     n/a 5.00 n/a 5.00
– equities     7.70 n/a	 8.50	 n/a
– gilts     4.20 n/a 4.50 n/a
– bonds     5.50 n/a	 5.80	 n/a
Expected return on plan assets     5.74-5.96 5.00	 6.14-6.58	 5.00

Following	a	government	announcement	in	July	2010,	some	of	the	UK	schemes’	benefits	are	linked	to	CPI	rather	than	RPI.	A	CPI	assumption	
equivalent to RPI less 0.5% has been adopted as at 31 December 2010. This change has been allowed for in the financial statements as a 
change in the actuarial assumptions in the statement of Other Comprehensive Income (OCI). The liabilities in the UK schemes have been 
reduced by £1,505 000 as a result of the change.

To develop the assumption around the expected long-term rate of return on assets, the Group considered the current level of expected 
returns on risk-free investments (primarily government bonds), the historical level of the risk premium associated with the other asset classes 
in which the portfolio is invested and the expectations for future returns of each asset class. The expected return for each asset class was 
then weighted based on the target asset allocation to develop the expected long-term rate of return assumption for the portfolio. 
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32 Retirement benefit obligations continued

The post-retirement mortality tables used for the schemes are based on country specific mortality tables, namely the PA 00 series for the 
Rebus and XDBS schemes in the UK (based on year of birth with a scaling factor of 110%, allowance for medium cohort improvements 
and a 0.5% underpin to future improvements in mortality), the SAPS Light table for the LPC Scheme in the UK (rated up by one year and 
based on year of birth with an allowance for medium cohort improvements and a 0.5% underpin to future improvements in mortality), 
the Richtaffeln 2005 G, Heubeck-Richtaffeln GmbH, Koln 2005 table in Germany and the ISAT2002M&F table in Italy. The table below 
illustrates life expectancy assumptions at age 65 for current pensioners and future pensioners aged 45 for the UK schemes at the 
accounting date and at age 65 for current pensioners and future pensioners aged 17 for the material Continental Europe schemes  
at the accounting date:

       2010  2009
      

     UK (Rebus  UK (LPC Continental  Continental 
     and XDBS) Scheme) Europe UK Europe 
     years years years years years

Male current pensioner    21.2 21.6 18.3	 21.1	 18.1
Male future pensioner    22.5 23.0 24.3 22.2 24.1
Female current pensioner    23.5 23.0 22.4 23.4 22.3
Female future pensioner    24.7 24.4 28.2	 24.4	 28.1

Amounts recognised in the financial statements in respect of the defined benefit pension schemes
The retirement benefit obligation recognised in the balance sheet is:

      2010   2009
     

     Continental   Continental 
    UK Europe Total UK Europe Total 
    £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Equities    47,063 4,379 51,442	 42,526	 4,628	 47,154
Bonds and gilts   42,486 49,283 91,769	 37,981	 49,090	 87,071
Property   5,266 – 5,266	 3,862	 –	 3,862
Cash   107 4,642 4,749	 114	 3,480	 3,594
Other   – (4,379) (4,379)	 69	 508	 577

Fair value of plan assets   94,922 53,925 148,847	 84,552	 57,706	 142,258
Present value of funded obligations   (117,300) (65,233) (182,533)	 (106,849)	 (65,317)	 (172,166)

Net deficit recognised in the balance sheet   (22,378) (11,308) (33,686)	 (22,297)	 (7,611)	 (29,908)

The	net	deficit	of	£33,686,000	(2009:	£29,908,000)	at	31	December	2010	comprises	£462,000	retirement	benefit	asset	in	respect	of	one	
of	the	schemes	and	£34,148,000	retirement	benefit	obligation	(2009:	£396,000	and	£30,304,000	respectively).

The amounts recognised in the income statement are as follows:

      2010   2009
     

     Continental   Continental 
    UK Europe Total UK Europe Total 
    £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Current service cost   (1,739) (1,191) (2,930)	 (1,529)	 (1,109)	 (2,638)
Settlements/curtailments   – – – – 9 9
Interest cost   (6,185) (3,318) (9,503)	 (5,565)	 (3,401)	 (8,966)
Expected return on plan assets   5,500 2,729 8,229	 4,219	 2,850	 7,069

Total	included	within	staff	costs	(note	8)	 	 	 (2,424) (1,780) (4,204)	 (2,875)	 (1,651)	 (4,526)

Included within:       
– cost of sales   (1,739) (1,191) (2,930) (1,529) (1,100) (2,629)
– net finance costs   (685) (589) (1,274)	 (1,346)	 (551)	 (1,897)

    (2,424) (1,780) (4,204)	 (2,875)	 (1,651)	 (4,526)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 continued
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32 Retirement benefit obligations continued

The total amounts for the defined benefit schemes credited/(charged) to the statement of other comprehensive income are as follows:

      2010   2009
     

     Continental   Continental 
    UK Europe Total UK Europe Total 
    £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Actuarial (losses)/gains   (1,478) (2) (1,480)	 (8,872)	 397	 (8,475)
Exchange adjustments   – 415 415 – 237 237

    (1,478) 413 (1,065)	 (8,872)	 634	 (8,238)

Cumulative amounts recognised   (4,474) 3,314 (1,160) (2,996) 2,901 (95)

Analysis of the movement in the present value of the defined benefit obligation
      2010   2009
     

     Continental   Continental 
    UK Europe Total UK Europe Total 
    £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Fair	value	at	1	January	 	 	 (106,849) (65,317) (172,166)	 (87,319)	 (66,004)	 (153,323)
Acquisitions   – (2,033) (2,033) – – –
Acquired in year (not through business combination)  – (306) (306) – – –
Current service cost   (1,739) (1,191) (2,930)	 (1,529)	 (1,109)	 (2,638)
Settlements/curtailments   – – – – 9 9
Interest cost   (6,185) (3,318) (9,503)	 (5,565)	 (3,401)	 (8,966)
Actuarial gains/(losses)   (5,261) 230 (5,031)	 (15,388)	 861	 (14,527)
Experience adjustments on actuarial losses   – – –	 –	 (2,785)	 (2,785)
Plan participants contributions paid   (171) – (171) (127) 3 (124)
Benefits paid   2,905 3,055 5,960 3,079 2,647 5,726
Exchange adjustments   – 3,647 3,647 – 4,462 4,462

Fair value at 31 December   (117,300) (65,233) (182,533)	 (106,849)	 (65,317)	 (172,166)

Analysis of the movement in the fair value of the plan assets
      2010   2009
     

     Continental   Continental 
    UK Europe Total UK Europe Total 
    £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Present	value	at	1	January	 	 	 84,552 57,706 142,258	 72,816	 62,327	 135,143
Expected return on plan assets   5,500 2,729 8,229	 4,219	 2,850	 7,069
Actuarial gains/(losses)   3,783 (232) 3,551 6,516 (464) 6,052
Employer contributions paid   3,957 (3,038) 919	 3,953	 (134)	 3,819
Plan participants contributions paid   35 – 35 127 – 127
Benefits paid   (2,905) – (2,905) (3,079) (2,647) (5,726)
Exchange adjustments   – (3,240) (3,240) – (4,226) (4,226)

Present value at 31 December   94,922 53,925 148,847	 84,552	 57,706	 142,258

Actual return on plan assets   9,283 2,505 11,788	 10,729	 2,386	 13,115

The assets and liabilities at 31 December 2010 for the UK include £4.55 million in relation to pensioner members of the London Processing 
Centre Ltd Retirement and Death Benefits Scheme who have insurance policies held in respect of their benefits.
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Historical information of experience adjustments on plan assets and liabilities
The	historical	information	below	has	been	presented	in	relation	to	the	schemes	from	the	later	of	1	January	2006,	or	the	date	the	scheme	
was acquired by the Group.

     2010	 2009	 2008	 2007	 2006

UK     
Fair value of scheme assets (£’000)    94,922	 84,552	 72,816	 79,245	 72,215
Present value of defined benefit obligation (£’000)   (117,300)	 (106,849)	 (87,319)	 (85,573)	 (91,602)

Net liability recognised (£’000)    (22,378)	 (22,297)	 (14,503)	 (6,328)	 (19,387)
Experience adjustments on plan assets:     
– amount (£’000)    3,783	 6,516	 (17,750)	 (158)	 1,993
– percentage of scheme assets    4%	 8%	 24%	 0%	 3%

Experience adjustments on plan liabilities:     
– amount (£’000)    994	 (738)	 709	 3,976	 234
– percentage of scheme liabilities     1%  (1%) 1% 5% 0%

Continental Europe     
Fair value of scheme assets (£’000)    53,925 57,706 62,327 47,950 47,736
Present value of defined benefit obligation (£’000)   (65,233) (65,317) (66,004) (50,300) (50,250)

Net liability recognised (£’000)    (11,308) (7,611) (3,677) (2,350) (2,514)
Experience adjustments on plan assets:     
– amount (£’000)    (221)	 (464)	 (938)	 (4,456)	 (3,362)
– percentage of scheme assets    0% (1%) (2%) (9%) (7%)

Experience adjustments on plan liabilities:     
– amount (£’000)    1,412	 (2,785)	 268	 1,752	 200
– percentage of scheme liabilities    2% (4%) 0% 3% 0%

Total     
Fair value of scheme assets (£’000)    148,847	 142,258	 135,143	 127,195	 119,951
Present value of defined benefit obligation (£’000)   (182,533) (172,166)	 (153,323)	 (135,873)	 (141,852)

Net liability recognised (£’000)    (33,686)	 (29,908)	 (18,180)	 (8,678)	 (21,901)
Experience adjustments on plan assets:     
– amount (£’000)    3,562	 6,052	 (18,688)	 (4,614)	 (1,369)
– percentage of scheme assets    2% 4% (14%) (4%) (1%)

Experience adjustments on plan liabilities:     
– amount (£’000)    2,406	 (3,523)	 977	 5,728	 434
– percentage of scheme liabilities    1% (2%) 1% 4% 0%

It is expected that the contributions to the schemes during 2011 will be £3,995,000 for the UK schemes (of which £1,572,000 is funded 
from UK Enterprise Partnerships) and £4,063,000 for the Continental Europe schemes (all of which is funded from the Continental Europe 
Enterprise Partnerships).

(ii) BAE Systems defined benefit schemes
The Group also participates in a number of multi-employer defined benefit schemes run for the employees of BAE Systems.

The terms on which the Group participates in these schemes were set in commercial agreements reached with BAE Systems during 2006. 
Under the terms of these agreements, the contributions payable by the Group represent the cost of accrual of future service benefits and 
the Group’s share of the deficit contributions made by BAE Systems to the schemes only (not including any one-off contributions made by 
BAE Systems during 2006). The contributions are expressed as fixed percentages of pensionable payroll. The Group’s contribution rates to 
the schemes are contractually fixed and will only be affected by changes to the cost of accrual of future service benefits, as determined at 
the triennial valuations of the schemes. The Group’s contribution rates are not affected by any future changes in the past service position  
of the schemes, relating to past service of its own employees or other members of the scheme. 

It is not possible to identify the Group’s share of the underlying assets and liabilities of the schemes on a consistent and reasonable basis. 
Accordingly, the Group accounts for contributions to the schemes as if they were defined contribution schemes under IAS 19.

The	pension	cost	that	was	charged	in	the	income	statement	relating	to	current	year	contributions	was	£583,000	(2009:	£1,060,000).

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 continued
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(iii) Xchanging Group defined contribution schemes
The Group also operates a number of defined contribution schemes for the employees of various subsidiary companies of Xchanging plc. 
Pension	costs	for	the	Group	that	were	charged	to	the	income	statement	for	the	year	relating	to	current	year	contributions	were	£6,648,000	
(2009:	£7,978,000).

33 Financial instruments

Financial risk management
The Group’s financial instruments comprise borrowings, cash and liquid resources and various items, such as trade receivables and trade 
payables that arise directly from its operations. The Board is ultimately responsible for ensuring that financial and non-financial risks arising 
from financial instruments are monitored and managed within acceptable and known parameters. The Group’s treasury function acts as a 
service centre and all treasury activity takes place within a formal control framework under policies approved by the Board. Compliance with 
these policies and guidelines is monitored through regular reporting of treasury activities.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. 

The Group may enter into derivative transactions to mitigate the exposure to these risks. It is the Group’s policy that no speculative 
transactions in financial instruments be undertaken. 

Classification of financial instruments
The following tables analyse by classification and category all of the Group’s financial instruments that are carried in the financial statements.

        Available- 
       Assets at fair for-sale 
      Loans and value through financial 
      receivables profit and loss assets Total 
Assets as per the balance sheet    Note £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

31 December 2010     
Available-for-sale financial assets    16 – – 24,564 24,564
Trade and other receivables     17	 83,702	 1,189	 –	 84,891
Cash and cash equivalents    18	 80,704	 –	 –	 80,704

Total      164,406 1,189 24,564 190,159

31 December 2009     
Available-for-sale financial assets    16 – – 26,264 26,264
Trade and other receivables (Restated)    17	 68,633	 1,711	 –	 70,344
Cash and cash equivalents    18 60,115 – – 60,115

Total      128,748 1,711 26,264 156,723

Financial assets within trade and other receivables comprise net trade receivables, corporate income taxes receivable, other receivables, 
loans to related parties which have been classified as loans and receivables in the table above, and held-for-trading equity securities 
classified as assets at fair value through profit and loss.
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       Liabilities at fair Other 
       value through financial 
       profit and loss liabilities Total 
Liabilities as per the balance sheet     Note £’000 £’000 £’000

31 December 2010    
Trade and other payables     19	 –	 80,178	 80,178
Current	income	tax	liabilities	 	 	 	 	 	 –	 7,918	 7,918
Borrowings excluding finance lease liabilities     21 – 56,015 56,015
Finance lease liabilities     21 – 1,552 1,552
Deferred consideration on acquisitions     21 – 6,500 6,500
Put options to acquire the non-controlling interest in Enterprise Partnerships  21 26,203 – 26,203

Total       26,203 152,163 178,366

31 December 2009    
Trade and other payables      19	 –	 64,488	 64,488
Current income tax liabilities      – 6,444 6,444
Borrowings excluding finance lease liabilities     21	 –	 38,167	 38,167
Finance lease liabilities     21 – 1,121 1,121
Put options to acquire the non-controlling interest in Enterprise Partnerships  21 23,303 – 23,303

Total       23,303 110,220 133,523

Financial liabilities within trade and other payables comprise trade payables, social security and other taxes as well as other payables.

Fair value estimations
The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method. The different levels have been defined as follows:

•	Quoted	prices	(unadjusted)	in	active	markets	for	identical	assets	or	liabilities	(level	1).

•		Inputs	other	than	quoted	prices	included	within	level	1	that	are	observable	for	the	asset	or	liability,	either	directly	(that	is,	as	prices)	 
or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

•	Inputs	for	the	asset	or	liability	that	are	not	based	on	observable	market	data	(that	is,	unobservable	inputs)	(level	3).

The following table presents the Group’s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value at 31 December 2010:

      Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
      £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Assets    
Financial	assets	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss	–	held-for-trading	equity	securities	 	 1,189	 –	 –	 1,189
Available-for-sale financial assets    
–	Equity	securities	 	 	 	 	 3,839	 –	 –	 3,839
– Debt security     20,725 – – 20,725

Total assets     25,753 – – 25,753

    
Liabilities    
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss – Put options  
to acquire the non-controlling interest in Enterprise Partnerships   – – 26,203 26,203

Total liabilities     – – 26,203 26,203

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 continued
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The following table presents the Group’s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value at 31 December 2009:

      Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
      £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Assets    
Financial	assets	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss	–	held-for-trading	equity	securities	 	 323	 –	 1,388	 1,711
Available-for-sale financial assets    
–	Equity	securities	 	 	 	 	 4,428	 –	 568	 4,996
–	Debt	security	 	 	 	 	 21,268	 –	 –	 21,268

Total assets     26,019 – 1,956 27,975

    
Liabilities    
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss – Put options  
to acquire the non-controlling interest in Enterprise Partnerships   – – 23,303 23,303

Total liabilities     – – 23,203 23,203

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. A market is 
regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or 
regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted 
market price used for financial assets held by the group is the current bid price. These instruments are included in level 1. 

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation 
techniques maximise the use of observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. If all 
significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2. If one or more of the significant 
inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included in level 3.

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include:

•	Quoted	market	prices	or	dealer	quotes	for	similar	instruments.

•	Other	techniques,	such	as	discounted	cash	flow	analysis,	are	used	to	determine	fair	value	for	the	remaining	financial	instruments.

The following table presents the changes in level 3 instruments for the year ended 31 December 2010:

       Available- Put options 
       for-sale to acquire 
       financial the non- 
      Held-for- assets –  controlling 
      trading unlisted interest in 
      equity equity  Enterprise 
      securities securities Partnerships Total 
      £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At	1	January	2010	 	 	 	 	 1,388	 568	 (23,303)	 (21,347)
Issue of put option recognised directly in equity     – – (3,591) (3,591)
Write	down/	impairment	of	financial	assets	recognised	in	profit	or	loss	 	 	 (1,429)	 (584)	 –	 (2,013)
Gains and losses recognised in profit or loss     41 – 691 732
Gains and losses recognised in other comprehensive income   – 16 – 16

At 31 December 2010     – – (26,203) (26,203)

Total gains or losses for the period included in profit  
or loss for assets held at the end of the reporting period   (1,388) (584) 691 (1,281)
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The following table presents the changes in level 3 instruments for the year ended 31 December 2009:

       Available- Put options 
       for-sale to acquire 
       financial the non- 
      Held-for- assets –  controlling 
      trading unlisted interest in 
      equity equity  Enterprise 
      securities securities Partnerships Total 
      £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At	1	January	2009	 	 	 	 	 –	 –	 (24,119)	 (24,119)
Recognised on business combination     1,526 394 – 1,920
Purchases	 	 	 	 	 –	 518	 –	 518
Gains	and	losses	recognised	in	profit	or	loss	 	 	 	 	 (138)	 –	 816	 678
Gains and losses recognised in other comprehensive income   – (344) – (344)

At 31 December 2009     1,388 568 (23,303) (21,347)

Total gains or losses for the period included in profit  
or loss for assets held at the end of the reporting period   (138) – 816 678

Credit facilities and liquidity management
The Group maintains committed credit facilities to ensure that it has sufficient liquidity to maintain its ongoing operations. The Group’s 
principal	sources	of	debt	finance	are	a	£75,000,000	multi-currency	revolving	credit	facility	and	a	$58,000,000	(£37,489,000)	term	loan	both	
of which mature in October 2012. These committed facilities are subject to covenants, representations and warranties commonly associated 
with corporate bank debt.

As	at	31	December	2010,	$45,000,000	(£29,087,000)	(2009:	£nil)	had	been	drawn	as	cash	under	the	revolving	credit	facility	and	a	further	
€20,000,000 (£17,131,000) (2009: €20,000,000	(£18,000,000)	had	been	utilised	as	a	letter	of	credit	by	the	Group.	

The Group makes regular repayments against the term loan and at the end of 2010 the balance outstanding was $34,000,000 
(£21,977,000) (2009: $50,000,000 (£31,400,000)). 

At	the	year	end	date	the	Group	had	£28,800,000	(2009:	£57,000,000)	of	headroom	under	its	committed	debt	facilities.	

The Group also has a £10,000,000 (2009: £10,000,000) uncommitted overdraft facility. 

In addition to these facilities there are bank loan and working capital facilities provided to Cambridge Solutions Limited in India. These 
include secured term loans of INR 71,250,000 (£1,011,000), bank overdrafts of INR 135,000,000 (£1,916,000), and an export credit facility 
of INR 220,000,000 (£3,122,000). The term loans, overdrafts and export credit facility are secured by way of a first pari passu charge on 
the current assets and moveable fixed assets of Cambridge Solutions Limited (the company), both present and future, and a corporate 
guarantee is provided by Xchanging (Mauritius) Limited. The term loans represent committed funding and are subject to scheduled 
repayments. The working capital facilities are uncommitted and renewed on an annual basis. 

The total amount outstanding under the Cambridge Solutions Limited bank loan and working capital facilities at the year end date was 
£5,115,000 (2009: £7,360,000). 

In France, Cambridge Solutions SARL makes use of a receivable purchase facility and €186,000	(£159,000)	(2009:	€220,000	(£198,000))	
was outstanding at the year end date.

The Group has the following undrawn committed and uncommitted borrowing facilities available:

       2010  2009 
         £’000  £’000

Expiring within one year      10,934  1,510
Expiring later than one year but not more than two years     28,783   –
Expiring later than two years but not more than five years     –  57,000

         39,717	 	 58,510

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 continued
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Liquidity risk
The Group monitors its risk of a shortage of funds using a daily cash management process and through regular cash reporting. These 
processes consider the maturity of both the Group’s financial assets and liabilities and projected cash flows from operations. The Group’s 
policy is to ensure that all projected borrowing needs are covered by committed facilities, maintaining minimum funding headroom defined 
by the Board.

At	the	period	end	date	the	Group	had	available	cash	of	£80.7	million	and	undrawn	committed	debt	facilities	of	£28.8	million	

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at 31 December 2010 based on contractually agreed 
undiscounted cash flows:

       Expiring later Expiring later 
       than one year than two years Total 
      Expiring within but not more but not more contractual 
      one year than two years than five years amount 
      £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

31 December 2010     
Trade	and	other	payables	excluding	taxes,	accruals	and	deferred	income		 	 65,876	 969	 –	 66,845
Borrowings	excluding	finance	lease	liabilities		 	 	 	 16,669	 39,834	 –	 56,503
Interest on borrowings     2,045 590 – 2,635
Finance	lease	liabilities	including	related	finance	cost	 	 	 	 620	 480	 452	 1,552
Other financial liabilities     27,554 1,500 4,095 33,149

Total      112,764 43,373 4,547 160,684

31 December 2009     
Trade and other payables excluding taxes, accruals and deferred income   53,359 – – 53,359
Borrowings	excluding	finance	lease	liabilities		 	 	 	 16,116	 11,450	 11,385	 38,951
Interest	on	borrowings	 	 	 	 	 1,436	 860	 427	 2,723
Finance lease liabilities including related finance cost    727 277 117 1,121
Other	financial	liabilities	 	 	 	 	 900	 23,888	 –	 24,788

Total      72,538 36,475 11,929 120,942

Credit risk
The Group’s principal financial assets are cash and cash equivalents and trade and other receivables. 

The Group has a concentration of credit risk with respect to trade receivables due to the nature and structure of the Enterprise Partnerships. 
An analysis of all debts which are past due is included in note 17. Credit risk assessments are performed when signing up to a new 
Enterprise Partnership and for new customers. Credit risk is mitigated to an extent by the profile of companies with whom the Group has 
entered into Enterprise Partnerships, being blue chip companies. Receivable purchase facilities are considered for specific operations where 
credit risk is considered higher.

The Group’s treasury function only transacts with counterparties that have a strong investment grade rating from a credit rating agency.  
It also ensures that no exposure to any one institution at any given time exceeds the Board approved exposure limit.
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Interest rate risk
The Group reviews its interest rate exposure against acceptable risk profiles on a periodic basis. Currently all financial liabilities are subject  
to floating rate interest. 

The Group holds a Euro denominated financial asset which carries a fixed coupon. 

Working capital is generally held in variable rate operational accounts, with surplus cash placed on fixed rate short-term deposits.

The Group has used a sensitivity analysis technique that measures the estimated impact on the income statement and equity of a reasonably 
possible change in market interest rates for each class of financial instruments, with all other variables held constant. The sensitivity analysis 
is based on the following assumptions:

•	changes	in	market	interest	rates	affect	interest	income	or	expense	of	variable	interest	financial	instruments

•		changes	in	market	interest	rates	only	affect	interest	income	or	expense	in	relation	to	financial	instruments	with	fixed	interest	rates	if	these	
are recognised at their fair value.

The table below demonstrates the sensitivity of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities to a reasonably possible change in the market 
interest rate to which it is exposed, with all other variables held constant:

    Interest rate Income Equity Interest rate Income Equity 
    increase  gains/(losses)  gains/(losses) decrease  gains/(losses)  gains/(losses)  
     (basis points) £’000 £’000  (basis points) £’000  £’000

At 31 December 2010      
UK	rate	 	 	 100bps	 198	 62	 25bps	 (49)	 (16)
US	rate	 	 	 100bps	 (547)	 –	 10bps	 84	 –
Indian rate   100bps (15) – 100bps 15 –
Euro rate   100bps 239 202 25bps (59) (51)
Australian rate   100bps 94 – 100bps (94) –

Total    (31) 264  (103) (67)

At 31 December 2009      
UK	rate	 	 	 100bps	 273	 149	 25bps	 (68)	 (38)
US rate   100bps (23) – 10bps 2 –
Indian rate   100bps (41) – 100bps 41 –
Euro rate   100bps 19 222 25bps (4) (57)
Australian	rate	 	 	 100bps	 38	 –	 100bps	 (38)	 –

Total    266 371  (67) (95)

Foreign exchange risk
The international nature of the Group’s operations expose the Group to a number of foreign currencies. The Group does not hedge foreign 
currency profit and loss translation exposures and the reported results may therefore be affected by currency fluctuations.

The Group is subject to foreign exchange transaction exposure in its Indian operations where revenues are generated in Sterling, US Dollars 
and Euros and the cost base is primarily in Indian Rupees. Under the Group’s foreign exchange risk management policy exposures may 
be hedged with forward foreign exchange contracts when the underlying cash flows are deemed certain. Typically the Group will look to 
hedge revenue to protect operating cash flow and to support the planning cycle. No foreign exchange derivatives were outstanding at the 
period end date but subsequently £3,600,000 of Sterling revenue and $2,750,000 of US Dollar revenue have been hedged against the 
Indian Rupee.

The Group has used a sensitivity analysis technique that measures the estimated impact on the income statement and equity of a 
reasonably possible change in foreign currency exchange rates for each class of financial instruments, with all other variables held constant. 
The sensitivity analysis is based on material non-functional currency financial instruments within each entity within the Group.

With a 10% strengthening or weakening of Sterling against all material currencies (Euro, US Dollar, Indian Rupee and Australian Dollar), 
profit	before	tax	would	have	decreased	by	approximately	£1,800,000	(2009:	£3,800,000)	or	increased	by	£2,200,000	(2009:	£4,700,000)	
respectively, and equity would have decreased by approximately £2,632,000 (2009: £3,100,000) or increased by £3,217,000  
(2009:	£3,800,000)	respectively.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 continued
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Market risk and price risk
The Group holds listed investments, classified as available-for-sale financial assets, which expose the Group to equity securities price risk. 
These investments are reviewed on a regular basis to ensure their suitability according to the Group’s risk profile.

A	5%	increase	or	decrease	in	the	market	value	of	the	Group’s	investments	would	have	a	£1,228,000	impact	on	equity	(2009:	£1,285,000)	
and no impact on the income statement.

Capital risk management
The Group manages capital to ensure that it will be able to continue as a going concern whilst operating within the leverage constraints  
of its debt facilities.

The table below presents quantitative data for the components the Group manages as capital:

         Restated 
       2010  2009 
         £’000  £’000

Shareholders’ funds attributable to Xchanging shareholders    193,679  273,273
Bank loans and overdrafts      55,856	 	 37,968
Obligations under finance leases      1,552  1,121
Cash in hand and at bank      (80,704)  (60,115)

At 31 December       170,383  252,247

In order to maintain the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders 
and manage the Group’s assets to ensure an appropriate debt profile is maintained.

The Group seeks to maintain a strong credit profile to aid its ability to partner in business and will aim not to exceed net debt of 2.0 times 
Xchanging’s share of consolidated profit before depreciation and amortisation where net debt is defined as all financial indebtedness less 
cash.	The	Group’s	net	cash	position	at	year	end	was	£23.1	million	(2009:	£20.8	million).

Xchanging operates in a number of regulatory regimes. The securities processing and retail investment account management businesses in 
Germany, Xchanging Transaction Bank (XTB) and Fondsdepot Bank, maintain banking licences and are regulated under the German Federal 
Financial Supervisory Authority (BaFin). Components of the insurance businesses are regulated in the UK by the Financial Services Authority 
(FSA). The Group has complied with all the BaFin and FSA regulations during 2010.

34 Related party transactions

The following companies are considered to be related parties of the Group as they hold non-controlling shareholdings in a number  
of the subsidiaries of Xchanging plc and can exert significant influence over those subsidiaries.

•		The	Corporation	of	Lloyd’s	held	a	25%	interest	in	Ins-sure	Holdings	Limited	and	a	50%	interest	in	Xchanging	Claims	Services	Limited	 
or the full year ended 31 December 2010. Some of the directors of Xchanging Claims Services Limited are employees of the Corporation 
of Lloyd’s. The emoluments of these directors were borne by the Corporation of Lloyd’s. 

•		The	International	Underwriting	Association	held	a	25%	interest	in	Ins-sure	Holdings	Limited	for	the	full	year	ended	31	December	2010.	

•		Deutsche	Bank	AG	held	a	44%	interest	in	Xchanging	etb	GmbH	for	the	full	year	ended	31	December	2010.	Some	of	the	directors	 
of Xchanging etb GmbH are employees of Deutsche Bank AG. The emoluments of these directors were borne by Deutsche Bank AG.

•		Aon	Limited	held	a	50%	interest	in	Xchanging	Broking	Services	Limited	for	the	full	year	ended	31	December	2010.	Some	of	the	directors	
of Xchanging Broking Services Limited are employees of Aon Limited. The emoluments of these directors were borne by Aon Limited. 

•		Allianz	Global	Investors	Kapitalanlagegesellschaft	mbH	held	a	49%	interest	in	Fondsdepot	Bank	GmbH	for	the	full	year	ended	 
31 December 2010.
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In addition:

•		During	the	prior	period	Cambridge	Integrated	Services	Group	Inc.,	a	subsidiary	of	the	Group,	entered	into	a	contract	with	Campagnie	
Pour Assistance Technique et Investissements S.A. (‘CATISA’) to provide consulting services, business development and procurement 
services. CATISA is no longer considered to be a related party of the Group; the information is included for comparative purposes only. 

•		Scandent	Holdings	Mauritius	Limited	(SHML),	the	previous	owner	of	Cambridge	Solutions	Limited,	was	considered	to	be	a	related	party	 
of the Group at 31 December 2009 by virtue of the fact that its directors had representation on the board of Cambridge Solutions Limited. 
During 2010, SHML ceased to have representation on the board and therefore is no longer considered to be a related party of the Group. 
The information is included for comparative purposes only. 

•		During	the	year	ended	31	December	2010,	Xchanging	Italy	S.r.l.	acquired	a	51%	shareholding	in	Kedrios	S.p.A	(Kedrios).	The	remaining	
49% shareholding is held by SIA-SSB S.p.A. who is also represented on the Kedrios management board. As such, SIA-SSB S.p.A.  
exercises significant influence over a subsidiary of the group and is therefore considered to be a related party of the group for the year  
to 31December 2010.

A description of the nature of the services provided to/from these companies by/to the Group and the amount receivable/(payable)  
in respect of each at 31 December, are set out in the table below:

        Year end  
      Sales/(purchases) receivables/(payables)
       

       2010 2009 2010 2009 
Services provided by/to the Group      £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Securities processing services     107,124	 116,881	 26,909 6,074
Processing, expert and data services     39,833 40,699 2,136 6,432
Property charges     783	 648	 (302) –
Consultancy, business development and procurement services   4,652	 4,789	 – (1,570)
IT costs, premises, divisional corporate charges and other services  
in support of operating activities     (24,732)	 (27,738)	 (13,391)	 (8,907)
Operating systems, development, premises and other services  
in support of operating activities     143 (312) (27) 141
Desktop, hosting, telecommunications, accommodation and processing services  (4,176) (4,279) (1,474) (1,624)
Current accounts      7 – – 4,679

There	have	been	provisions	totalling	£9,000	(2009:	£408,000)	recognised	against	receivables	from	related	parties.	

Transactions with Directors and key management
The compensation disclosure below relates to the Xchanging plc Directors and key senior managers within the Group, who constitute  
the people having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the Group’s activities, being the Xchanging 
Management Board.

        2010  2009 
Key management compensation (including Directors)     £’000  £’000

Short-term employee benefits      6,327  7,513
Post-employment benefits      288  114
Share-based payments      774	 	 687
Termination benefits      805  205

         8,194	 	 8,519

Further information regarding Xchanging plc Directors’ remuneration is disclosed in the remuneration report on pages 53 to 60 which 
forms part of these financial statements. 

The	total	gain	made	by	Directors	and	key	management	during	the	year	from	the	exercise	of	share	options	was	£1,845,000	 
(2009:	£2,185,000).

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 continued
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34 Related party transactions continued

During 2007, prior to the IPO, loans were provided by the Xchanging BV Employee Benefit Trust to a number of employees including 
Directors and key management personnel to enable them to purchase shares in Xchanging BV (these shares have been subsequently 
exchanged for shares in Xchanging plc). The loans are non-interest bearing and become repayable on the earlier of the cessation of 
employment, transfer or disposal of the shares, acceptance of another loan from the Group to refinance the shares and 31 December 2011.

Richard Houghton is required to repay his loan on or before 31 March 2012. A mortgage has been taken over his shares to secure this loan 
extension.	Melissa	Bruno	repaid	£267,000	in	January	2011,	and	her	loan	agreement	will	be	amended	to	allow	a	staged	repayment	of	the	
remaining amount of £51,000 upon arm’s length commercial terms. 

The balances due from the Directors and key management in relation to loans provided by the Xchanging BV Employee Benefit Trust and 
the carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements are:

       2010  2009
       

      Balance Carrying Balance Carrying 
      outstanding amount  outstanding  amount  
        £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

S Beard     1,088 1,088	 	1,088		 	1,088	
R Houghton     663 663 663 663
D	Rich-Jones	 	 	 	 	 35 35 35 35
T Runge     – – 176 176

       1,786 1,786  1,962   1,962 

The following table shows amounts due from those individuals who were either Directors or members of key management in prior years 
but have subsequently left the Group and are therefore no longer considered to be related parties of the Group. The information is 
provided for comparative purposes only.

       2010  2009
       

      Balance Carrying Balance Carrying 
      outstanding amount  outstanding  amount  
        £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

A Browne     – – 663 663
M Bruno     318 318 424 424

In addition, a non-interest bearing loan was granted to M. Sohler (executive director of Continental Europe) for the purposes of purchasing 
shares	in	Xchanging	plc.	The	loan	had	an	outstanding	balance	of	£1,285,000	at	31	December	2010.	This	loan	is	repayable	within	45	days	
after the earliest of either the 3rd anniversary after the grant date, or the date of contractually leaving employment with Xchanging.
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Independent auditors’ report 
To the members of Xchanging plc on the parent company financial statements

We have audited the parent company financial statements of Xchanging plc for the year ended 31 December 2010 which comprise the 
Company balance sheet, the Company cash flow statement, reconciliation of operating loss to net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating 
activities, analysis of net funds and the related notes. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is 
applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors
As explained more fully in the Directors’ responsibilities statement set out on page 45, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of 
the parent company financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express 
an opinion on the parent company financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and 
Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Standards Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the Company’s members as a body in accordance with chapter 3 of 
part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any 
other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our 
prior consent in writing.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance 
that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: 
whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the parent company’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately 
disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the Directors; and the overall presentation of the financial 
statements.

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the parent company financial statements:

•	give	a	true	and	fair	view	of	the	state	of	the	Company’s	affairs	as	at	31	December	2010	and	of	its	cash	flows	for	the	year	then	ended;

•	have	been	properly	prepared	in	accordance	with	United	Kingdom	Generally	Accepted	Accounting	Practice;	and

•	have	been	prepared	in	accordance	with	the	requirements	of	the	Companies	Act	2006.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion:

•	the	part	of	the	remuneration	report	to	be	audited	has	been	properly	prepared	in	accordance	with	the	Companies	Act	2006;	and

•		the	information	given	in	the	Directors’	report	for	the	financial	year	for	which	the	parent	company	financial	statements	are	prepared	 
is consistent with the parent company financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if,  
in our opinion:

•		adequate	accounting	records	have	not	been	kept	by	the	parent	company,	or	returns	adequate	for	our	audit	have	not	been	received	 
from branches not visited by us; or

•		the	parent	company	financial	statements	and	the	part	of	the	remuneration	report	to	be	audited	are	not	in	agreement	with	the	accounting	
records and returns; or

•	certain	disclosures	of	Directors’	remuneration	specified	by	law	are	not	made;	or	

•	we	have	not	received	all	the	information	and	explanations	we	require	for	our	audit.

Other matters
We have reported separately on the Group financial statements of Xchanging plc for the year ended 31 December 2010.

Paul Aitken 
Senior Statutory Auditor

For and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 
London

1 March 2011
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Company balance sheet
as at 31 December 2010

       2010  2009 
      Note  £’000  £’000

Fixed assets   
Investments    5  73,429  106,202

       73,429  106,202
   
Current assets   
Debtors due within one year    6  246,000  91,252
Cash at bank and in hand       –  230

       246,000	 	 91,482
Current liabilities   
Bank overdraft    7  (685)  –
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year   8  (55,125)  (49,351)

Net current assets       190,190  42,131

Total assets less current liabilities      263,619	 	 148,333

   
Creditors: amounts falling due after one year   9  (40)  (52)

Net assets       263,579	 	 148,281

   
Capital and reserves   
Called up share capital    10  11,975	 	 11,856
Share premium account    11  107,776	 	 105,805
Other reserves    11  7,778	 	 7,778
Profit and loss reserve    11  136,050	 	 22,842

Total shareholders’ funds    12  263,579	 	 148,281

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 1 March 2011 and signed on its behalf by:

Ken Lever Nigel Rich CBE
Acting Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer Executive Chairman
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Company cash flow statement
for the year ended 31 December 2010

       2010   2009 
         £’000   £’000

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities     3,568	 	 51,382
   
Returns on investments and servicing of finance   
Interest received      –  1,630

Net cash inflow from returns on investments and servicing of finance   –  1,630
   
Acquisitions   
Acquisition of subsidiary      –	 	 (53,418)

Net cash outflow for acquisitions      –	 	 (53,418)
   
Equity dividends paid to shareholders      (6,573)	 	 (5,487)
   
Financing   
Proceeds from issue of shares      2,090  1,923
Transaction costs of shares issued      –  (19)

Net cash inflow from financing        2,090  1,904

Net decrease in cash       (915)	 	 (3,989)
Cash	at	1	January	 	 	 	 	 	 230  4,219

Cash at 31 December       (685)  230

   

Reconciliation of operating loss to net cash inflow/
(outflow) from operating activities
       2010  2009 
         £’000  £’000

Operating loss from continuing activities     (35,550)  (736)
Impairment of investment in subsidiary      34,632  –
Share-based payment expense      546  179
(Increase)/decrease in debtors      (1,836)	 	 6,834
Increase in creditors      5,776  45,105

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from continuing operating activities     3,568	 	 51,382

   

Analysis of net funds

       At   At 
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 1	January		 	 31 December 
       2010 Cash flow 2010 
       £’000 £’000 £’000

Cash      230 (915) (685)
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Notes to the Company financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2010

1 Accounting policies

Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention and in accordance with the Companies Act 2006 and 
applicable Accounting Standards in the United Kingdom. A summary of the more important Company accounting policies, which have 
been applied consistently, is set out below.

No	profit	and	loss	account	has	been	presented	by	the	Company	as	permitted	by	Section	408	of	the	Companies	Act	2006.	The	Company	
has also taken advantage of the exemption available to parent companies under paragraph 2D(b) of FRS 29, “Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures” not to provide the information otherwise required by the standard, as the Group’s consolidated financial statements,  
in which the Company is included, provides equivalent disclosures under IFRS 7, “Financial Instruments: Disclosures”.

(i) Basis of accounting
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention modified for the fair values of share-based 
payments and in accordance with applicable accounting standards. 

(ii) Going concern
The Directors believe that preparing the financial statements on the going concern basis is appropriate based on projections for the 
foreseeable future.

(iii) Fixed asset investments
Fixed asset investments are stated at cost less any provision for impairment. Impairment reviews are conducted at the end of the first full 
year following acquisition and thereafter where indicators of impairment are present. As permitted by the Companies Act 2006, cost is  
the aggregate of the nominal value of the relevant number of the Company’s shares and the fair value of any other consideration given  
to acquire the share capital of the subsidiary undertakings.

(iv) Financial instruments
The accounting policy for the Company for financial instruments is the same as that shown in the Group accounting policies. This policy  
is in accordance with FRS 26, “Financial instruments: Recognition and Measurement”.

(v) Dividend income
Dividends receivable from the Company’s investments in subsidiary undertakings are recognised when the Company’s right to receive 
payment is established.

(vi) Share-based payments
The Company operates a number of equity-settled share-based compensation plans. The fair value of the employee services received in 
exchange for the grant of an equity-settled transaction is recognised as an expense over the periods in which the performance conditions 
are fulfilled, ending on the vesting date of the award. The total amount to be expensed over the vesting period is determined by reference 
to the fair value of the equity instruments granted. Non-market vesting conditions are reflected in assumptions about the number of 
options that are expected to vest. At each balance sheet date, the entity revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected 
to vest. It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in the profit and loss account, with a corresponding adjustment 
to equity. Awards where vesting is conditional upon a market condition are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market 
condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance conditions are satisfied. 

Equity-settled share-based compensation plans that are made available to employees of the Company’s subsidiaries are treated as increases 
in equity over the vesting period of the award, with a corresponding increase in the Company’s investments in subsidiaries, based on an 
estimate of the number of shares that will eventually vest.

The proceeds received, net of any directly attributable transaction costs, are credited to share capital (nominal value) and share premium 
when the options are exercised. 

(vii) Related party transactions
The	Company	has	taken	advantage	of	the	exemption	available	in	FRS	8,	“Related	party	disclosures”,	not	to	disclose	transactions	with	 
its subsidiary undertakings. There are no other external related parties.
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Notes to the Company financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 continued

2 Directors’ emoluments

Disclosure of the Directors’ remuneration is contained in the remuneration report on pages 53 to 60 and in note 34 of the Group  
financial statements.

3 Auditors’ remuneration

The audit fees payable in relation to the audit of the financial statements of the Company are £129,000 (2009: £109,000). Fees paid  
to the auditors and their associates for non-audit services to the Company itself are not disclosed in the individual financial statements  
of the Company because Group financial statements are prepared which disclose such fees on a consolidated basis.

4 Employees

The company has no employees.

5 Investments

            £’000

At	1	January	2010	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 106,202
Increase	in	investments	in	subsidiaries	–	share-based	payments	 	 	 	 	 	 1,859
Impairment         (34,632)

At 31 December 2010         73,429

The impairment in the year relates to the write-down of the Company’s investment in Xchanging Holdings Limited as a result of its 
recoverable value being insufficient to support the carrying value in the Company’s ledgers after the impairment of the Group’s investment 
in Cambridge Solutions Limited via the investment in Xchanging Mauritius Limited.
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5 Investments continued

The Company has the following significant subsidiary undertakings:

    Effective interest 
    and proportion 
Name Country of incorporation Principal activity of equity held

Xchanging Holdings Limited* England and Wales Financing company 100%
Xchanging BV Netherlands Intermediate holding company 100%
Xchanging GmbH Germany Intermediate holding company 100%
Xchanging UK Limited England and Wales Management services to Group companies 100%
Xchanging Claims Services Limited England and Wales Intermediate holding company 50%
Ins-sure Services Limited England and Wales Business processing services 50%
London Processing Centre Limited England and Wales Business processing services 50%
LPSO Limited England and Wales Business processing services 50%
LCO Non-Marine and Aviation Limited England and Wales Business processing services 50%
LCO Marine Limited England and Wales Business processing services 50%
Xchanging Procurement Services Limited England and Wales Business processing services 100%
Xchanging HR Services Limited  England and Wales Business processing services 100%
Xchanging transaction bank GmbH  Germany Business processing services 51%
Fondsdepot Bank GmbH Germany Business processing services 25.5%
Xchanging Broking Services Limited England and Wales Business processing services 50%
Xchanging Global Insurance Solutions Limited England and Wales Business processing services 100%
Xchanging Systems & Services Inc USA Business processing services 100%
Xchanging Asia Pacific Sdn Bhd Malaysia Business processing services 100%
Xchanging Technology Services India Private Limited India Business processing services 100%
Xchanging Resourcing Services Limited England and Wales Business processing services 100%
Ferguson Snell and Associates Limited England and Wales Business processing services 100%
Xchanging Procurement Services (France) SA  France Business processing services 100%
Xchanging (Mauritius) Limited Mauritius Intermediate holding company 100%
Cambridge Solutions Limited India Business processing services 76.055%
Cambridge Integrated Services Group Inc. USA Business processing services 76.055%
Scandent Group Inc. USA Business processing services 76.055%
Nexplicit Infotech India Pvt. Limited India Business processing services 76.055%
Cambridge Solutions Europe Limited England and Wales Business processing services 76.055%
Cambridge Solutions SARL France Business processing services 76.055%
Cambridge Solutions Pte. Limited Singapore Business processing services 76.055%
Cambridge Solutions Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Business processing services 76.055%
Cambridge Solutions Pty Limited Australia Business processing services 76.055%
Cambridge Integrated Services Victoria Pty Limited Australia Business processing services 76.055%
Cambridge Integrated Services Australia Pty Limited Australia Business processing services 76.055%
Data Integration Limited England and Wales Business processing services 100%
Xchanging Investmentservice GmbH Germany Business processing services 25.5%
Kedrios S.p.A. Italy Business processing services 51%

*Held directly

A full list of subsidiaries will be annexed to the Company’s next annual return filed with the Registrar of Companies.

Entities in which the Company holds less than 51% of the equity share capital are treated as subsidiaries because the Company has overall 
operational and financial control. 
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Notes to the Company financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 continued

6 Debtors due within one year

       2010  2009 
         £’000  £’000

Amounts falling due within one year:   
Amounts owed by Group undertakings      243,885  90,594
Corporation tax      1,926  507
Deferred tax      179	 	 138
Other debtors      –  4
Prepayments       10  9

Total debtors due within one year       246,000  91,252

Included within amounts owed by Group undertakings above, is an unsecured loan to XUK Holdco (No. 2) Limited, a wholly owned 
subsidiary, of £47,690,000 (2009: £47,690,000) which bears interest at 2.5% above LIBOR, with no fixed date of repayment.

All other amounts are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed date of repayment. 

7 Cash and bank

Xchanging plc’s current account forms part of a regional cash pooling arrangement. The cash balances within this pool are offset on  
a notional basis to optimise the region’s liquidity management. There is a £10,000,000 net overdraft facility attached to the cash pool.

8	Creditors:	amounts	falling	due	within	one	year

       2010  2009 
         £’000  £’000

Amounts falling due within one year:   
Amounts owed to Group undertakings      54,800  49,006
Trade creditors      14  33
Other creditors      88  46
Accruals       223  266

Total creditors falling due within one year      55,125  49,351

All amounts owed to Group undertakings included in the above balance are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed date of repayment. 

9 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

An amount of £40,000 has been included in long-term creditors (2009: £52,000) relating to tax and social security balances due after more 
than one year.

10 Called up share capital

       2010  2009 
         £’000  £’000

Authorised   
350,000,000 (2009: 350,000,000) ordinary shares of 5p each     17,500  17,500

   

       2010  2009 
         £’000  £’000

Allotted, called up and fully paid   
239,509,739 (2009: 237,116,600) ordinary shares of 5p each     11,975	 	 11,856
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10 Called up share capital continued

Issued share capital – ordinary shares
During	2010,	share	options	were	exercised	over	2,393,139	shares	(2009:	2,397,815)	for	cash	consideration	of	£2,090,000	 
(2009: £1,924,000).

Share rights
All Xchanging plc ordinary shares carry equal share rights. 

Share-based payments
A charge of £ 546,000 (2009: £179,000) has been incurred in the year in respect of the Performance Share Plan. Further details  
on this scheme are included within note 25 of the Group financial statements.

11 Reserves

       Share  Other Profit and loss 
       premium reserve reserve 
         £’000 £’000 £’000

At	1	January	2010	 	 	 	 	 	 105,805	 7,778	 22,842
Premium on shares issued during the year under share option schemes    1,971 – –
Profit for the year      – – 117,362
Dividends paid      – – (6,573)
Value of employee services attributable to share-based payments    – – 2,419

At 31 December 2010       107,776 7,778 136,050

The Company’s profit for the year was £117,362,000 (2009: £1,665,000).

12 Reconciliation of movements in shareholders’ funds

       2010  2009 
         £’000  £’000

Opening equity shareholders’ funds      148,281  112,612
Issue of shares    
– in respect of the acquisition of Cambridge Solutions Limited    –	 	 28,136
– in respect of share options issued in the year     2,090  1,924
Transaction costs of shares issued      –  (19)
Difference in price of shares issued on acquisition date and issue date    –	 	 7,778
Profit for the year      117,362  1,665
Dividends paid      (6,573)	 	 (5,487)
Value of employee services attributable to share-based payments    2,419  2,123

Closing equity shareholders’ funds       263,579	 	 148,732

13 Contingent liabilities

A	subsidiary	of	the	Company	has	a	credit	agreement	of	£112,489,000	(2009:	£111,400,000)	with	Lloyds	TSB	Bank	plc,	dated	 
8	October	2008	in	respect	of	which	Xchanging	plc	is	a	guarantor.	This	agreement	consists	of	a	$58,000,000	multi-currency	term	loan	
facility,	expiring	half-yearly	in	tranches	of	$8,000,000	commencing	on	31	December	2009,	with	the	final	tranche	expiring	on	8	October	
2012	and	a	£75,000,000	multi-currency	revolving	credit	facility,	expiring	at	the	earlier	of	8	October	2012	or	cancellation	of	all	facilities	 
by the Company. These committed facilities are subject to covenants, representations and warranties commonly associated with corporate 
bank debt. Utilisations bear interest at a rate per annum equal to LIBOR, or in the case of drawings in Euro, EURIBOR plus a margin and  
any mandatory costs. 

As	at	31	December	2010,	$45,000,000	(£29,087,000)	(2009:	$50,000,000	(£31,391,000))	had	been	drawn	as	cash	under	the	revolving	
credit facility and a further €20,000,000	(£17,131,000)	(2009:	£18,000,000)	had	been	utilised	as	a	letter	of	credit	by	the	Xchanging	
plc Group. Regular repayments against the term loan are made and at the end of 2010 the balance outstanding was $34,000,000 
(£21,977,000) (2009: $50,000,000 (£31,391,000)). 
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Shareholder information

Share price information
The Company’s share price can be found on the Company’s 
corporate website at www.xchanging.com within the Investor 
Relations section. 

Shares online
Equiniti Limited provides a range of shareholder information 
online. Shareholders can access their shareholdings and find 
advice on transferring shares and updating their details on www.
shareview.co.uk

ShareGift
Shareholders who only have a small number of shares whose 
value makes it uneconomic to sell them may wish to consider 
donating them to charity through ShareGift, the independent 
charity	share	donation	scheme	(registered	charity	no.	1052686).	
Further information about ShareGift may be obtained from 
Equiniti Limited or from ShareGift on +44 (0)20 7337 0501 or 
at www.sharegift.org. There are no implications for capital gains 
tax purposes (no gain or loss) on gifts of shares to charity and it is 
also possible to claim income tax relief.

Shareholder enquiries
For queries concerning shareholdings, contact Xchanging’s 
registrars, Equiniti Limited, whose details are below. 

Shareholders who have any questions about the Group’s business 
should contact Xchanging’s Investor Relations team on +44 (0)20 
7780	6999	or	email	investor.relations@xchanging.com

Shareholder fraud
Fraud is on the increase and many shareholders are targeted 
every year. If you have any reason to believe that you may have 
been the target of a fraud, or attempted fraud in relation to your 
shareholding, please contact Equiniti Limited immediately. 

Company registration number
5819018

Company’s registered office
Xchanging plc 
13 Hanover Square 
London W1S 1HN 
United Kingdom

Registrars
Equiniti Limited
Aspect House 
Spencer Road 
Lancing 
West Sussex BN99 6DA 
United Kingdom

Tel:	+44	(0)871	384	2030 
Overseas tel: +44 (0)121 415 7047

Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
1 Embankment Place 
London WC2N 6RH 
United Kingdom

Tel:	+44	(0)20	7583	5000

Bankers
Lloyds TSB Bank plc
City Office Gillingham 
PO Box 72 
Bailey Drive 
Gillingham Business Park 
Kent	ME8	0LS 
United Kingdom

Solicitors
Clifford Chance LLP
10 Upper Bank Street 
London	E14	5JJ 
United Kingdom

Corporate brokers
Citigroup
Citigroup Centre 
Canada Square 
London E14 5LB 
United Kingdom

Tel:	+44	(0)20	7986	4000 
Fax:	+44	(0)20	7986	2266

J.P. Morgan Cazenove
10 Aldermanbury  
London 
EC2V 7RF

Telephone:	+44	(0)	20	7588	2828 
Fax: +44 (0)20 7155 9000

Financial public relations
Cardew Group
12 Suffolk Street 
London SW1Y 4HG 
United Kingdom

Tel: +44 (0)20 7930 0777 
Fax: +44 (0)20 7925 0647

Financial calendar

Annual	General	Meeting	 18	May	2011

Half	year	end	 30	June	2011

Announcement of half year results 1 August 2011

Financial year end 31 December 2011
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Glossary of terms

A

AGI – Allianz Global Investors Kapitalanlagesellschaft mbH.

AGM – Annual General Meeting. 

Adjusted operating profit – excludes exceptional items, 
acquisition costs, amortisation of intangible assets previously 
unrecognised by an acquired entity, and non-recurring 
operational items that the Director’s believe will aid the reader’s 
understanding of the accounts.

Adjusted earnings per share – Xchanging’s share of adjusted 
profit for the year divided by the weighted average basic number 
of Xchanging plc shares in issue for the year ended 31 December.

Articles or Articles of Association – the articles of association 
of Xchanging plc.

B

BaFin – German Federal Financial Supervisory Authority 
overseeing banking, insurance, securities and asset management. 

Board or Directors – the Board of Directors of Xchanging 
plc, comprising Nigel Rich, Ken Lever, Dennis Millard, Stephen 
Brenninkmeijer,	Pat	O’Driscoll,	Johannes	Maret	and	Michel	Paulin.

BPO – Business Process Outsourcing. 

C

CAGR – compound annual growth rate. 

Cambridge – Cambridge Solutions Limited and its subsidiaries.

Cash conversion – is calculated as operating cash flow divided 
by adjusted operating profit. 

CATISA – Compagnie Pour Assistance Technique et 
Investissements S.A.

CEO – Chief Executive Officer.

CFO – Chief Financial Officer.

Cloud computing – is the provision of fully managed 
consumption-based services over high speed internet 
infrastructure.

Combined Code	–	the	Combined	Code	published	in	June	2008	
by the Financial Reporting Council. 

Company – Xchanging plc.

CRM system – customer relationship management system.

CSR – Corporate Social Responsibility.

CTA – Contractual Trust Arrangement.

D

DI – Data Integration Limited, one of the UK’s leading 
networking, security and communication technology providers, 
acquired	by	Xchanging	in	June	2010.

DB – Deutsche Bank AG.

Directors – the Board of Directors of Xchanging plc, comprising 
Nigel Rich, Ken Lever, Dennis Millard, Stephen Brenninkmeijer,  
Pat	O’Driscoll,	Johannes	Maret	and	Michel	Paulin.

Disclosure and Transparency Rules – the disclosure and 
transparency rules of the UK Listing Authority

E

EBIT – see underlying operating profit. 

EBITDA – underlying operating profit before depreciation  
and amortisation. 

ECF2 – Electronic Claims File. 

EdW – Entschädigungseinrichtung der 
Wertpapierhandelsunternehmen. 

EP – Enterprise Partnership, a corporate partnership between 
Xchanging and a customer. 

ESG – Employee, Social and Governance.

ESOP – Executive Share Option Plan.

EU – European Union.

F

FDB – Fondsdepot Bank GmbH, our financial services EP  
in Germany.

FRS – Financial Reporting Standards.

FSA – Financial Services Authority.

FSB – FondsServiceBank GmbH.

G

Group – Xchanging plc and its subsidiaries and subsidiary 
undertakings.

H  

HR – human resources.
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I

IAS – International Accounting Standards.

IFRIC – International Financial Reporting Interpretations 
Committee.

IFRS – International Financial Reporting Standards.

IMR – Insurers’ Market Repository.

IP – intellectual property.

IPO – initial public offering. 

IRIS – international insurance and reinsurance solution.

IT – information technology.

ITIL – information technology infrastructure library.

ITO – information technology outsourcing.

K 

Kedrios – Kedrios SpA, the EP between Xchanging and  
SIA-SSB in Italy.

KPI – key performance indicator.

L   

LCH – London’s Clearing House.

LME – London Metal Exchange.

N  

Nearshore – near to the customer’s premises, typically  
in a cheaper region of the same country.

O

Offshore – another country or region where costs are lower.

On-site – where Xchanging operations are located at the 
customer’s site.

Operating cash flow – is calculated as operating profit (EBIT) 
plus non-cash items and working capital movements less capital 
expenditure and dividends to non-controlling interests.

OTC – over the counter.

P

PSP – Performance Share Plan.

PwC – Pricewaterhouse Coopers.

R

Revenue visibility – recurring revenue comprising three 
components: annuity, volume at risk and renewals. 

RPI – Retail Price Index.

S

SDF – service delivery framework.

SEE – social, ethical and environmental.

SIA-SSB – European financial and payment systems services 
provider and Xchanging’s partner in the Kedrios EP.

Six Sigma – a process optimisation methodology, which seeks  
to improve outputs through eliminating errors and variance.

Solvency II – the updated set of regulatory requirements for 
insurance firms operating in the European Union, effective  
1	January	2013.

Special Economic Zone – a region within a country where 
economic growth is promoted through local economic and  
legal incentives.

SPP – Share Purchase Plan.

SWIFT – Society for Worldwide Interbank Financial 
Telecommunication.

T  

TESA – The Electronics Securities Architecture, our proprietary 
trading software. 

TPA – third-party administrator.

TSR – total shareholder return.

Glossary of terms continued



U 

UK Corporate Governance Code – the UK Corporate 
Governance Code published in June 2010 by the Financial 
Reporting Council. 

UK GAAP – UK Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.

Underlying earnings per share (EPS) – Xchanging’s share  
of underlying profit for the year divided by the weighted average 
basic number of Xchanging plc shares in issue for the year ended 
31 December. 

Underlying operating profit – underlying operating profit 
excludes	exceptional	items,	acquisition	costs,	and	amortisation	 
of intangible assets previously unrecognised by acquired entities. 

X

XBS – Xchanging Broking Services Limited, an EP between 
Xchanging and Aon Ltd in the UK. 

Xchanging or Group – Xchanging plc and its subsidiaries and 
subsidiary undertakings.

XIS – Ins-sure Holdings Limited, an EP between Xchanging, 
Lloyds of London and the International Underwriting Association 
in the UK.

XISG – Xchanging Investment Services GmbH, an Xchanging 
Group company.

XMB – Xchanging Management Board. 

XPC – Xchanging Performance Committee.

XTB – Xchanging Transaction Bank GmbH, an EP between 
Xchanging, Deutsche Bank and Sal Oppenheim in Germany. 

XTS – Xchanging Technology Services, Xchanging’s technology 
businesses in the UK.

This annual report was designed and produced by Langsford and printed by Moore.

The report is printed on Regency Satin which has Forestry Stewardship Council (FSC) 
certification and is produced using elemental chlorine-free pulp made from renewable 
timber grown on a sustainable basis. The report is printed by an FSC accredited printer 
using vegetable based inks.
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